
Page 1 of 4 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, AUGUST 19, 2024 

7:00 PM AT CITY HALL, 220 CLAY STREET 

 

 
 
Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Approval of the minutes of the Regular City Council meeting of August 5, 2024. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics relevant to City 

business.) 

Staff Updates 

Special Order of Business 

2. Public hearing on the authorization of a Loan Agreement and issuance of not to exceed $4,000,000 
General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for essential corporate purposes (ECP). 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 08/06/24) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution instituting proceedings to take additional action for the issuance of not to exceed 
$4,000,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for essential corporate purposes (ECP). 

3. Public hearing on the authorization of a Loan Agreement and issuance of not to exceed $750,000 
General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for general corporate purposes (GCP). 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 08/06/24) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution instituting proceedings to take additional action for the issuance of not to exceed 
$750,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for general corporate purposes (GCP). 

4. Public hearing to consider entering into an Agreement for Private Development with BALOS, LLC. 
 

1



Page 2 of 4 

a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published 08/10/2024) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Private Development with 
BALOS, LLC. 

Old Business 

5. Pass Ordinance #3075, amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
salary of members and salary of the Mayor, upon its second consideration. 

6. Pass Ordinance #3076, amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
oath; bond and powers and duties; bond, upon its second consideration. 

7. Pass Ordinance #3077, amending Chapter 16, Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions, of the Code 
of Ordinances relative to discharge of weapons, upon its second consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #3078, amending Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
applicability, definitions and requirements for approval of stormwater management plan, upon its 
second consideration. 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

9. Receive and file the City Council Committee of the Whole minutes of August 5, 2024 relative to the 
following items: 
a) Discussion on the Future Planning of the Current Cedar Falls High School Site and the MercyOne 
Cedar Falls Medical Center (formerly Sartori) Site. 
b) Resilience Plan - Overview of the Plan Elements. 

10. Receive and file communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to the following certified 
list: 
a) Accountant. 

11. Receive and file communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to the following certified 
list: 
a) Administrative Assistant. 

12. Receive and file revised bylaws for the Human Rights Commission. 

13. Approve a request for a temporary sign at 2408 Waterloo Road with removal on September 30, 
2024. 

14. Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Amigo, 5809 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
b) Buffalo Wild Wings, 6406 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
c) Whiskey Road Tavern & Grill, 402 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 
d) B & B West, 3105 Hudson Road, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 
e) Fleet Farm, 400 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - change in ownership. 
f) Berk's Main Street Pub, 207 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary outdoor service. 
(September 21-22, 2024) 
g) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary outdoor service. (September 21, 
2024) 
h) The Black Hawk Hotel/Bar Winslow, 115-117 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary 
outdoor service. (September 21, 2024) 
i) The Brass Tap, 419 & 421 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary 

2



Page 3 of 4 

additional outdoor service. (September 21, 2024) 
j) The Landmark, 107 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary additional 
outdoor service. (September 21, 2024) 
k) Community Main Street (District Street Party), Main Street from 1st - 5th Streets and to alleys on 
East and West of Main on 2nd, 3rd and 4th Streets - Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service 
- 5-day permit. (September 19 - 23, 2024) 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

15. Resolution Calendar with items considered separately. 

16. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Subordination Agreement with BankIowa, in 
conjunction with the North Cedar Heights Drive Phase 2 Project. 

17. Resolution approving and accepting the Special Warranty Deed and approving and authorizing 
execution of an Encroachment Agreement, in conjunction with the Viking Road & Prairie Parkway 
Intersection Improvements Project. 

18. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration and technical services related to 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding Project Delivery for FY2025 (Federal Fiscal 
Year 2024). 

19. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with Iowa Northland 
Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) for administration and technical services related to 
Home Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) Funding Project Delivery for FY2025 (Federal 
Fiscal Year 2024). 

20. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Design/Graphic Design 
Services with Scott Easton relative to the 2025 Cedar Falls Visitor Guide. 

21. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with TMA @ Your Service, LLC 
(d/b/a "Wellworks For You") relative to the City's employee wellness program. 

22. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement with Plumb Tech Inc. relative to 
replacement of the Falls Aquatic Center water heaters. 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with The Waldinger 
Corporation relative to the purchase and installation of a HVAC replacement unit for the Public 
Safety Department. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for Use of City Parks and Services 
with Sturgis Falls Entertainment Group Inc. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Joint Funding Agreement for Water Resource 
Investigations with the U.S. Geological Survey relative to the Cedar River Streamgage Station. 

26. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Owen 
Contracting, Inc. in the amount of $2,217,802.80, for the Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection 
Improvements Project. 

27. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of OEL Construction 
Services, Inc. for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Amendment Number Two to the Subaward 
Agreement with the Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management Division 
(HSEMD) for an extension of the Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) Program 
grant funding relative to Stormwater Resilience Planning. 

3



Page 4 of 4 

29. Resolution setting September 9, 2024 as the date of consultation and directing mailing of notice of 
consultation, and setting October 21, 2024 as the date of public hearing, directing publication of 
notice of hearing, directing the mailing of notice of hearing, and approving an application for 
voluntary annexation of real estate to the City of Cedar Falls. 

30. Resolution appointing City Councilmember Chris Latta as a representative of the City of Cedar Falls 
for a Consultation with representatives of Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors and the Cedar 
Falls Township Trustees relative to applications for voluntary annexation of certain real estate to the 
City of Cedar Falls. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

31. Allow Bills and Claims for August 19, 2024. 

Council Updates and Announcements 

Council Referrals 

32. Refer to a City Council agenda approving and adopting the May 18, 2022 Cedar Falls Resilience 
Plan as presented by Perkins & Will. 

33. Refer to staff to draft a revised city ordinance to remove prohibitions on parking/storing recreational 
items such as boats and towable travel trailers on rear yards. 

Executive Session 

34. Executive Session to discuss Property Acquisition per Iowa Code Section 21.5(1)(j) to discuss the 
purchase or sale of particular real estate only where premature disclosure could be reasonably 
expected to increase the price the governmental body would have to pay for that property or reduce 
the price the governmental body would receive for that property. 

Adjournment 

4



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AUGUST 5, 2024 

REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 
MAYOR DANIEL LAUDICK PRESIDING 

  
The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Absent: None. Mayor Laudick led the 
Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
 
54895 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Kruse that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of July 15, 2024 be approved as presented and ordered of record. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

 
54896 - Rosemary Beach, Cedar Falls, expressed concerns with the lack of sidewalks in 

the Prairie Parkway neighborhood and requested the installation of additional 
crosswalks or pedestrian signage.   

 
  Kim Jensen Jordan, Cedar Falls, commented on the future of the Cedar Falls 

High School and Sartori sites and the future of healthcare in the city. 
 
54897 - Director of Public Safety Berte provided details on National Night Out, being held 

on August 6, 2024 at the Public Safety Center from 4:30PM – 7PM. 
 
  Director of Community Development Sheetz noted the Falls Aquatic Center will 

close for the season on August 18, 2024 and the Doggie Dip will be held on 
August 19, 2024 from 6PM - 8PM.  

  
54898 - Mayor Laudick announced that in accordance with the public notice of July 20, 

2024, this was the time and place for a public hearing on the proposed plans, 
specification, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Viking Road & Prairie 
Parkway Intersection Improvements Project. It was then moved by Latta and 
seconded by Dunn that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received 
and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously. 

54899 - The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
proposed project. Upon being advised that there were no written communications 
on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Principal Engineer Claypool 
provided an update on the proposed project. There being no one else present 
wishing to speak about the proposed project, the Mayor declared the hearing 
closed and passed to the next order of business. 

54900 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hawbaker that Resolution #23,720, 
approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of 
cost for the Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project, be 
adopted. Following questions and comments by Councilmembers Ganfield and 
Kruse, and responses by Director of Public Works Schrage, Principal Engineer 
Claypool, Director of Finance & Business Operations Rodenbeck, and City 
Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the 
roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, 
Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion Carried. The Mayor then 

5

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

declared Resolution #23,720 duly passed and adopted. 

54901 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3071, 
amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
controller/city treasurer, information systems manager, city clerk, appointment, 
powers and duties of city attorney, appointment, powers and duties of human 
resources manager, planning and community services manager, manager, 
building official, manager of operations and maintenance, city engineer, and 
water reclamation manager, be passed upon its third and final consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance #3071 duly passed and 
adopted. 

54902 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3072, 
amending Chapter 17, Parks and Recreation, of the Code of Ordinances relative 
to public events on city property, be passed upon its third and final consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance #3072 duly passed and 
adopted. 

54903 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Ordinance #3073, 
amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to parking prohibited on specific streets, be passed upon its third and 
final consideration. Following comments by Kim Jensen Jordan, Cedar Falls, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Ordinance 
#3073 duly passed and adopted. 

54904 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Lata that Ordinance #3074, amending 
Chapter 26, Zoning, of the Code of Ordinances relative to residence district, be 
passed upon its third and final consideration. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the 
following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, 
Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. The Mayor then declared 
Ordinance #3074 duly passed and adopted. 

54905 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Dunn that the following items on the 
Consent Calendar be received, filed, and approved:  

 
 Receive and file the City Council Committee of the Whole minutes of July 15, 

2024 relative to the following item: 
a) Downtown Parking Discussion. 

 Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the appointment 
of members to Boards and Commissions: 
a) Seth Chadwick, Library Board of Trustees, term ending 06/30/2030. 
b) Reginald Green, Library Board of Trustees, term ending 06/30/2030. 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

c) Michael Sulentic, Library Board of Trustees, term ending 06/30/2030. 

 Receive and file Departmental Quarterly Reports of April - June 2024. 

 Receive and file communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to the 
following certified lists: 
a) Policy & Administration Specialist. 
b) Public Safety Officer. 

 Approve the following applications for retail alcohol licenses: 
a) Main Street Sweets, 307 Main Street, Special Class B retail native wine - 
renewal. 
b) Kwik Star, 4515 Coneflower Parkway, Class B retail alcohol - renewal. 
c) Hy-Vee Market Grille, 6301 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol - 
renewal. 
d) Octopus, 2205 College Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
e) The Black Hawk Hotel/Bar Winslow, 115-117 Main Street, Class C retail 
alcohol - renewal. 
f) The Library, 2222 College Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
g) The Other Place, 4214 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - renewal. 
h) Compass Group USA, Inc., 6725 Cedar Heights Drive, Class C retail alcohol - 
new. 

 Motion carried unanimously. 

54906 - It was moved by Hawbaker and seconded by Latta that the following resolutions 
be introduced and adopted: 

 Resolution #23,721, approving and authorizing execution of an Amendment to 
the Lease Agreement with the Cedar Falls Historical Society relative to the 
Bennington Township Schoolhouse 

 Resolution #23,722, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement to 
Enhance Economic Development in Cedar Falls with Grow Cedar Valley relative 
to an FY2025 Economic Development Grant. 

 Resolution #23,723, approving and authorizing execution of a Travel Iowa Co-
Operative Marketing Contract with Iowa Economic Development Authority (IEDA) 
relative to FY2025 tourism marketing opportunities. 

 Resolution #23,724, approving and accepting completion of construction of a 
plaza, monument and recreation trail relative to the Rotary Plaza located at 205-
221 West 1st Street. 

 Resolution #23,725, releasing the Cash Escrow Agreement (Performance) and 
approving and accepting a Cash Escrow Agreement (Maintenance) with The 
Rotary Club of Cedar Falls relative to the Rotary Plaza located at 205-221 West 
1st Street.  

 Resolution #23,726, approving the Loy Minor Subdivision Plat No. 1. 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

 Resolution #23,727, approving the preliminary plat of North Cedar Estates. 

 Resolution #23,728, approving and authorizing execution of one Owner 
Purchase Agreement; and approving and accepting one Temporary Construction 
Easement, in conjunction with the North Cedar Heights Drive Project - Phase 1A. 

 Resolution #23,729, approving and authorizing execution of one Owner 
Purchase Agreement; and approving and accepting one Temporary Construction 
Easement, in conjunction with the Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection 
Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #23,730, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Owen Contracting, Inc., f/k/a K. Cunningham Construction Company, Inc. 
for the Downtown Streetscape and Reconstruction Project-Phase II, and 
approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the Parkade Renovation 
Fund to the TIF Fund. 

 Resolution #23,731, approving and authorizing execution of a License 
Agreement with Unite Private Networks, LLC relative to installing a fiber optic 
telecommunications system within the public right-of-way of the Hudson Road & 
West 27th Street intersection. 

 Resolution #23,732, approving and authorizing execution of a Professional 
Service Agreement with Terracon Consultants, Inc. relative to 2024 Construction 
Testing Services. 

 Resolution #23,733, approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the 
work of Owen Contracting, Inc. for the Center Street Corridor Streetscape 
Project, and approving and authorizing the transfer of funds from the Storm 
Water Fund and Street Construction Fund to the Emergency Reserve Fund. 

 Resolution #23,734, approving and authorizing execution of a Contract for 
Completion of Improvements with Midwest Development Co. relative to the final 
plat of The Arbors Fifth Addition.  

 Resolution #23,735, approving the final plat for The Arbors Fifth Addition.  

 Resolution #23,736, approving and authorizing execution of a Storm Water 
Maintenance and Repair Agreement with Midwest Development Co. relative to a 
post-construction stormwater management plan for The Arbors Fifth Addition.  

 Resolution #23,737, setting August 19, 2024 as the date of public hearing on the 
authorization of a Loan Agreement and issuance of not to exceed $4,000,000 
General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for essential corporate purposes (ECP), 
and providing for publication of notice thereof. 

 Resolution #23,738, setting August 19, 2024 as the date of public hearing on the 
authorization of a Loan Agreement and issuance of not to exceed $750,000 
General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for general corporate purposes (GCP), 
and providing for publication of notice thereof. 

 Resolution #23,739, setting August 19, 2024 as the date of public hearing to 
consider entering into an Agreement for Private Development with BALOS, LLC.  

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #23,721 through #23,739 
duly passed and adopted. 

54907 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Crisman that Resolution #23,740, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Offer to Buy Real Estate and 
Acceptance for 4.15 acres of real estate located at 4109 West 1st Street relative 
to safety improvements at the Highway 57 & Union Road intersection, be 
adopted.  Following questions by Councilmember Kruse, and comments by Kim 
Jensen Jordan, Cedar Falls, and responses by Director of Public Works Schrage, 
Mayor Laudick and City Administrator Gaines, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #23,740 duly passed and 
adopted. 

54908 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Hawbaker that Resolution #23,741, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Application for Site-Specific Traffic 
Safety Improvement Program (TSIP) funding with the Iowa Department of 
Transportation (Iowa DOT) relative to the Highway 57 & Union Road Intersection 
Improvements Project, be adopted. Following due consideration by the Council, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None.  Motion carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution 
#23,741 duly passed and adopted. 

54909 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that Ordinance #3075, amending 
Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to salary of 
members and salary of the Mayor, be passed upon its first consideration. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

54910 - It was moved by Latta and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #3076, amending 
Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to oath; bond and 
powers and duties, be passed upon its first consideration. Following due 
consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and 
upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, 
Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54911 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Ganfield that Ordinance #3077, 
amending Chapter 16, Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to discharge of weapons, be passed upon its first 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54912 - It was moved by Crisman and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #3078, 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

amending Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances relative to applicability, 
definitions and requirements for approval of stormwater management plan, be 
passed upon its first consideration. Following questions and comments by 
Councilmembers Kruse, Ganfield, Dunn, and Latta, Mayor Laudick, and Denzel 
Washington, Cedar Falls, and responses by Director of Public Works Schrage 
and City Attorney Rogers, the Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon 
call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, 
Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

54913 -  It was moved by Ganfield and seconded by Schultz that the bills and claims of 
August 5, 2024 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer 
be authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper 
funds in payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Schultz, Latta, Kruse, Hawbaker, Ganfield, 
Crisman, Dunn. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
54914 -     Councilmember Ganfield commented on the recent 103rd Annual Cedar Falls 

Bible Conference held at Riverview Ministries. 
   
54915 -  It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Latta that the meeting be adjourned at 

7:40 P.M. Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
                                                           __________________________________ 
                                                           Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

10

Item 1.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick & City Council Members 

 FROM: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance & Business Operations 

 DATE: August 12, 2024 

 SUBJECT:  2024 Bond Sales 

 
On October 7th, the City is scheduled to sell General Obligation Capital Loan Notes for 
various purposes and projects at outlined on the City’s Capital Improvements Program 
(CIP).  Prior to that sale, the City must hold a public hearing authorizing the maximum 
amount of the bond sale.   You will note that the resolutions for the hearings and sales 
are separated into various pieces on the Council agenda.  This is due to the 
requirement of disclosing amounts for general corporate purpose and essential 
corporate purpose.    The amounts are as follows: 
 

 Essential Corporate Purpose in an amount not to exceed $4,000,000. These 
proceeds are anticipated to finance various City capital projects as follows: 

 Katowski Box Culvert 
 W. 20th St. Sidewalk Infill 
 Aldrich School Connections 
 Main Street Reconstruction 
 Union Road Box Culvert 
 Viking Road Reconstruction & Sidewalk Infill 
 West 22nd St. Reconstruction 
 West 23rd St. Reconstruction 
 Bunker Gear, Technical Rescue Equipment, SCBA Equipment 
 Fire Truck Downpayment 

 
 General Corporate Purpose in an amount not to exceed $750,000.  These 

proceeds are anticipated to finance various City capital projects as follows: 
 Cameras 
 Library Automated Materials Handler 
 Community Center Tables & Chairs 
 Orchard Hill Pickleball Courts 
 Annual Street Repair Program – Amenities 
 Public Safety Building Maintenance 

 
 
If you have any questions, please feel free to contact me.  
 

11

Item 2.



ITEMS TO INCLUDE ON AGENDA 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

Not to exceed $4,000,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes 

 

  Public hearing on the authorization of a Loan Agreement and the issuance of Notes to 

evidence the obligation of the City thereunder. 

  Resolution instituting proceedings to take additional action. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE MUST BE GIVEN PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE 

CHAPTER 21 AND THE LOCAL RULES OF THE CITY. 

 

 

 

 

12

Item 2.



 

- 1 - 

August 19, 2024 

 

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, met in Regular session, in the 

Council Chambers, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M., on the above 

date.  There were present Mayor Daniel Laudick, in the chair, and the following named Council 

Members: 

 

__________________________________________________ 

 

 

Absent: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Vacant: ___________________________________________ 

 

* * * * * * *  

13

Item 2.



 

- 2 - 

The Mayor announced that this was the time and place for the public hearing and meeting 

on the matter of the authorization of a Loan Agreement and the issuance of not to exceed 

$4,000,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, in order to provide funds to pay the costs of 

City capital projects, including opening, widening, extending, grading, and draining of the right-

of-way of streets, highways, avenues, alleys and public grounds, and market places, and the 

removal and replacement of dead or diseased trees thereon; the construction, reconstruction, and 

repairing of any street improvements, bridges, grade crossing separations and approaches; the 

acquisition, installation, and repair of sidewalks, culverts, retaining walls, storm sewers, sanitary 

sewers, water service lines, street lighting, and traffic control devices, and the acquisition of any 

real estate needed for any of the foregoing purposes; rehabilitation and improvement of parks 

already owned, including the removal, replacement and planting of trees in the parks, and 

facilities, equipment, and improvements commonly found in city parks; and equipping the fire 

department, for essential corporate purposes, and that notice of the proposed action by the 

Council to institute proceedings for the authorization of the Loan Agreement and the issuance of 

the Notes had been published as provided by Sections 384.24A and 384.25 of the Code of Iowa. 

The Mayor then asked the Clerk whether any written objections had been filed by any 

resident or property owner of the City to the issuance of the Notes.  The Clerk advised the Mayor 

and the Council that _____ written objections had been filed.  The Mayor then called for oral 

objections to the issuance of the Notes and _____ were made.  Whereupon, the Mayor declared 

the time for receiving oral and written objections to be closed. 

(Attach here a summary of objections received or made, if any) 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the hearing on the authorization of entering into a Loan 

Agreement and the issuance of the Notes to be closed. 

  

14

Item 2.



 

- 3 - 

The Council then considered the proposed action and the extent of objections thereto. 

Whereupon, Council Member ____________________ introduced and delivered to the 

Clerk the Resolution hereinafter set out entitled "RESOLUTION INSTITUTING 

PROCEEDINGS TO TAKE ADDITIONAL ACTION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO 

EXCEED $4,000,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES", and moved: 

 that the Resolution be adopted. 

 

  to ADJOURN and defer action on the Resolution and the proposal to institute 

proceedings for the issuance of notes to the meeting to be held at __________ 

_____.M. on the __________ day of _______________, 2024, at this place. 

 

Council Member ____________________ seconded the motion.  The roll was called and 

the vote was, 

 

AYES: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the measure duly adopted. 

RESOLUTION INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS TO TAKE 

ADDITIONAL ACTION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO 

EXCEED $4,000,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL 

LOAN NOTES 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by law, the City Council has held a 

public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to institute proceedings for the authorization of a 

Loan Agreement and the issuance of not to exceed $4,000,000 General Obligation Capital Loan 

Notes, for the essential corporate purposes, in order to provide funds to pay the costs of City 

capital projects, including opening, widening, extending, grading, and draining of the right-of-

way of streets, highways, avenues, alleys and public grounds, and market places, and the 

removal and replacement of dead or diseased trees thereon; the construction, reconstruction, and 

repairing of any street improvements, bridges, grade crossing separations and approaches; the 

acquisition, installation, and repair of sidewalks, culverts, retaining walls, storm sewers, sanitary 

sewers, water service lines, street lighting, and traffic control devices, and the acquisition of any 

real estate needed for any of the foregoing purposes; rehabilitation and improvement of parks 

already owned, including the removal, replacement and planting of trees in the parks, and 

facilities, equipment, and improvements commonly found in city parks; and equipping the fire 

department, and has considered the extent of objections received from residents or property 

15

Item 2.



 

- 4 - 

owners as to the proposed issuance of Notes; and following action is now considered to be in the 

best interests of the City and residents thereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, STATE OF IOWA: 

Section 1. That this Council does hereby institute proceedings and take additional action 

for the authorization and issuance in the manner required by law of not to exceed $4,000,000 

General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, for the foregoing essential corporate purposes. 

Section 2. This Resolution shall serve as a declaration of official intent under Treasury 

Regulation 1.150-2 and shall be maintained on file as a public record of such intent.  It is 

reasonably expected that the general fund moneys may be advanced from time to time for capital 

expenditures which are to be paid from the proceeds of the above Notes.  The amounts so 

advanced shall be reimbursed from the proceeds of the Notes not later than eighteen months after 

the initial payment of the capital expenditures or eighteen months after the property is placed in 

service.  Such advancements shall not exceed the amount authorized in this Resolution unless the 

same are for preliminary expenditures or unless another declaration of intention is adopted. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 19th day of August, 2024. 

  

 

 

  

Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

  

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

16

Item 2.



 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 

I, the undersigned City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, do hereby certify 

that attached is a true and complete copy of the portion of the records of the City showing 

proceedings of the Council, and the same is a true and complete copy of the action taken by the 

Council with respect to the matter at the meeting held on the date indicated in the attachment, 

which proceedings remain in full force and effect, and have not been amended or rescinded in 

any way; that meeting and all action thereat was duly and publicly held in accordance with a 

notice of meeting and tentative agenda, a copy of which was timely served on each member of 

the Council and posted on a bulletin board or other prominent place easily accessible to the 

public and clearly designated for that purpose at the principal office of the Council pursuant to 

the local rules of the Council and the provisions of Chapter 21, Code of Iowa, upon reasonable 

advance notice to the public and media at least twenty-four hours prior to the commencement of 

the meeting as required by law and with members of the public present in attendance; I further 

certify that the individuals named therein were on the date thereof duly and lawfully possessed of 

their respective City offices as indicated therein, that no Council vacancy existed except as may 

be stated in the proceedings, and that no controversy or litigation is pending, prayed or 

threatened involving the incorporation, organization, existence or boundaries of the City or the 

right of the individuals named therein as officers to their respective positions. 

 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the Council hereto affixed this __________ day of 

_______________, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

City Clerk, City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

 

 
02387285\10283-193 

17

Item 2.



ITEMS TO INCLUDE ON AGENDA 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

Not to exceed $750,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes 

 

  Public hearing on the authorization of a Loan Agreement and the issuance of Notes to 

evidence the obligation of the City thereunder. 

  Resolution instituting proceedings to take additional action. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

NOTICE MUST BE GIVEN PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE 

CHAPTER 21 AND THE LOCAL RULES OF THE CITY. 

 

 

 

 

18

Item 3.



 

- 1 - 

August 19, 2024 

 

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, met in Regular session, in the 

Council Chambers, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, at 7:00 P.M., on the above 

date.  There were present Mayor Daniel Laudick, in the chair, and the following named Council 

Members: 

 

__________________________________________________ 

 

 

Absent: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Vacant: ___________________________________________ 

 

* * * * * * *  

19

Item 3.



 

- 2 - 

The Mayor announced that this was the time and place for the public hearing and meeting 

on the matter of the authorization of a Loan Agreement and the issuance of not to exceed 

$750,000 General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, in order to provide funds to pay the costs of 

City capital projects, including acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, 

improvement, and equipping of City facilities, including camera installation, replacement and 

maintenance, library handler equipment, public safety building maintenance and equipping the 

community center; and expanded public infrastructure, related amenities and site improvements, 

for general corporate purposes, and that notice of the proposed action by the Council to institute 

proceedings for the authorization of the Loan Agreement and the issuance of the Notes and the 

right to petition for an election had been published as provided by Sections 384.24A and 384.26 

of the Code of Iowa, and the Mayor then asked the City Clerk whether any petition had been 

filed in the Clerk's Office, in the manner provided by Section 362.4 of the Code of Iowa, and the 

Clerk reported that no such petition had been filed, requesting that the question of issuing the 

Notes be submitted to the qualified electors of the City. 

The Mayor then asked the Clerk whether any written objections had been filed by any 

resident or property owner of the City to the issuance of the Notes.  The Clerk advised the Mayor 

and the Council that _____ written objections had been filed.  The Mayor then called for oral 

objections to the issuance of the Notes and _____ were made.  Whereupon, the Mayor declared 

the time for receiving oral and written objections to be closed. 

(Attach here a summary of objections received or made, if any) 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the hearing on the authorization of entering into a Loan 

Agreement and the issuance of the Notes to be closed. 

  

20

Item 3.



 

- 3 - 

The Council then considered the proposed action and the extent of objections thereto. 

Whereupon, Council Member ____________________ introduced and delivered to the 

Clerk the Resolution hereinafter set out entitled "RESOLUTION INSTITUTING 

PROCEEDINGS TO TAKE ADDITIONAL ACTION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO 

EXCEED $750,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN NOTES", and moved: 

 that the Resolution be adopted. 

 

  to ADJOURN and defer action on the Resolution and the proposal to institute 

proceedings for the issuance of notes to the meeting to be held at __________ 

_____.M. on the __________ day of _______________, 2024, at this place. 

 

Council Member ____________________ seconded the motion.  The roll was called and 

the vote was, 

 

AYES: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

___________________________________________ 

NAYS: ___________________________________________ 

 

 

Whereupon, the Mayor declared the measure duly adopted. 

RESOLUTION INSTITUTING PROCEEDINGS TO TAKE 

ADDITIONAL ACTION FOR THE ISSUANCE OF NOT TO 

EXCEED $750,000 GENERAL OBLIGATION CAPITAL LOAN 

NOTES 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by law, the City Council has held a 

public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to institute proceedings for the authorization of a 

Loan Agreement and the issuance of not to exceed $750,000 General Obligation Capital Loan 

Notes, for the general corporate purposes, in order to provide funds to pay the costs of City 

capital projects, including acquisition, construction, reconstruction, enlargement, improvement, 

and equipping of City facilities, including camera installation, replacement and maintenance, 

library handler equipment, public safety building maintenance and equipping the community 

center; and expanded public infrastructure, related amenities and site improvements, and has 

considered the extent of objections received from residents or property owners as to the proposed 

issuance of Notes; and no petition was filed calling for a referendum thereon.  The following 

action is now considered to be in the best interests of the City and residents thereof. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, STATE OF IOWA: 

21

Item 3.



 

- 4 - 

Section 1. That this Council does hereby institute proceedings and take additional action 

for the authorization and issuance in the manner required by law of not to exceed $750,000 

General Obligation Capital Loan Notes, for the foregoing general corporate purposes. 

Section 2. This Resolution shall serve as a declaration of official intent under Treasury 

Regulation 1.150-2 and shall be maintained on file as a public record of such intent.  It is 

reasonably expected that the general fund moneys may be advanced from time to time for capital 

expenditures which are to be paid from the proceeds of the above Notes.  The amounts so 

advanced shall be reimbursed from the proceeds of the Notes not later than eighteen months after 

the initial payment of the capital expenditures or eighteen months after the property is placed in 

service.  Such advancements shall not exceed the amount authorized in this Resolution unless the 

same are for preliminary expenditures or unless another declaration of intention is adopted. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 19th day of August, 2024. 

  

 

 

  

Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

 

  

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

22

Item 3.



 

 

CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 

I, the undersigned City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa, do hereby certify 

that attached is a true and complete copy of the portion of the records of the City showing 

proceedings of the Council, and the same is a true and complete copy of the action taken by the 

Council with respect to the matter at the meeting held on the date indicated in the attachment, 

which proceedings remain in full force and effect, and have not been amended or rescinded in 

any way; that meeting and all action thereat was duly and publicly held in accordance with a 

notice of meeting and tentative agenda, a copy of which was timely served on each member of 

the Council and posted on a bulletin board or other prominent place easily accessible to the 

public and clearly designated for that purpose at the principal office of the Council pursuant to 

the local rules of the Council and the provisions of Chapter 21, Code of Iowa, upon reasonable 

advance notice to the public and media at least twenty-four hours prior to the commencement of 

the meeting as required by law and with members of the public present in attendance; I further 

certify that the individuals named therein were on the date thereof duly and lawfully possessed of 

their respective City offices as indicated therein, that no Council vacancy existed except as may 

be stated in the proceedings, and that no controversy or litigation is pending, prayed or 

threatened involving the incorporation, organization, existence or boundaries of the City or the 

right of the individuals named therein as officers to their respective positions. 

 

WITNESS my hand and the seal of the Council hereto affixed this __________ day of 

_______________, 2024. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(SEAL) 

City Clerk, City of Cedar Falls, State of Iowa 

 

 
02387302\10283-193 

23

Item 3.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: August 7, 2024 

SUBJECT:      Agreement for Private Development – BALOS, LLC 
    
 

Introduction/Project Details 
 
For the past few months, City staff has been working with Jamie Fettkether of BALOS, 
LLC, toward the rehabilitation of an existing downtown property located at 109 E 2nd 
Street. Mr. Fettkether recently bought the building, which was previously an art 
studio/residence. Mr. Fettkether will begin work to renovate approximately 1,830 square 
feet of space for a new commercial tenant on the first floor, and will also include the 
rehabilitation of the dwelling unit on the second floor of the building as well. The 
developer is estimating that the project will cost approximately $400,000 to renovate the 
entire building, in order to create a new 1st floor commercial space and 2nd floor 
residential space. 
 

Financial Assistance Request  
 

This project is eligible under the Downtown Urban Renewal Plan for consideration of 
certain incentives that promote redevelopment of existing buildings needing repairs. The 
typical incentive offered for downtown projects such as this is a rebate of 100% of the 
tax increments generated on the increased value of the building after the improvements 
are complete, with a minimum investment of $200,000.   
 
A copy of the Agreement for Private Development for BALOS, LLC is attached for your 
review and outlines the proposed scope of work proposed for 109 E 2nd Street. This 
redevelopment project anticipates a total investment of approximately $400,000 for the 
building’s renovation costs, and when complete, the building is anticipated to be 
assessed at over $500,000. 
 
The project is expected to be completed by the end of 2025, with full assessment of the 
Minimum Improvements on January 1, 2026 and debt certification to the Auditor by the 
City prior to December 1, 2025. The Economic Development Grants shall commence on 
June 1, 2028 and end on June 1, 2032 based on the value added to the property. The 

24

Item 4.



following schedule would be applicable: 
 

June 1, 2028 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 27-28 
June 1, 2029 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 28-29 
June 1, 2030 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 29-30 
June 1, 2031 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 30-31 

 June 1, 2032 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 31-32 
 
The maximum amount of tax rebates provided to the developer shall not exceed 
$47,050. This is based on using a maximum of $400,000 tax increment increase in the 
valuation of the minimum improvements to the building. 
 

Recommendation 
 
It is recommended that City Council approve and adopt the following: 
 

1. Resolution approving and executing an Agreement for Private Development 
between BALOS, LLC and the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
  
 
         
        
 
 
 

25

Item 4.



Project Location

E. 2nd St

I

Ma
in 

St
State St

E. 1st St

E. 3rd St

BALOS, LLC
109 E 2nd Street
Building Renovation

26

Item 4.



Execution Version 

 

 

 

 

 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

 

 

 

By and Between 

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

 

AND 

 

 

 

BALOS, LLC  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

August 2024 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

27

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

2 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 
 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS………………………………………………..  5 

Section 1.1.  Definitions……………………………………………… 5 
 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES………………  7 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City……………  7 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer.….……..  8 
 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS…..  9 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements………………. 9 

Section 3.2. Commencement and Completion of Construction………. 10 

Section 3.3.  Certificate of Completion.……………………………… 10 
 

ARTICLE IV.  RESERVED…………………………………………………. 11 
 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE………………………………………………… 11 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements………………………………… 11 
 

ARTICLE VI.  FURTHER COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER……………… 13 

Section 6.1. Maintenance of Properties……………………………..  13 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Records……………………………….  13 

Section 6.3. Compliance with Laws………………………………...  13 

Section 6.4. Non-Discrimination….……………………………….  13 

Section 6.5.   Available Information…………………………………  14 

Section 6.6.   Employment…………………….…………………….  14 

Section 6.7.   Annual Certification………………..………………….  14 

Section 6.8. Term of Operations……………………………………  14 

Section 6.9. Developer Completion Guarantee…….………………  14 

 Section 6.10. Relocation .......................................................................  15 
 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITION AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND 

TRANSFER………………………………………………………………….  15 

Section 7.1.  Status of Developer; Transfer of Substantially All Assets; 

Assignment………………………………………  15 

Section 7.2.  Prohibition Against Use as Non-Taxable or Centrally 

Assessed Property……..……………………………...  15 

ARTICLE VIII.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT..……………….. 16 

Section 8.1.   Economic Development Grant………………………...  16 

Section 8.2.   Existing Value…………………………………………… 17 

Section 8.3.   Conditions………………………………………………. 17 

Section 8.4.   Grant Schedule……….…………………………………. 17 

28

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

3 

Section 8.5.   Maximum Amount of Grants………………………….. 18 

Section 8.6.   Limitations……………………………………….……... 19 

Section 8.7.   Source of Grant Funds Limited……..…………………. 19 

Section 8.8.   Use of Other Tax Increments…………………………… 20 

Section 8.9.   Real Property Taxes…………………………….……… 21 
 

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION……………………………………..  21 

Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants…………………. 21 
 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES……………………………………………….  22 

Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined…………….………………  22 

Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default………………………………….  23 

Section 10.3.  No Remedy Exclusive………………………………..  24 

Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver……………………………………  24 

Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses…….  24 
 

ARTICLE XI.  RESERVED…………………………………………………  25 
 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS………………………………………..  25 

Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest……………………………………  25 

Section 12.2.  Notices and Demands………………………………...  25 

Section 12.3.  Titles of Articles and Sections………………………… 25 

Section 12.4.  Counterparts……………………….……………..……  25 

Section 12.5.  Governing Law………………………………………… 25 

Section 12.6.  Entire Agreement……………………………………… 26 

Section 12.7.  Successors and Assigns……………………………….  26 

Section 12.8.  Termination Date……………………………………… 26 

Section 12.9.  Memorandum of Agreement………..………………..  26 

Section 12.10. No Third-Party Beneficiaries…………………………. 26 

Section 12.11. No Partnership or Joint Venture………………………. 26 

Section 12.12. Number and Gender of Words………………………… 26 

Section 12.13. Invalid Provisions……………………………………… 26 

Section 12.14. Multiple Counterparts…………………………………. 27 

 Section 12.15. Authorization………………………………………….. 27 

Section 12.16. Time of the Essence…………………………………… 27 

Section 12.17. Survival……………………………………………….. 27 
 

EXHIBIT A  Development Property…………………………………  30 

EXHIBIT B   Minimum Improvements………………………………. 31 

EXHIBIT C  Certificate of Completion……………………………… 32 

EXHIBIT D  Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development... 34 

EXHIBIT E  Developer Annual Certification...……………………..  37 

 

29

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

4 

AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

THIS AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT (hereinafter called 

"Agreement"), is made on or as of the ____ day of _____________, 2024, by and between 

the CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, a municipality (hereinafter called "City"), 

established pursuant to the Code of Iowa of the State of Iowa and acting under the 

authorization of Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa, 2023, as amended (hereinafter 

called "Urban Renewal Act"), and BALOS, LLC, an Iowa limited liability company, 

having offices for the transaction of business at 100 E. 2nd Street Unit 402, Cedar Falls, 

Iowa 50613 (hereinafter known as "Developer"). 

 

WITNESSETH: 

 

WHEREAS, in furtherance of the objectives of the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

has undertaken a program for the development of an economic development area in the 

City and, in this connection, is engaged in carrying out urban renewal project activities in 

an area known as the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or 

“Urban Renewal Area”), as set forth in the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal 

Plan, as amended (“Plan” or “Urban Renewal Plan”); and 

 

WHEREAS, a copy of the foregoing Urban Renewal Plan, as amended, has been 

recorded among the land records in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County, 

Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer is the owner of certain real property located in the foregoing 

Urban Renewal Area and as more particularly described in Exhibit A attached hereto and 

made a part hereof (which property as so described is hereinafter referred to as the 

"Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer is willing to construct certain Minimum Improvements on 

the Development Property and Developer will thereafter cause the same to be operated in 

accordance with this Agreement, and is willing to agree to certain terms and conditions 

regarding the future ownership and use of the Development Property, as more particularly 

set forth in this Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development 

Property will alleviate the blighted condition of the neighborhood and will benefit the City 

economically through increased property tax generation and increased sales tax generation 

on the retail floor of the Minimum Improvements, and will otherwise provide economic 

growth; and 

 

30

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

5 

WHEREAS, the City believes that the development of the Development Property 

pursuant to this Agreement and the fulfillment generally of this Agreement are in the vital 

and best interests of the residents of the City, and in accord with the public purposes and 

provisions of the applicable State and local laws and requirements under which the 

foregoing project has been undertaken and is being assisted, including but not limited to 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Code of Iowa. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the promises and the mutual obligations of 

the parties hereto, each of them does hereby covenant and agree with the other as follows: 

 

ARTICLE I.  DEFINITIONS 

 

Section 1.1.  Definitions. In addition to other definitions set forth in this Agreement, 

all capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined herein shall have the following 

meanings unless a different meaning clearly appears from the context: 

 

Agreement means this Agreement and all exhibits and appendices hereto, as the 

same may be from time to time modified, amended or supplemented. 

 

Area or Urban Renewal Area shall mean the area known as Downtown 

Development Urban Renewal Area. 

 

BALOS, LLC, 2019 E. 2nd Street TIF Account means a separate account within the 

Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund of the City, 

in which there shall be deposited Tax Increments received by the City with respect to the 

Minimum Improvements on the Development Property. 

 

Certificate of Completion means a certification in the form of the certificate attached 

hereto as Exhibit C and hereby made a part of this Agreement. 

 

City or Cedar Falls means the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, or any successor to its 

functions.  

 

Code or Code of Iowa means the Code of Iowa, 2023, as amended. 

 

Commencement Date means the date of this Agreement. 

 

Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund means 

the special fund of the City created under the authority of Section 403.19(2) of the Code, 

which fund was created in order to pay the principal of and interest on loans, monies 

advanced to or indebtedness, whether funded, refunded, assumed or otherwise, including 

31

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

6 

bonds or other obligations issued under the authority of Chapters 15A, 403 or 384 of the 

Code, incurred by the City to finance or refinance in whole or in part projects undertaken 

pursuant to the Urban Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area. 

 

Developer means BALOS, LLC, collectively, and its successors and assigns. 

 

Development Property means that portion of the Downtown Development Area 

Urban Renewal Area of the City described in Exhibit A and locally known as 109 E. 2nd 

Street. 

 

Economic Development Grants means the payments to be made by the City to 

Developer under Article VIII of this Agreement. 

 

Event of Default means any of the events described in Section 10.1 of this 

Agreement. 

 

First Mortgage means any Mortgage granted to secure any loan made pursuant to 

either a mortgage commitment obtained by Developer from a commercial lender or other 

financial institution to fund any portion of the construction costs and initial operating 

capital requirements of the Minimum Improvements or all such Mortgages as appropriate. 

 

Full-Time Equivalent Employment Unit means the employment at the Minimum 

Improvements of the equivalent of one person for an average of 2,000 hours per year, 

assuming eight hours per day for a five-day, forty-hour work week for fifty weeks per year. 

 

 Minimum Improvements shall mean the construction of improvements on the 

Development Property as described in Exhibit B.   

 

Mortgage mean any mortgage or security agreement in which Developer has granted 

a mortgage or other security interest in the Development Party, or any portion or parcel 

thereof, or any improvements constructed thereon. 

 

Net Proceeds means any proceeds paid by an insurer to Developer under a policy or 

policies of insurance required to be provided and maintained by Developer, as the case may 

be, pursuant to Article V of this Agreement and remaining after deducting all expenses 

(including fees and disbursements of counsel) incurred in the collection of such proceeds. 

 

Project shall mean the construction of the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property, as described in this Agreement. 

 

State means the State of Iowa. 

32

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

7 

 

 Tax Increments means the property tax revenues on the Minimum Improvements 

divided and made available to the City for deposit in the BALOS, LLC, 109 E. 2nd Street 

TIF Account of the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue 

Fund under the provisions of Section 403.19 of the Code, as amended. 

 

Termination Date means the date of termination of this Agreement, as established 

in Section 12.8 of this Agreement. 

 

Unavoidable Delays means delays resulting from acts or occurrences outside the 

reasonable control of the party claiming the delay including but not limited to storms, 

floods, fires, explosions or other casualty losses, unusual weather conditions, strikes, 

boycotts, lockouts or other labor disputes, delays in transportation or delivery of material 

or equipment, litigation commenced by third parties, or the acts of any federal, State or 

local governmental unit (other than the City). 

 

Urban Renewal Area means the area included within the boundaries of the 

Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Area, as amended. 

 

Urban Renewal Plan means the Urban Renewal Plan approved with respect to the 

Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Area, described in the preambles hereof. 

 

ARTICLE II.  REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 

Section 2.1.  Representations and Warranties of the City. The City makes the 

following representations and warranties:  

 

a. The City is a municipal corporation and municipality organized under the 

provisions of the Constitution and the laws of the State and has the power to enter into this 

Agreement and carry out its obligations hereunder. 

 

b. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in conflict with, or result in 

a breach of, the terms, conditions or provisions of any contractual restriction, evidence of 

indebtedness, agreement or instrument of whatever nature to which the City is now a party 

or by which it is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

 

c. The City would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement without 

the consideration being made to the City pursuant to this Agreement, including, without 

limitation, the consideration set forth in Article IV. 

33

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

8 

 

Section 2.2.  Representations and Warranties of Developer. Developer makes the 

following representations and warranties: 

 

a. BALOS, LLC is an Iowa limited liability company, duly organized and 

validly existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, with all requisite power and authority 

to own and operate its properties, to carry on its business as now conducted and as presently 

proposed to be conducted, and to enter into and perform its obligations under this 

Agreement.   

 

b. This Agreement has been duly and validly authorized, executed and 

delivered by Developer and, assuming due authorization, execution and delivery by the 

City, is in full force and effect and is a valid and legally binding instrument of Developer 

enforceable in accordance with its terms, except as the same may be limited by bankruptcy, 

insolvency, reorganization or other laws relating to or affecting creditors' rights generally. 

 

c. The execution and delivery of this Agreement, the consummation of the 

transactions contemplated hereby, and the fulfillment of or compliance with the terms and 

conditions of this Agreement are not prevented by, limited by, in conflict with, or result in 

a violation or breach of, the terms, conditions or provisions of the governing documents of 

Developer or of any contractual restriction, evidence of indebtedness, agreement or 

instrument of whatever nature to which Developer is now a party or by which it or its 

property is bound, nor do they constitute a default under any of the foregoing. 

 

d. There are no actions, suits or proceedings pending or threatened against or 

affecting Developer in any court or before any arbitrator or before or by any governmental 

body in which there is a reasonable possibility of an adverse decision which could 

materially adversely affect the business (present or prospective), financial position or 

results of operations of Developer or which in any manner raises any questions affecting 

the validity of the Agreement or Developer's ability to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement. 

 

e.  Developer will cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement, the Urban Renewal Plan, and all applicable 

local, State, and federal laws and regulations. 

 

f. Developer will use its best efforts to obtain or cause to be obtained, in a 

timely manner, all required permits, licenses, and approvals, and will meet, in a timely 

manner, all requirements of all applicable local, State, and federal laws and regulations 

which must be obtained or met before the Minimum Improvements may be lawfully 

constructed. 

34

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

9 

 

g. The construction of the Minimum Improvements will require a total 

investment of approximately $400,000. 

 

h. Developer has not received any notice from any local, State or federal official 

that the activities of Developer with respect to the Development Property may or will be in 

violation of any environmental law or regulation (other than those notices, if any, of which 

the City has previously been notified in writing). Developer is not currently aware of any 

State or federal claim filed or planned to be filed by any party relating to any violation of 

any local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure applicable to 

the Development Property, and Developer is not currently aware of any violation of any 

local, State or federal environmental law, regulation or review procedure which would give 

any person a valid claim under any State or federal environmental statute with respect 

thereto. 

 

i. Developer has equity funds and/or firm commitments for financing of 

construction or acquisition and permanent financing for the Project in an amount sufficient, 

together with equity commitments, to successfully complete the Minimum Improvements 

in accordance with the Construction Plans contemplated in this Agreement. 

 

j. Developer will cooperate fully with the City in resolution of any traffic, 

parking, trash removal or public safety problems which may arise in connection with the 

construction and operation of the Minimum Improvements. 

 

k. Developer expects that, barring Unavoidable Delays, the Minimum 

Improvements will be completed by December 31, 2025. 

 

l. Developer would not undertake its obligations under this Agreement without 

the payment by the City of the Economic Development Grants being made to Developer 

pursuant to this Agreement. 

 

m. Developer agrees to comply with all of the provisions of Article IV of this 

Agreement. 

 

ARTICLE III.  CONSTRUCTION OF MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Section 3.1.  Construction of Minimum Improvements. Developer agrees that it will 

cause the Minimum Improvements to be constructed on the Development Property after 

issuance of a building permit issued by the City. Developer agrees that the scope and scale 

of the Minimum Improvements to be constructed shall not be significantly less than the 

35

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

10 

scope and scale of the Minimum Improvements as detailed and outlined in the site plans, 

and shall require a total investment of approximately $400,000. 

 

Section 3.2.  Commencement and Completion of Construction. Subject to 

Unavoidable Delays, Developer shall cause construction of the Minimum Improvements 

to be undertaken: (i) by no later than November 1, 2024; or (ii) by such other date as the 

parties shall mutually agree upon in writing, and completed: (i) by no later than December 

31, 2025; or (ii) by such other date as the parties shall mutually agree upon in writing. Time 

lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays shall be added to extend this date by a number of 

days equal to the number of days lost as a result of Unavoidable Delays. Developer agrees 

that it shall permit designated representatives of the City, upon reasonable notice (which 

does not have to be written), to enter upon the Development Property during the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements to inspect such construction and the progress 

thereof.  The completion date for construction of the Minimum Improvements, as may be 

extended by Unavoidable Delays, must be met in order for Developer to qualify for the 

Economic Development Grants to be made to Developer pursuant to this Agreement.  The 

Developer agrees that it shall permit a designated representative(s) of the City to enter upon 

the Development Property during the construction of the Minimum Improvements to 

inspect such construction during reasonable times upon reasonable notice. 

 

Section 3.3.  Certificate of Completion. Upon written request of Developer after 

issuance of an occupancy permit for the Minimum Improvements, the City will furnish 

Developer with a Certificate of Completion in recordable form, in substantially the form 

set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto. Such Certificate of Completion shall be a conclusive 

determination of the satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of this 

Agreement with respect to the obligations of Developer to cause construction of the 

Minimum Improvements.  

 

The Certificate of Completion may be recorded in the proper office for the 

recordation of deeds and other instruments pertaining to the Development Property at 

Developer's sole expense. If the City shall refuse or fail to provide a Certificate of 

Completion in accordance with the provisions of this Section, the City shall, within twenty 

(20) days after written request by Developer provide a written statement indicating in 

adequate detail in what respects Developer has failed to complete the Minimum 

Improvements in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in 

default under the terms of this Agreement, and what measures or acts it will be necessary, 

in the opinion of the City, for Developer to take or perform in order to obtain such 

Certificate of Completion.  

 

 

 

36

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

11 

ARTICLE IV.   RESERVED 

 

ARTICLE V.  INSURANCE 

 

Section 5.1.  Insurance Requirements. 

 

a. Developer will provide and maintain or cause to be maintained at all times 

during the process of constructing the Minimum Improvements (and, from time to time at 

the request of the City, furnish the City with proof of payment of premiums on): 

 

 i. Builder's risk insurance, written on the so-called "Builder's Risk– 

Completed Value Basis," in an amount equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the 

insurable value of the Minimum Improvements at the date of completion, and with 

coverage available in non-reporting form on the so-called "all risk" form of policy. 

 

 ii. Comprehensive general liability insurance (including operations, 

contingent liability, operations of subcontractors, completed operations, and contractual 

liability insurance) with limits against bodily injury and property damage of at least 

$1,000,000 for each occurrence. The City shall be named as an additional insured for the 

City's liability or loss arising out of or in any way associated with the project and arising 

out of any act, error, or omission of Developer, its directors, officers, shareholders, 

contractors, and subcontractors or anyone else for whose acts the City may be held 

responsible (with coverage to the City at least as broad as that which is provided to 

Developer and not lessened or avoided by endorsement). The policy shall contain a 

"severability of interests" clause and provide primary insurance over any other insurance 

maintained by the City.  The policy shall waive subrogation rights against the City and 

shall contain a Governmental Immunities endorsement in a form acceptable to the City. 

 

 iii. Workers' compensation insurance with at least statutory coverage. 

 

b. Upon completion of construction of the Minimum Improvements and at all 

times prior to the Termination Date, Developer shall maintain or cause to be maintained, 

at its cost and expense (and from time to time at the request of the City shall furnish proof 

of the payment of premiums on), insurance as follows: 

 

 i. Insurance against loss and/or damage to the Minimum Improvements 

under a policy or policies covering such risks as are ordinarily insured against by similar 

businesses, including (without limitation the generality of the foregoing) fire, extended 

coverage, vandalism and malicious mischief, explosion, water damage, demolition cost, 

debris removal, and collapse in an amount not less than the full insurable replacement value 

of the Minimum Improvements, but any such policy may have a deductible amount of not 

37

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

12 

more than $50,000 or self-insurance up to not more than $1,000,000. No policy of 

insurance shall be so written that the proceeds thereof will produce less than the minimum 

coverage required by the preceding sentence, by reason of co-insurance provisions or 

otherwise, without the prior consent thereto in writing by the City. The term "full insurable 

replacement value" shall mean the actual replacement cost of the Minimum Improvements 

(excluding foundation and excavation costs and costs of underground flues, pipes, drains, 

and other uninsurable items) and equipment, and shall be determined from time to time at 

the request of the City, but not more frequently than once every three years, by an insurance 

consultant or insurer selected and paid for by Developer and approved by the City.   

 

 ii. Comprehensive general liability insurance, including liability for 

injuries to persons and/or property, including any injuries resulting from the operation of 

automobiles or other motorized vehicles on or about the Development Property, in the 

minimum amount for each occurrence and for each year of $1,000,000. 

 

 iii. Such other insurance, including workers' compensation insurance 

respecting all employees of Developer, in such amount as is customarily carried by like 

organizations engaged in like activities of comparable size and liability exposure; provided 

that Developer may be self-insured with respect to all or any part of its liability for workers' 

compensation, if approved by the State. 

 

c. All insurance required by this Article V to be provided prior to the 

Termination Date shall be taken out and maintained in responsible insurance companies 

selected by Developer, which are authorized under the laws of the State to assume the risks 

covered thereby. Upon request, Developer will deposit annually with the City copies of 

policies evidencing all such insurance, or a certificate or certificates or binders of the 

respective insurers stating that such insurance is in force and effect. Unless otherwise 

provided in this Article V, each policy shall contain a provision that the insurer shall not 

cancel or modify it without giving written notice to Developer and the City at least thirty 

(30) days before the cancellation or modification becomes effective. Not less than fifteen 

(15) days prior to the expiration of any policy, Developer shall furnish the City evidence 

satisfactory to the City that the policy has been renewed or replaced by another policy 

conforming to the provisions of this Article V, or that there is no necessity therefor under 

the terms hereof. In lieu of separate policies, Developer may maintain a single policy, or 

blanket or umbrella policies, or a combination thereof, which provide the total coverage 

required herein, in which event Developer shall deposit with the City a certificate or 

certificates of the respective insurers as to the amount of coverage in force upon the 

Minimum Improvements. 

 

d. Developer agrees to notify the City immediately in the case of damage 

exceeding $25,000 in amount to, or destruction of, the Minimum Improvements or any 

38

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

13 

portion thereof resulting from fire or other casualty. Net Proceeds of any such insurance 

shall be paid directly to Developer, and Developer will forthwith repair, reconstruct, and 

restore the Minimum Improvements to substantially the same or an improved condition or 

value as they existed prior to the event causing such damage and, to the extent necessary 

to accomplish such repair, reconstruction and restoration, Developer will apply the Net 

Proceeds of any insurance relating to such damage received by Developer to the payment 

or reimbursement of the costs thereof.  The provisions of this paragraph shall apply to 

casualties that occur prior to the Termination Date. 

 

e. Developer shall complete the repair, reconstruction, and restoration of the 

Minimum Improvements, whether or not the Net Proceeds of insurance received by 

Developer for such purposes are sufficient.   

 

ARTICLE VI.  FURTHER COVENANTS OF DEVELOPER 

 

Section 6.1. Maintenance of Properties.  Developer shall maintain, preserve, and 

keep its properties within the City (whether owned in fee or a leasehold interest), including 

but not limited to the Minimum Improvements, in good repair and working order, ordinary 

wear and tear excepted, and from time to time will make all necessary repairs, 

replacements, renewals, and additions. 

 

Section 6.2. Maintenance of Records. Developer shall keep at all times proper 

books of record and account in which full, true, and correct entries will be made of all 

dealings and transactions of or in relation to the business and affairs of Developer relating 

to this Project in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, consistently 

applied throughout the period involved, and Developer shall provide reasonable protection 

against loss or damage to such books of record and account.  

 

Section 6.3. Compliance with Laws. Developer shall comply with all state, federal 

and local laws, rules and regulations relating to the Minimum Improvements. 

 

Section 6.4. Non-Discrimination. In carrying out the construction and operation of 

the Minimum Improvements, the Developer shall not discriminate against any employee 

or applicant for employment because of race, creed, color, gender, sex, sexual orientation, 

gender identity, religion, national origin, age, disability, or other legally protected 

characteristic, and shall further require that other persons and entities performing work on 

the Project also comply with this provision. The Developer shall ensure that applicants for 

employment are employed, and the employees are treated during employment, without 

regard to their race, creed, color, gender, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, religion, 

national origin, age, disability or other legally protected characteristic. 

 

39

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

14 

Section 6.5 Available Information. Upon request, Developer shall promptly 

provide the City with copies of information requested by City that are related to this 

Agreement so that City can determine compliance with the Agreement. 

   

Section 6.6  Employment. Developer agrees that the Minimum Improvements will 

create usable commercial space for office and/or retail tenants on the lower level with 

residential space above. Developer shall use its best efforts to ensure that at least 1 Full-

Time Equivalent Employment Unit will be employed by Developer’s tenant(s) at the 

Minimum Improvements by October 1, 2026 and retained until at least the Termination 

Date of this Agreement.   

 Section 6.7 Annual Certification. To assist the City in monitoring the Agreement 

and performance of Developer hereunder, a duly authorized officer of Developer shall 

annually provide to the City: (i) proof that all ad valorem taxes on the Development 

Property and Minimum Improvements have been paid for the prior fiscal year and any 

taxes due and payable for the current fiscal year as of the date of certification; (ii) the date 

of the first full assessment of the Minimum Improvements; (iii) certification of the number 

of Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units as of October 1 and as of the first day of each 

of the preceding eleven (11) months; and (iv) certification that such officer has re-examined 

the terms and provisions of this Agreement and that at the date of such certificate, and 

during the preceding twelve (12) months, Developer is not, or was not, in default in the 

fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no Event of 

Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would 

become an Event of Default) is occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate 

or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such default, event or Event of 

Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its period of 

existence and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect 

thereto. Such statement, proof and certificate shall be provided not later than October 15 

of each year, commencing October 15, 2026 and ending on October 15, 2031, both dates 

inclusive. Developer shall provide supporting information for their Annual Certifications 

upon request of the City. See Exhibit E for form required for Developer's Annual 

Certification. 

 Section 6.8. Term of Operation. Developer will continue its efforts to lease the 

Minimum Improvements on the Development Property and its other obligations contained 

in this Agreement, including the employment obligations in Section 6.6, until the 

Termination Date of this Agreement.   

 Section 6.9 Developer Completion Guarantee. By signing this Agreement, 

Developer hereby guarantees to the City performance by Developer of all the terms and 

provisions of this Agreement pertaining to Developer's obligations with respect to the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements. Without limiting the generality of the 

40

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

15 

foregoing, Developer guarantees that: (a) construction of the Minimum Improvements 

shall commence and be completed within the time limits set forth herein; (b) the Minimum 

Improvements shall be constructed and completed in accordance with the Construction 

Plans; (c) the Minimum Improvements shall be constructed and completed free and clear 

of any mechanic's liens, materialman's liens and equitable liens; (d) all costs of constructing 

the Minimum Improvements shall be paid when due.  

 

Section 6.10.  Relocation. Developer agrees and covenants that as of the date of this 

Agreement the Minimum Improvements have not been leased to a Relocating Entity, and 

the Economic Development Grants shall not be assigned to or otherwise transferred to a 

Relocating Entity so as to incentivize such an entity to relocate into the Minimum 

Improvements.  For purposes of this Agreement, a Relocating Entity is any commercial 

entity that is relocating to the City from another part of Black Hawk County or a contiguous 

county. 

 

ARTICLE VII.  PROHIBITION AGAINST ASSIGNMENT AND TRANSFER 

 

 Section 7.1.  Status of Developer; Transfer of Substantially All Assets; Assignment. 

As security for the obligations of Developer under this Agreement, Developer represents 

and agrees that, prior to the Termination Date, Developer will maintain existence as a 

company and will not wind up or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of its assets 

or transfer, convey, or assign its interest in the Development Property or its interest in this 

Agreement to any other party unless: (i) the transferee partnership, corporation, limited 

liability company or individual assumes in writing all of the obligations of Developer under 

this Agreement; and (ii) the City consents thereto in writing in advance thereof. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, however, or any other provisions of this Agreement, 

Developer may pledge any and/or all of its assets as security for any financing of the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements, and the City agrees that Developer may 

assign its interest under this Agreement for such purpose.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

leases and subleases to tenants for all or a portion of the Development Property or 

Minimum Improvements shall not be prohibited. 

 

7.2 Prohibition Against Use as Non-Taxable or Centrally Assessed Property.  

During the term of this Agreement, the Developer, or its successors, or assigns agree that 

the Development Property cannot be transferred or sold to a non-profit entity or used for a 

purpose that would exempt the Development Property or Minimum Improvements from 

property tax liability. Nor can the Development Property or Minimum Improvements be 

used as centrally assessed property (including but not limited to, Iowa Code § 428.24 to 

428.29 (Public Utility Plants and Related Personal Property); Chapter 433 (Telegraph and 

Telephone Company Property); Chapter 434 (Railway Property); Chapter 437 (Electric 

Transmission Lines); Chapter 437A (Property Used in the Production, Generation, 

41

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

16 

Transmission or Delivery of Electricity or Natural Gas); and Chapter 438 (Pipeline 

Property)). 

 

ARTICLE VIII.  ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT GRANT 

 

Section 8.1.  Economic Development Grant. For and in consideration of the 

obligations being assumed by Developer hereunder, and as a necessary means of achieving 

the goals and objectives of the Urban Renewal Plan for the Urban Renewal Area and the 

Urban Renewal Act, the City agrees, subject to the terms and conditions of this Article and 

to subject to Developer being and remaining in compliance with the terms of this 

Agreement, to make up to five (5) consecutive annual payments of Economic Development 

Grants to Developer up to an aggregate total amount not to exceed Forty Seven Thousand 

and Fifty Dollars ($47,050) under the following terms and conditions. 

 

In accordance with Section 8.2 below, the existing building located on the 

Development Property as of January 1, 2024 (assessed building value of $35,840) will 

not be considered when determining the amount of Economic Development Grants to 

which Developer is entitled. The Economic Development Grants are only for the 

incremental value added above $35,840. The increased assessed building value after 

construction of the Minimum Improvements for the purpose of this Agreement is 

required to be at least $235,840 for Developer to be eligible for Economic 

Development Grants, and the Black Hawk County Assessor will make the final 

determination as to the value. 
 

Assuming completion by December 31, 2025, full assessment of the Minimum 

Improvements on January 1, 2026, and debt certification to the Auditor by the City prior 

to December 1, 2026, the Economic Development Grants shall commence on June 1, 2028, 

and end on June 1, 2032, pursuant to Section 403.19 of the Urban Renewal Act under the 

following formula: 

 

June 1, 2028  100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 27-28 

June 1, 2029 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 28-29 

June 1, 2030 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 29-30 

June 1, 2031 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 30-31 

June 1, 2032 100% of Tax Increments for Fiscal Year 31-32 

 

Each annual payment shall be equal in amount to the above percentages of the Tax 

Increments collected by the City with respect to the Minimum Improvements on the 

Development Property under the terms of the Ordinance and deposited into the BALOS, 

LLC, 109 E 2nd Street TIF Account (without regard to any averaging that may otherwise 

be utilized under Section 403.19 and excluding any interest that may accrue thereon prior 

42

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

17 

to payment to the Developer) during the preceding twelve-month period in respect of the 

Development Property and the Minimum Improvements, but subject to limitation and 

adjustment as provided in this Article (such payments being referred to collectively as the 

"Economic Development Grants"). 

 

The above schedule of the payments for Economic Development Grants is based on 

the first full assessment of the Minimum Improvements being January 1, 2026.  If the 

completion of the Minimum Improvements is delayed so that the Minimum Improvements 

are not fully assessed as of January 1, 2026, then the Economic Development Grants will 

not begin as scheduled above.  In no event shall the City certify a request for Tax Increment 

to the County until the Minimum Improvements are fully assessed. It is the responsibility 

of the Developer to inform the City in writing when the Minimum Improvements are first 

fully assessed and to do so not later than October 15 after the January 1 when the Minimum 

Improvements are first fully assessed. 

 

Section 8.2  Existing Value. For the purposes of this Agreement, the assessed value 

of the existing building located on the Development Property as of January 1, 2024 

(assessed building value of $35,840) will not be considered when determining the amount 

of Economic Development Grants to which Developer is entitled. The Economic 

Development Grant is only for the Minimum Improvements described in this Agreement 

and not any future expansions which, to be eligible for Economic Development Grants, 

would be the subject of an amendment or new agreement, at the sole discretion of the City.   

 

Section 8.3  Conditions. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.1 above, the 

obligation of the City to make an Economic Development Grant in any year shall be subject 

to and conditioned upon the following: 

 

(a) an increase in the assessed building value of at least $200,000 

resulting from construction of the Minimum Improvements; and 

 

(b) a total investment of at least $400,000, substantiated by documented 

receipts and invoices provided to the City as part of Developer’s Annual 

Certifications; 

 

(c) compliance with the terms of this Agreement;  

 

(d) timely filing by Developer of the Annual Certifications required under 

Section 6.7 hereof and the Council's approval thereof.  

 

Section 8.4.  Grant Schedule. After the Minimum Improvements are first fully 

assessed and if in compliance with this Agreement, if the Developer's Annual Certification 

43

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

18 

is timely filed and contains the information required under Section 6.7 and the Council 

approves of the same, the City shall certify to the County prior to December 1 of that year 

its request for the available Tax Increments resulting from the assessments imposed by the 

County as of January 1 of that year, to be collected by the County and paid to the City as 

taxes are paid during the following fiscal year and which shall thereafter be disbursed to 

Developer on the following June 1. (Example: assuming completion by December 2025 

and first full assessment on January 1, 2026 if Developer and the City each so certify in 

October 2026, the first Economic Development Grants would be paid to Developer on June 

1, 2028 (for 100% of the Tax Increment for fiscal year 2027-2028)). Compliance with the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement is a condition precedent to an Economic 

Development Grant. As an example, if property taxes are not paid, the Developer is not 

eligible for an Economic Development Grant. 

 

In the event that the Annual Certification required to be delivered by the Developer 

under Section 6.7 is not delivered to the City by October 15 of any year, the Developer 

recognizes and agrees that the City may have insufficient time to review and approve the 

same and certify its request for Tax Increments to the County and that, as a result, no 

Economic Development Grant may be made to the Developer in respect thereof.  The City 

covenants to act in good faith to appropriately review and consider any late certification on 

the part of the Developer, but the City shall not be obligated to make any certification to 

the County for the available Tax Increments or make any corresponding payment of the 

Economic Development Grant to the Developer if, in the reasonable judgment of the City, 

it is not able to give appropriate consideration (which may include, but not be limited to, 

specific discussion before the City Council at a regular City Council meeting with respect 

thereto) to the Developer’s certification due to its late filing. 

 

Section 8.5. Maximum Amount of Grants. The aggregate amount of the Economic 

Development Grants that may be paid to Developer under this Agreement shall be equal to 

the sum of the total amount of the applicable percentage of Tax Increments collected in 

respect of the assessments imposed on the Minimum Improvements over the specified time 

period, but in no event shall exceed a total aggregate amount of $47,050. Economic 

Development Grants shall at all times be subject to suspension, reduction, or termination 

in accordance with the terms of this Article VIII.  Thereafter the taxes levied on the 

Minimum Improvements shall be divided and applied in accordance with the Urban 

Renewal Act and the Ordinance. 

 

It is recognized by all parties that the total aggregate amount set forth above is a 

maximum amount only and that the actual payment amounts will be determined as set forth 

in Section 8.1 and this Article. 

 

44

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

19 

Section 8.6.  Limitations. In the event that an Event of Default occurs or any 

certification filed by Developer under Section 6.7 (or other information) discloses the 

existence or prior occurrence of an Event of Default that was not cured or cannot 

reasonably be cured, the City shall have no obligation thereafter to make any payments to 

Developer in respect of the Economic Development Grants and the provisions of this 

Article shall terminate and be of no further force or effect. 

 

Each Annual Certification filed by Developer under Section 6.7 hereof shall be 

considered separately in determining whether the City shall make any of the Economic 

Development Grant payments available to Developer under this Section. Under no 

circumstances shall the failure by Developer to qualify for an Economic Development 

Grant in any year serve to extend the term of this Agreement beyond the Termination Date 

or the years during which Economic Development Grants may be awarded to Developer 

or the total amount thereof, it being the intent of parties hereto to provide Developer with 

an opportunity to receive Economic Development Grants only if Developer fully complies 

with the provisions hereof and the Developer becomes entitled thereto, up to the maximum 

aggregate amount set forth in Section 8.1. 

 

Section 8.7.  Source of Grant Funds Limited.   

 

a. The Economic Development Grants shall be payable from and secured solely 

and only by amounts deposited and held in the BALOS, LLC, 109 E 2nd Street TIF Account 

of the Downtown Development Urban Renewal Tax Increment Revenue Fund of the City. 

The City hereby covenants and agrees to maintain the Ordinance in force during the term 

hereof and to apply the appropriate percentage of Tax Increments collected in respect of 

the Minimum Improvements and allocated to the BALOS, LLC, 109 E 2nd Street TIF 

Account to pay the Economic Development Grants, as and to the extent set forth in this 

Article.  The Economic Development Grants shall not be payable in any manner by other 

tax increment revenues or by general taxation or from any other City funds. Any 

commercial and industrial property tax replacement monies that may be received under 

chapter 441.21A shall not be included in the calculation to determine the amount of 

Economic Development Grants for which Developer is eligible, and any monies received 

back under chapter 426C relating to the Business Property Tax Credit shall not be included 

in the calculation to determine the amount of Economic Development Grants for which 

Developer is eligible. 

 

b. Each Economic Development Grant is subject to annual appropriation by the 

City Council. The right of non-appropriation reserved to the City in this Section is intended 

by the parties, and shall be construed at all times, so as to ensure that the City's obligation 

to make future Economic Development Grants shall not constitute a legal indebtedness of 

the City within the meaning of any applicable constitutional or statutory debt limitation 

45

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

20 

prior to the adoption of a budget which appropriates funds for the payment of that 

installment or amount. In the event that any of the provisions of this Agreement are 

determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to create, or result in the creation of, such 

a legal indebtedness of the City, the enforcement of the said provision shall be suspended, 

and the Agreement shall at all times be construed and applied in such a manner as will 

preserve the foregoing intent of the parties, and no Event of Default by the City shall be 

deemed to have occurred as a result thereof. If any provision of this Agreement or the 

application thereof to any circumstance is so suspended, the suspension shall not affect 

other provisions of this Agreement which can be given effect without the suspended 

provision. To this end the provisions of this Agreement are severable. 

 

c. Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 8.1 hereof, the City shall have no 

obligation to make an Economic Development Grant to Developer if at any time during the 

term hereof the City fails to appropriate funds for payment, or receives an opinion from its 

legal counsel to the effect that the use of Tax Increments resulting from the Minimum 

Improvements to fund an Economic Development Grant to Developer, as contemplated 

under said Section 8.1, is not authorized or otherwise an appropriate urban renewal activity 

permitted to be undertaken by the City under the Urban Renewal Act or other applicable 

provisions of the Code, as then constituted or under controlling decision of any Iowa Court 

having jurisdiction over the subject matter hereof. Upon receipt of any such legal opinion 

or non-appropriation, the City shall promptly forward notice of the same to Developer.  If 

the non-appropriation or circumstances or legal constraints giving rise to the decision 

continue for a period during which two (2) annual Economic Development Grants would 

otherwise have been paid to the Developer under the terms of Section 8.1, the City may 

terminate this Agreement, without penalty or other liability to the City, by written notice 

to Developer. 

 

d. The City makes no representation with respect to the amounts that may 

finally be paid to Developer as the Economic Development Grants, and under no 

circumstances shall the City in any manner be liable to Developer so long as the City timely 

applies the appropriate percentage of Tax Increments actually collected and held in the 

BALOS, LLC, 109 E 2nd Street TIF Account (regardless of the amounts thereof) to the 

payment of the corresponding Economic Development Grants to Developer as and to the 

extent described in this Article. 

 

Section 8.8.  Use of Other Tax Increments. The City shall be free to use any and all 

Tax Increments collected from any other properties within the Downtown Development 

Urban Renewal Area, or any available Tax Increments resulting from the suspension or 

termination of the Economic Development Grants, for any purpose for which the Tax 

Increments may lawfully be used pursuant to the provisions of the Urban Renewal Act 

46

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

21 

(including an allocation of all or any portion thereof to the reduction of any eligible City 

costs), and the City shall have no obligations to Developer with respect to the use thereof. 

 

Section 8.9.  Real Property Taxes.  Developer or its successors shall pay or cause to 

be paid, when due, all real property taxes and assessments payable with respect to all and 

any parts of the Development Property acquired and owned or leased by them and pursuant 

to the provisions of this Agreement. Until Developer's obligations have been assumed by 

any other person or legal title to the property is vested in another person, all pursuant to the 

provisions of this Agreement, Developer shall be solely responsible for all assessments and 

taxes.  

 

Developer and its successors agree that prior to the Termination Date: 

 

a. They will not seek administrative review or judicial review of the 

applicability or constitutionality of any tax statute relating to the taxation of real property 

contained on the Development Property determined by any tax official to be applicable to 

the Development Property, Minimum Improvements, or raise the inapplicability or 

constitutionality of any such tax statute as a defense in any proceedings, including 

delinquent tax proceedings; and 

 

b. They will not seek any tax exemption deferral or abatement either presently 

or prospectively authorized under any State, federal or local law with respect to taxation of 

real property contained on the Development Property between the date of execution of this 

Agreement and the Termination Date. 

 

ARTICLE IX.  INDEMNIFICATION 

 

 Section 9.1.  Release and Indemnification Covenants. 

 

 a. Developer releases the City and the governing body members, officers, 

agents, servants and employees thereof (hereinafter, for purposes of this Article IX, the 

"indemnified parties") from, covenants and agrees that the indemnified parties shall not be 

liable for, and agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless the indemnified parties 

against, any loss or damage to property or any injury to or death of any person occurring 

at or about or resulting from any defect in the Minimum Improvements or Development 

Property.  

 

 b. Except for any willful misrepresentation or any willful or wanton misconduct 

or any unlawful act of the indemnified parties, Developer agrees to protect and defend the 

indemnified parties, now or forever, and further agrees to hold the indemnified parties 

harmless, from any claim, demand, suit, action or other proceedings whatsoever by any 

47

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

22 

person or entity whatsoever arising or purportedly arising from:  (i) any violation of any 

agreement or condition of this Agreement (except with respect to any suit, action, demand 

or other proceeding brought by Developer against the City to enforce its rights under this 

Agreement); (ii) the acquisition and condition of the Development Property and the 

construction, installation, ownership, and operation of the Minimum Improvements; or (iii) 

any hazardous substance or environmental contamination located in or on the Development 

Property. 

 

 c. The indemnified parties shall not be liable for any damage or injury to the 

persons or property of Developer or their officers, agents, servants or employees or any 

other person who may be about the Minimum Improvements or Development Property due 

to any act of negligence of any person, other than any act of negligence on the part of any 

such indemnified party or its officers, agents, servants or employees. 

 

 d.  All covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements, and obligations of the City 

contained herein shall be deemed to be the covenants, stipulations, promises, agreements, 

and obligations of the City, and not of any governing body member, officer, agent, servant 

or employee of the City in the individual capacity thereof. 

 

 e. The provisions of this Article IX shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

ARTICLE X.  REMEDIES 

 

Section 10.1.  Events of Default Defined. The following shall be "Events of Default" 

under this Agreement and the term "Event of Default" shall mean, whenever it is used in 

this Agreement, any one or more of the following events during the Term of this 

Agreement: 

 

a. Failure by Developer to cause the construction or reconstruction of the 

Minimum Improvements to be completed and the operations to continue pursuant to the 

terms and conditions of this Agreement; 

 

b.   Failure by Developer to comply with any provision of this Agreement; 

 

c. Transfer of Developer's interest in the Development Property or any interest 

in this Agreement or the assets of Developer in violation of the provisions of this 

Agreement; 

 

d. Failure by Developer to pay ad valorem taxes on the Development Property 

and Minimum Improvements;  

 

48

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

23 

e. Failure by Developer to substantially observe or perform any covenant, 

condition, obligation or agreement on its part to be observed or performed under this 

Agreement; 

 

f. The holder of any mortgage on the Development Property, or any 

improvements thereon, or any portion thereof, commences foreclosure proceedings as a 

result of any default under the applicable mortgage documents; 

 

g. Developer shall: 

 

 i. file any petition in bankruptcy or for any reorganization, arrangement, 

composition, readjustment, liquidation, dissolution, or similar relief under the United 

States Bankruptcy Act of 1978, as amended, or under any similar federal or state law; or 

 

 ii. make an assignment for the benefit of its creditors; or 

 

 iii. admit in writing its inability to pay its debts generally as they become 

due; or 

 

 iv. be adjudicated as bankrupt or insolvent; or if a petition or answer 

proposing the adjudication of Developer as a bankrupt or its reorganization under any 

present or future federal bankruptcy act or any similar federal or state law shall be filed in 

any court and such petition or answer shall not be discharged or denied within ninety (90) 

days after the filing thereof; or a receiver, trustee or liquidator of Developer or the 

Minimum Improvements, or part thereof, shall be appointed in any proceedings brought 

against Developer, and shall not be discharged within ninety (90) days after such 

appointment, or if Developer shall consent to or acquiesce in such appointment; or 

 

h. Any representation or warranty made by Developer in this Agreement or in 

any written statement or certificate furnished by Developer pursuant to this Agreement, 

shall prove to have been incorrect, incomplete or misleading in any material respect on or 

as of the date of the issuance or making thereof. 

 

Section 10.2.  Remedies on Default. Whenever any Event of Default referred to in 

Section 10.1 of this Agreement occurs and is continuing, the City, as specified below, may 

take any one or more of the following actions after the giving of thirty (30) days' written 

notice by the City to Developer of the Event of Default, but only if the Event of Default 

has not been cured within said thirty (30) days, or if the Event of Default cannot reasonably 

be cured within thirty (30) days and Developer does not provide assurances reasonably 

satisfactory to the City that the Event of Default will be cured as soon as reasonably 

possible: 

49

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

24 

 

a. The City may suspend its performance under this Agreement until it receives 

assurances from Developer, deemed adequate by the City, that Developer will cure the 

default and continue its performance under this Agreement; 

 

b. The City may terminate this Agreement; 

 

c. The City may withhold the Certificate of Completion;  

 

d. The City may take any action, including legal, equitable or administrative 

action, which may appear necessary or desirable to enforce performance and observance 

of any obligation, agreement, or covenant of Developer, and/or to collect money damages, 

as the case may be, under this Agreement; or 

 

e. The City shall be entitled to recover from the Developer, and the Developer 

shall repay to the City, an amount equal to the full amount of the Economic Development 

Grants previously made to Developer under Article VIII hereof, with interest thereon at the 

highest rate permitted by State law. The City may take any action, including any legal 

action it deems necessary, to recover such amount from Developer. 

 

Section 10.3.  No Remedy Exclusive. No remedy herein conferred upon or reserved 

to the City is intended to be exclusive of any other available remedy or remedies, but each 

and every remedy shall be cumulative and shall be in addition to every other remedy given 

under this Agreement or now or hereafter existing at law or in equity or by statute. No 

delay or omission to exercise any right or power accruing upon any default shall impair 

any such right or power or shall be construed to be a waiver thereof, but any such right and 

power may be exercised from time to time and as often as may be deemed expedient.   

 

Section 10.4.  No Implied Waiver. In the event any agreement contained in this 

Agreement should be breached by any party and thereafter waived by any other party, such 

waiver shall be limited to the particular breach so waived and shall not be deemed to waive 

any other concurrent, previous or subsequent breach hereunder. 

 

 Section 10.5.  Agreement to Pay Attorneys' Fees and Expenses.  Whenever any 

Event of Default occurs and the City shall employ attorneys or incur other expenses for the 

collection of payment due or to become due or for the enforcement or performance or 

observance of any obligation or agreement on the part of Developer herein contained, 

Developer agrees that it shall, on demand therefor, pay to the City the reasonable fees of 

such attorneys and such other expenses as may be reasonably and appropriately incurred 

by the City in connection therewith.  

 

50

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

25 

ARTICLE XI     RESERVED 

 

ARTICLE XII.  MISCELLANEOUS 

 

 Section 12.1.  Conflict of Interest. Developer represents and warrants that, to its best 

knowledge and belief after due inquiry, no officer or employee of the City, or their 

designees or agents, nor any consultant or member of the governing body of the City, and 

no other public official of the City who exercises or has exercised any functions or 

responsibilities with respect to the Project during his or her tenure, or who is in a position 

to participate in a decision-making process or gain insider information with regard to the 

Project, has had or shall have any interest, direct or indirect, in any contract or subcontract, 

or the proceeds thereof, for work or services to be performed in connection with the Project, 

or in any activity, or benefit therefrom, which is part of the Project at any time during or 

after such person's tenure. 

 

Section 12.2.  Notices and Demands. A notice, demand or other communication 

under this Agreement by any party to the other shall be sufficiently given or delivered if it 

is dispatched by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, or 

delivered personally, and 

 

a. In the case of Developer, is addressed or delivered personally to BALOS, 

LLC, 100 E 2nd Street Unit 402, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613; 

 

b. In the case of the City, is addressed to or delivered personally to the City at 

220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613, Attn: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director 

of Finance and Business Operations; 

 

or to such other designated individual or officer or to such other address as any party shall 

have furnished to the other in writing in accordance herewith. 

 

Section 12.3.  Titles of Articles and Sections. Any titles of the several parts, Articles, 

and Sections of this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only and shall be 

disregarded in construing or interpreting any of its provisions. 

 

Section 12.4.  Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

counterparts, each of which shall constitute one and the same instrument. 

 

Section 12.5.  Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed and construed in 

accordance with the laws of the State of Iowa. 

 

51

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

26 

Section 12.6.  Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the exhibits hereto reflect the 

entire agreement among the parties regarding the subject matter hereof, and supersedes and 

replaces all prior agreements, negotiations or discussions, whether oral or written. This 

Agreement may not be amended except by a subsequent writing signed by all parties 

hereto. 

 

Section 12.7  Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is intended to and shall inure 

to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto and their respective successors and 

assigns, and shall run with the title to the Development Property. 

 

Section 12.8.  Termination Date. This Agreement shall terminate and be of no 

further force or effect on and after December 31, 2032, unless terminated earlier under the 

provisions of this Agreement. 

 

Section 12.9.  Memorandum of Agreement. The parties agree to execute and record 

a Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development, in substantially the form attached 

as Exhibit D, to serve as notice to the public of the existence and provisions of this 

Agreement, and the rights and interests held by the City by virtue hereof.  

 

Section 12.10.  No Third-Party Beneficiaries. No rights or privileges of either party 

hereto shall inure to the benefit of any landowner, contractor, subcontractor, material 

supplier, or any other person or entity, and no such contractor, landowner, subcontractor, 

material supplier, or any other person or entity shall be deemed to be a third-party 

beneficiary of any of the provisions contained in this Agreement. 

 

Section 12.11.  No Partnership or Joint Venture.  The relationship herein created 

between the parties is contractual in nature and is in no way to be construed as creating a 

partnership or joint venture between the Developer and the City. 

 

Section 12.12. Number and Gender of Words.  Whenever herein the singular 

number is used, the same shall include the plural where appropriate, and words of any 

gender shall include each other where appropriate.   

 

           Section 12.13. Invalid Provisions.  If any provision of this Agreement or any 

agreement contemplated hereby is held to be illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable under 

present or future laws effective during the term of such agreement; then: (i) such provision 

shall be fully severable; (ii) such agreement shall be construed and enforced as if such 

illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision had never comprised a part of such 

agreement; and (iii) the remaining provisions of such agreement shall remain in full force 

and effect and shall not be affected by the illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision 

or by its severance from such agreement.  Furthermore, in lieu of such illegal, void, invalid, 

52

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

27 

or unenforceable provision there shall be added automatically as a part of such agreement 

a provision as similar in terms to such illegal, void, invalid, or unenforceable provision as 

may be legal, valid, and enforceable, whether or not such a substitute provision is 

specifically provided for in such agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event 

any provision involving material consideration by the City for the benefit of the Developer 

shall be held illegal, void, invalid or unenforceable, then the Developer shall have the right 

to cancel this Agreement, and upon such cancellation, this Agreement, in its entirety, shall 

be rendered null and void; however, in that event, Developer shall proceed as described in 

Section 10.2(d) of this Agreement. 

 

             Section 12.14. Multiple Counterparts.  This Agreement has been executed in a 

number of identical counterparts, each of which is to be deemed an original for all purposes 

and all of which constitute collectively one agreement, but in making proof of this 

Agreement it shall not be necessary to produce or account for more than one such 

counterpart. 

 

     Section 12.15. Authorization.  Each party hereto represents that prior to its 

execution hereof all necessary company, governmental or other appropriate action, as 

applicable, including without limitation resolutions of their governing boards or bodies, 

has been taken to authorize the execution of this Agreement and the performance by such 

party of its respective obligations hereunder. 

 

     Section 12.16. Time of the Essence.  Time is of the essence with respect to all 

matters described in this Agreement and related documents.  

 

     Section 12.17. Survival.  Each provision of this Agreement shall survive the 

occurrence of the other provisions of this Agreement to the extent necessary to ensure full 

performance of said surviving provision. 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City has caused this Agreement to be duly executed 

in its name and behalf by its Mayor and its seal to be hereunto duly affixed and attested by 

its City Clerk, Developer has caused this Agreement to be duly executed in its name and 

behalf by its authorized representatives, all on or as of the day first above written. 

 

 

[Signatures start on the next page]  

53

Item 4.



 

 

Execution Version 

 

 

28 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

           Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: ____________________________________ 

      Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this _____ day of _________________, 2024, before me a Notary Public in and 

for said State, personally appeared Daniel Laudick and Kim Kerr, to me personally known, 

who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under the laws of the State 

of Iowa, and that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said 

Municipality, and that said instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipality 

by authority and resolution of its City Council, and said Mayor and City Clerk 

acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and deed of said Municipality by it 

voluntarily executed. 

 

 
  ______________________________________ 

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

54

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

29 

 

DEVELOPER: 

 

BALOS, LLC 

 

 

By: _________________________________ 

 Jamie Fettkether, Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 2024, before me the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said State, personally appeared Jamie Fettkether, to me personally known, who, 

being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Authorized Representative of BALOS, LLC, and 

that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; and that the said Jamie 

Fettkether as such officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act 

and deed of said limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

  ______________________________________ 

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

55

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

30 

EXHIBIT A 

 

DEVELOPMENT PROPERTY 

 

 

The Development Property is legally described as follows: 

 

Original Plat Cedar Falls East 30 feet North 32 feet Lot 8 Block 5, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 109 E 2nd Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

Parcel # 8914-12-252-002 (Black Hawk County) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

56

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

31 

EXHIBIT B 

 

MINIMUM IMPROVEMENTS 

 

Minimum Improvements shall mean the rehabilitation of approximately 915 (main base) 

square feet of commercial/office space on the first floor of the building, and approximately 915 

square feet of residential space on the second floor of the building. This will allow for increased 

commercial business and the creation and retention of jobs and housing. The construction of the 

Minimum Improvements is expected to be completed in 2025. Construction costs are expected to 

be approximately $400,000.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

57

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

32 

EXHIBIT C 

 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLETION 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City") and BALOS, LLC, an Iowa Limited 

Liability Company, ("Developer"), did on or about the _____ day of ____________________, 

2024, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for Private Development (the 

"Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of the 

Agreement, to develop and maintain certain real property located within the City and as more 

particularly described as follows: 

 

Original Plat Cedar Falls East 30 feet North 32 feet Lot 8 Block 5, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 109 E 2nd Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the Agreement incorporated and contained certain covenants and restrictions 

with respect to the development of the Development Property, and obligated the Developer to 

construct certain Minimum Improvements (as defined therein) in accordance with the Agreement; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, Developer has to the present date performed said covenants and conditions 

insofar as they relate to the construction of said Minimum Improvements in a manner deemed by 

the City to be in conformance with the Agreement to permit the execution and recording of this 

certification. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, this is to certify that all covenants and conditions of the Agreement 

with respect to the obligations of Developer and its successors and assigns, to construct the 

Minimum Improvements on the Development Property have been completed and performed by 

Developer and are hereby released absolutely and forever terminated insofar as they apply to the 

land described herein. The County Recorder of Black Hawk County is hereby authorized to accept 

for recording and to record the filing of this instrument, to be a conclusive determination of the 

satisfactory termination of the covenants and conditions of said Agreement with respect to the 

construction of the Minimum Improvements on the Development Property. 

 

All other provisions of the Agreement shall otherwise remain in full force and effect until 

termination as provided therein. 

 

58

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

33 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

By: _________________________________________ 

      Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk  

 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this ________ day of ________________________, 2024, before me a Notary Public 

in and for said State, personally appeared Daniel Laudick and Kim Kerr, to me personally known, 

who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, and 

that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said Municipality, and that said 

instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipality by authority and resolution of its 

City Council, and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and 

deed of said Municipality by it voluntarily executed. 

 

       

      __________________________________  

      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa

59

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

34 

EXHIBIT D 

 

 MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE DEVELOPMENT 

 

WHEREAS, the City of  Cedar Falls, Iowa (the "City"), and BALOS, LLC, an Iowa 

Limited Liability Company, ("Developer"), did on or about the _____ day of _______________, 

2024, make, execute and deliver, each to the other, an Agreement for Private Development (the 

"Agreement"), wherein and whereby Developer agreed, in accordance with the terms of the 

Agreement and the Downtown Development Area Urban Renewal Plan (the "Plan"), to develop 

certain real property located within the City and within the Downtown Development Urban 

Renewal Plan/Area. 

 

The Development Property is described as follows: 

 

Original Plat Cedar Falls East 30 feet North 32 feet Lot 8 Block 5, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

Locally known as 109 E 2nd Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

Parcel # 8914-12-252-002 (Black Hawk County) 

 

(the "Development Property"); and 

 

WHEREAS, the term of the Agreement commenced on the ____ day of 

________________, 2024 and terminates on December 31, 2032, unless otherwise terminated as 

set forth in the Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City and Developer desire to record a Memorandum of the Agreement 

referring to the Development Property and their respective interests therein.   

 

NOW, THEREFORE, IT IS AGREED AS FOLLOWS: 

1. That the recording of this Memorandum of Agreement for Private Development 

shall serve as notice to the public that the Agreement contains provisions restricting development 

and use of the Development Property and the improvements located and operated on such 

Development Property. 

 

2. That all of the provisions of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, 

if any, even though not set forth herein, are by the filing of this Memorandum of Agreement for 

Private Development made a part hereof by reference, and that anyone making any claim against 

any of said Development Property in any manner whatsoever shall be fully advised as to all of the 

60

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

35 

terms and conditions of the Agreement, and any amendments thereto, as if the same were fully set 

forth herein.   

 

3. That a copy of the Agreement and any subsequent amendments thereto, if any, shall 

be maintained on file for public inspection during ordinary business hours in the office of the City 

Clerk, Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City and Developer have executed this Memorandum of 

Agreement for Private Development on the ______ day of ___________________, 2024. 

 

 

(SEAL)     CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: ________________________________ 

                                                                       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

By: _____________________________________ 

       Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA          ) 

                         )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

 On this ________ day of ________________________, 2024, before me a Notary Public 

in and for said State, personally appeared Daniel Laudick and Kim Kerr, to me personally known, 

who being duly sworn, did say that they are the Mayor and City Clerk, respectively, of the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa, a Municipality created and existing under the laws of the State of Iowa, and 

that the seal affixed to the foregoing instrument is the seal of said Municipality, and that said 

instrument was signed and sealed on behalf of said Municipality by authority and resolution of its 

City Council, and said Mayor and City Clerk acknowledged said instrument to be the free act and 

deed of said Municipality by it voluntarily executed. 

       

 

      ___________________________________  

      Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

61

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

36 

DEVELOPER: 

 

BALOS, LLC 

 

 

By:   __________________________________ 

Jamie Fettkether, Authorized Representative 

 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA   ) 

                      )  SS  

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK ) 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 2024, before me the undersigned, a Notary 

Public in and for said State, personally appeared Jamie Fettkether, to me personally known, who, 

being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Authorized Representative of BALOS, LLC, and 

that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; and that the said Jamie 

Fettkether as such officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act 

and deed of said limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

 

 

  ______________________________________ 

  Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa  

62

Item 4.



 

Execution Version 

 

37 

EXHIBIT E 

DEVELOPER ANNUAL CERTIFICATION  

 (due before October 15st as required under terms of Development Agreement) 

The Developer certifies the following:  

A. During the time period covered by this Certification, the Developer is and was in compliance with Section 

6.7 as follows: 

(i) all ad valorem taxes on the Development Property then owned by the Developer in the Urban 

Renewal Area have been paid for the prior fiscal year (and for the current year, if due) and attached to this Annual 

Certification are proof of payment of said taxes; 

 

(ii) The Minimum Improvements (building only) were first fully assessed on January 1, 20___, at a full 

assessment value of $______________; 

 

(iii) The number of Full-Time Equivalent Employment Units employed at the Minimum Improvements 

as of October 1, 20___ and as of the first day of each of the preceding eleven (11) months were are follows: 

October 1, 20__: ______   April 1, 20__:_________ 

September 1, 20__:_________  March 1, 20__:_________ 

August 1, 20__:_________      February 1, 20___:________ 

July 1, 20__:_________   January 1, 20__:_______ 

June 1, 20__:_________   December 1, 20__:_______ 

May1, 20__: __________   November 1, 20__:_______ 

 

(iv) the undersigned officers of Developer have re-examined the terms and provisions of this Agreement 

and that at the date of such certificate, and during the preceding twelve (12) months, certify that the Developer is not, 

or was not, in default in the fulfillment of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement and that no Event of 

Default (or event which, with the lapse of time or the giving of notice, or both, would become an Event of Default) is 

occurring or has occurred as of the date of such certificate or during such period, or if the signer is aware of any such 

default, event or Event of Default, said officer shall disclose in such statement the nature thereof, its period of existence 

and what action, if any, has been taken or is proposed to be taken with respect thereto. 

Signed this _________ day of _____________________, 20___. 

 

BALOS, LLC, 

By: ______________________________ 

  Jamie Fettkether  

ATTEST: 

By:   _____________________________ 

 

 

STATE OF IOWA, COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK, ss: 

 

On this _______ day of ________________, 20__, before me the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for said State, 

personally appeared Jamie Fettkether, to me personally known, who, being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Authorized 

Representative of BALOS, LLC, and that said instrument was signed on behalf of said limited liability company; and that the 

said Jamie Fettkether here as such officer, acknowledged the execution of said instrument to be the voluntary act and deed of 

said limited liability company, by him voluntarily executed. 

   

    _____________________________________ 

        Notary Public in and for the State of Iowa 

 

Attachments: (a) Proof of payment of taxes        

63

Item 4.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA (319) 268-5160 

 

RESOLUTION NO. ______ 

 

RESOLUTION APPROVING AND AUTHORIZING 

EXECUTION OF AN AGREEMENT FOR PRIVATE 

DEVELOPMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF CEDAR 

FALLS AND BALOS, LLC 

 

 WHEREAS, by Resolution No. 7418, adopted November 24, 1986, and amended 

by Amendment No. 1, approved by Resolution No. 12,795 on May 14, 2001, by 

Amendment No. 2, approved by Resolution No. 18,165 on July 16, 2012, by Amendment 

No. 3, approved by Resolution No. 18,837 on November 11, 2013, by Amendment No. 4, 

approved by Resolution 20,864 on December 18, 2017, by Amendment No. 5, approved 

by Resolution 21,367 on December 17, 2018, and by Amendment No. 6, approved by 

Resolution 22,204 on December 21, 2020, this Council found and determined that certain 

areas located within the City are eligible and should be designated as an urban renewal 

area under Iowa law, and approved and adopted the Downtown Development Area Urban 

Renewal Plan ("Plan" or “Urban Renewal Plan”) for the Downtown Development Area 

Urban Renewal Area (“Area” or "Urban Renewal Area") described therein, which Plan, 

as amended, is on file in the office of the Recorder of Black Hawk County; and 

 

 WHEREAS, it is desirable that properties within the Area be redeveloped as part 

of the overall redevelopment area covered by said Plan; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City has received a proposal from BALOS, LLC (the 

"Developer"), in the form of a proposed Agreement for Private Development (the 

"Agreement") by and between the City and the Developer, pursuant to which, among 

other things, the Developer would agree to construct certain Minimum Improvements (as 

defined in the Agreement) on certain real property located within the Downtown 

Development Area Urban Renewal Area as defined and legally described in the 

Agreement and consisting of the rehabilitation of approximately 1,830 square feet of 

commercial and residential space, together with all related site improvements, as outlined 

in the proposed Agreement; and   

64

Item 4.



 

WHEREAS, the Agreement further proposes that the City will make up to five (5) 

consecutive annual payments of Economic Development Grants to Developer in the form 

of a percentage of Tax Increments generated from the construction of the Minimum 

Improvements, the cumulative total for all such payments not to exceed the lesser of 

$47,050, or the amount accrued under the formula outlined in the proposed Agreement 

for Private Development, under the terms and following satisfaction of the conditions set 

forth in the Agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, Iowa Code Chapters 15A and 403 (the "Urban Renewal Law") 

authorize cities to make grants for economic development and blight remediation in 

furtherance of the objectives of an urban renewal project and to appropriate such funds 

and make such expenditures as may be necessary to carry out the purposes of said 

Chapters, and to levy taxes and assessments for such purposes; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Council has determined that the Agreement is in the best interests 

of the City and the residents thereof and that the performance by the City of its 

obligations thereunder is a public undertaking and purpose and in furtherance of the Plan 

and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and the City's performance 

thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development and blight remediation 

activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of Chapters 15A and 403 of the 

Iowa Code taking into account any or all of the factors set forth in Chapter 15A, to wit: 

 

a. Businesses that add diversity to or generate new opportunities for the Iowa 

economy should be favored over those that do not. 

 

b. Development policies in the dispensing of the funds should attract, retain, 

or expand businesses that produce exports or import substitutes or which 

generate tourism-related activities. 

 

c. Development policies in the dispensing or use of the funds should be 

targeted toward businesses that generate public gains and benefits, which 

gains and benefits are warranted in comparison to the amount of the funds 

dispensed. 

 

d. Development policies in dispensing the funds should not be used to attract a 

business presently located within the state to relocate to another portion of 

the state unless the business is considering in good faith to relocate outside 

the state or unless the relocation is related to an expansion which will 

generate significant new job creation.  Jobs created as a result of other jobs 

in similar Iowa businesses being displaced shall not be considered direct 

jobs for the purpose of dispensing funds; and 

 

65

Item 4.



 WHEREAS, pursuant to notice published as required by law, this Council has held 

a public meeting and hearing upon the proposal to approve and authorize execution of the 

Agreement and has considered the extent of objections received from residents or 

property owners as to said proposed Agreement; and, accordingly the following action is 

now considered to be in the best interests of the City and residents thereof. 

 

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS IN THE STATE OF IOWA: 

 

Section 1.  That the performance by the City of its obligations under the 

Agreement, including but not limited to making of grants to the Developer in connection 

with the development of the Development Property under the terms set forth in the 

Agreement, be and is hereby declared to be a public undertaking and purpose and in 

furtherance of the Plan and the Urban Renewal Law and, further, that the Agreement and 

the City's performance thereunder is in furtherance of appropriate economic development 

and blight remediation activities and objectives of the City within the meaning of 

Chapters 15A and 403 of the Iowa Code, taking into account the factors set forth therein. 

 

Section 2.  That the form and content of the Agreement, the provisions of which 

are incorporated herein by reference, be and the same hereby are in all respects 

authorized, approved and confirmed, and the Mayor and the City Clerk be and they 

hereby are authorized, empowered and directed to execute, attest, seal and deliver the 

Agreement for and on behalf of the City in substantially the form and content now before 

this meeting, but with such changes, modifications, additions or deletions therein as shall 

be approved by such officers, and that from and after the execution and delivery of the 

Agreement, the Mayor and the City Clerk are hereby authorized, empowered and directed 

to do all such acts and things and to execute all such documents as may be necessary to 

carry out and comply with the provisions of the Agreement as executed. 

 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 19th day of August, 2024.  

 

 

       _______________________________ 

       Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

  

66

Item 4.



CERTIFICATE 

 

STATE OF IOWA 

 

COUNTY OF BLACK HAWK 

) 

) SS 

) 

 
  

I, Kim Kerr, City Clerk of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, hereby certify that the above and 

foregoing is a true and correct typewritten copy of Resolution No. _______________ duly and 

legally adopted by the City Council of said City on the _____ day of ____________________, 

2024. 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto signed my name and affixed the official seal of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa this _____ day of ____________________, 2024. 

   

  

Kim Kerr 

City Clerk of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 

  

67

Item 4.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: July 29, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Amendments to Code of Ordinances 
 
 

Attached please find the latest group of ordinance amendments.  Briefly, these amendments 

would accomplish the following: 

 

Sec. 2-47; 2-186:  Makes any increase in compensation for the offices of Mayor, Council 

member consistent with one another.  Rather than using the change in the CPI-U from the 

previous year in a particular month, the formula would be the average change over the entire 

previous 12 months preceding the effective date of the change.  This is thought to be a more 

accurate measure of such change and eliminates any peculiarities to a particular month.  This 

would be consistent with the formula used in the City’s collective bargaining agreement with the 

Teamsters (Public Works). 

 

Also, for the office of Mayor it updates the base salary to reflect what it actually is as of January 

1, 2024. 

 

Sec. 2-220; 2-256:  A change in the law effective July 1, 2024, explicitly allows an insurance 

policy to be procured in lieu of City officers posting bonds.  The ordinance change would allow 

this.  This reflects current City practice. 

 

Sec. 16-15:  Would end the regulation of carrying and transportation of air guns, pellet rifles, etc. 

in the City to conform to State law.  The discharge of such weapons is still prohibited. 

        

Staff recommends approval of these changes.  Please feel free to contact me if you have any 

questions.   

 

Thank you.  

68

Item 5.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS, OF DIVISION 1, 

GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, CITY COUNCIL, TO CLARIFY CALCULATION OF SALARY 

ADJUSTMENTS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 2-186, SALARY, 

OF DIVISION 2, MAYOR, OF ARTICLE III, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES, TO MODIFY THE 

SALARY ADJUSTMENT OF THE MAYOR; ALL OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF 

THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, . 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 2-47, Salary of Members, of Division 1, Generally, of Article II, City 

Council, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-47, Salary of Members, is enacted 

in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-47. Salary of members. 

Each councilmember of the city shall receive an annual salary of $8,500.00 as of January 1, 2024, and 
beginning January 1, 2025, an annual salary adjustment shall be awarded equal to the average of the federal 
consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the most recent twelve months of October that precedes issued prior to the 
effective date of the annual salary adjustment. Said salary shall be payable in such manner as the council shall by 
motion direct.  

(Code 2017, § 2-43; Ord. No. 2085, § 1, 2-13-1995; Ord. No. 2250, § 1, 1-11-1999; Ord. No. 3037, 8-21-2023) 

 

                 Section 2. Section 2-186, Salary, of Division 2, Mayor, of Article III, Officers and 

Employees, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-186, Salary, is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-186. Salary. 

The full time mayor of the city shall receive an annual salary of $112,158.00 as of January 1, 2024,61,817.60 
and beginningafter January 1, 202500, an annual salary adjustment shall be awarded equal to the average of 
thelatest calendar year annual federal consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the most recent twelve months issued 
prior to the effective date of the annual salary adjustmentawarded at the start of each fiscal year. In addition, the 
mayor shall also receive the same insurance benefits provided to all appointed officers of the city.  

(Code 2017, § 2-154; Ord. No. 1957, § 1, 10-28-1991; Ord. No. 2047, § 1, 2-28-1994; Ord. No. 2250, § 2, 1-11-1999) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

69

Item 5.



ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                                                   

             

                                                                               ___________________________ 

                                                                                         Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

70

Item 5.



ORDINANCE NO. 3075 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 2-47, SALARY OF MEMBERS, OF 

DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE II, CITY COUNCIL, TO CLARIFY 

CALCULATION OF SALARY ADJUSTMENTS OF COUNCIL MEMBERS; AND 2) 

AMENDING SECTION 2-186, SALARY, OF DIVISION 2, MAYOR, OF ARTICLE III, 

OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES, TO MODIFY THE SALARY ADJUSTMENT OF THE 

MAYOR; ALL OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, . 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 2-47, Salary of Members, of Division 1, Generally, of Article II, City 

Council, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-47, Salary of Members, is enacted 

in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-47. Salary of members. 

Each councilmember of the city shall receive an annual salary of $8,500.00 as of January 
1, 2024, and beginning January 1, 2025, an annual salary adjustment shall be awarded equal to 
the average of the federal consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the most recent twelve months 
issued prior to the effective date of the annual salary adjustment. Said salary shall be payable in 
such manner as the council shall by motion direct.  

(Code 2017, § 2-43; Ord. No. 2085, § 1, 2-13-1995; Ord. No. 2250, § 1, 1-11-1999; Ord. No. 
3037, 8-21-2023) 

 

                 Section 2. Section 2-186, Salary, of Division 2, Mayor, of Article III, Officers and 

Employees, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-186, Salary, is enacted in lieu 

thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-186. Salary. 

The full time mayor of the city shall receive an annual salary of $112,158.00 as of January 
1, 2024, and beginning January 1, 2025, an annual salary adjustment shall be awarded equal to 
the average of the federal consumer price index rate (CPI-U) for the most recent twelve months 
issued prior to the effective date of the annual salary adjustment. In addition, the mayor shall 
also receive the same insurance benefits provided to all appointed officers of the city.  

(Code 2017, § 2-154; Ord. No. 1957, § 1, 10-28-1991; Ord. No. 2047, § 1, 2-28-1994; Ord. No. 
2250, § 2, 1-11-1999) 

 

 

 

71

Item 5.



INTRODUCED:     August 5, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   August 5, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

                                                                                   

                        

                                                                                   Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 
      
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

72

Item 5.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 2-220, OATH; BOND, OF DIVISION 3, CITY 

ADMINISTRATOR, TO INCLUDE AN INSURANCE OPTION IN LIEU OF BOND FOR CITY 

ADMINISTRATOR; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 2-256, POWERS AND DUTIES; BOND, 

OF DIVISION 4, CITY INVESTMENTS, TO INCLUDE AN INSURANCE OPTION IN LIEU OF 

BOND FOR CERTAIN CITY OFFICERS, ALL OF ARTICLE III, OFFICERS AND 

EMPLOYEES, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, . 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 2-220, Oath; Bond, of Division 3, City Administrator, of Article III, 

Officers and Employees, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-220, Oath; Bond, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-220. Oath; bond. 

The city administrator shall, prior to entering the duties of the office, take the oath or affirmation, and shall 
furnish a surety bond to be approved by the council, said bond to be conditioned on the faithful performance of all 
the administrator's duties. An insurance policy providing coverage as required by state law may be obtained in lieu 
of a bond.  The premium of the bond or insurance policy shall be paid by the city.  

(Ord. No. 2988, § 3, 5-3-2021) 

                 Section 2. Section 2-256, Powers and Duties; Bond, of Division 4, City Investments, of 

Article III, Officers and Employees, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-256, Powers 

and Duties; Bond, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-256. Powers and duties; bond. 

Investment and depository functions shall be performed in conformance with the laws of the state. Before 
entering into the duties, in addition to the oath or affirmation, each officer shall execute a bond in the form and 
conditions prescribed by state law and by ordinance of the council. An insurance policy providing coverage as 
required by state law may be obtained in lieu of a bond.  Such bond or insurance policy shall be filed with the 
director of finance and business operations. Upon execution of the bond or binding of insurance coverage, the 
investment and depository duties shall be assigned as follows:  

(1) The controller/city treasurer shall collect, receive and safely keep all money due and belonging to the 
city, and for any sum of money so received shall execute duplicate receipts, one of which shall be 
delivered to the person from whom such sum may be received, and the other kept by the finance 
division. The controller/city treasurer shall keep true and correct accounts with each fund established 
by the council, of all receipts into and disbursements from the treasury.  

(2) The controller/city treasurer shall, with the approval of the council as to the place and amount of 
deposit, by resolution entered on record, deposit all city funds, in any bank in the city to which the 
funds belong.  

(3) The controller/city treasurer shall draw from the county treasurer all funds belonging to the city.  

73

Item 6.



(4) The controller/city treasurer shall make reports to the council monthly, or more often if required, 
giving a full and detailed statement under oath of all the receipts and expenditures during the 
preceding month. Annually the controller/city treasurer shall make a report of the entire year's 
proceedings, including the state of the treasury.  

(5) The controller/city treasurer shall keep a full and complete record of all outstanding bonds, and their 
numbers, denominations, dates, rates of interest and maturity, and report the record to the mayor and 
council annually.  

(6) The controller/city treasurer shall keep a record of the indebtedness of the city, showing the liens, 
assessments and judgments outstanding against the city, and report the record to the council annually. 
At the request of the council or mayor, the controller/city treasurer shall communicate to the council 
any notice of pending assessments, judgments or claims of which the controller/city treasurer is 
advised.  

(7) The controller/city treasurer shall keep a computerized register with a description of all checks written.  

(8) The controller/city treasurer shall pay money from the treasury only on checks drawn on him by, and 
signed by, the controller/city treasurer, countersigned by the mayor and director of finance and 
business operations and sealed with the city seal.  

(9) At the expiration of the controller/city treasurer's term of office, he shall deliver all official papers, 
books, monies and property belonging to the city to his successors.  

(10) The information services manager shall be responsible for the electronic communications with the 
banking system on a daily basis and internal computer security of access to investment data.  

(11) When there is an accumulation in the treasury and there are no outstanding checks, the controller/city 
treasurer shall invest the funds in compliance with the city's investment policy.  

(12) The controller/city treasurer shall safely keep all invested funds.  

(13) When the controller/city treasurer determines that there are not or will not be sufficient funds on 
hand to pay legal obligations of a fund, the controller/city treasurer may request to the city council a 
short term loan payable to a bank or other business entity authorized by law to loan money in an 
amount legally available and believed to be sufficient to cover the anticipated deficiency.  

(Code 2017, § 2-192; Ord. No. 2728, § 2, 2-14-2011) 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                     

                                                                               ___________________________ 

                                                                                        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

74

Item 6.



ORDINANCE NO. 3076 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING SECTION 2-220, OATH; BOND, OF DIVISION 3, 

CITY ADMINISTRATOR, TO INCLUDE AN INSURANCE OPTION IN LIEU OF BOND 

FOR CITY ADMINISTRATOR; AND 2) AMENDING SECTION 2-256, POWERS AND 

DUTIES; BOND, OF DIVISION 4, CITY INVESTMENTS, TO INCLUDE AN 

INSURANCE OPTION IN LIEU OF BOND FOR CERTAIN CITY OFFICERS, ALL OF 

ARTICLE III, OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, 

OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, . 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

               Section 1.  Section 2-220, Oath; Bond, of Division 3, City Administrator, of Article III, 

Officers and Employees, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of 

Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-220, Oath; Bond, is 

enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-220. Oath; bond. 

The city administrator shall, prior to entering the duties of the office, take the oath or 
affirmation, and shall furnish a surety bond to be approved by the council, said bond to be 
conditioned on the faithful performance of all the administrator's duties. An insurance policy 
providing coverage as required by state law may be obtained in lieu of a bond.  The premium of 
the bond or insurance policy shall be paid by the city.  

(Ord. No. 2988, § 3, 5-3-2021) 

                 Section 2. Section 2-256, Powers and Duties; Bond, of Division 4, City Investments, 

of Article III, Officers and Employees, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 2-256, Powers 

and Duties; Bond, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-256. Powers and duties; bond. 

Investment and depository functions shall be performed in conformance with the laws of 
the state. Before entering into the duties, in addition to the oath or affirmation, each officer shall 
execute a bond in the form and conditions prescribed by state law and by ordinance of the 
council. An insurance policy providing coverage as required by state law may be obtained in lieu 
of a bond.  Such bond or insurance policy shall be filed with the director of finance and business 
operations. Upon execution of the bond or binding of insurance coverage, the investment and 
depository duties shall be assigned as follows:  

(1) The controller/city treasurer shall collect, receive and safely keep all money due and 
belonging to the city, and for any sum of money so received shall execute duplicate 
receipts, one of which shall be delivered to the person from whom such sum may be 
received, and the other kept by the finance division. The controller/city treasurer shall 
keep true and correct accounts with each fund established by the council, of all 
receipts into and disbursements from the treasury.  

75

Item 6.



(2) The controller/city treasurer shall, with the approval of the council as to the place and 
amount of deposit, by resolution entered on record, deposit all city funds, in any bank 
in the city to which the funds belong.  

(3) The controller/city treasurer shall draw from the county treasurer all funds belonging to 
the city.  

(4) The controller/city treasurer shall make reports to the council monthly, or more often if 
required, giving a full and detailed statement under oath of all the receipts and 
expenditures during the preceding month. Annually the controller/city treasurer shall 
make a report of the entire year's proceedings, including the state of the treasury.  

(5) The controller/city treasurer shall keep a full and complete record of all outstanding 
bonds, and their numbers, denominations, dates, rates of interest and maturity, and 
report the record to the mayor and council annually.  

(6) The controller/city treasurer shall keep a record of the indebtedness of the city, 
showing the liens, assessments and judgments outstanding against the city, and 
report the record to the council annually. At the request of the council or mayor, the 
controller/city treasurer shall communicate to the council any notice of pending 
assessments, judgments or claims of which the controller/city treasurer is advised.  

(7) The controller/city treasurer shall keep a computerized register with a description of all 
checks written.  

(8) The controller/city treasurer shall pay money from the treasury only on checks drawn 
on him by, and signed by, the controller/city treasurer, countersigned by the mayor 
and director of finance and business operations and sealed with the city seal.  

(9) At the expiration of the controller/city treasurer's term of office, he shall deliver all 
official papers, books, monies and property belonging to the city to his successors.  

(10) The information services manager shall be responsible for the electronic 
communications with the banking system on a daily basis and internal computer 
security of access to investment data.  

(11) When there is an accumulation in the treasury and there are no outstanding checks, 
the controller/city treasurer shall invest the funds in compliance with the city's 
investment policy.  

(12) The controller/city treasurer shall safely keep all invested funds.  

(13) When the controller/city treasurer determines that there are not or will not be sufficient 
funds on hand to pay legal obligations of a fund, the controller/city treasurer may 
request to the city council a short term loan payable to a bank or other business entity 
authorized by law to loan money in an amount legally available and believed to be 
sufficient to cover the anticipated deficiency.  

(Code 2017, § 2-192; Ord. No. 2728, § 2, 2-14-2011) 

 

 

 

 

76

Item 6.



INTRODUCED:     August 5, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   August 5, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

                                                     

 

                                                                             

Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

      
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

77

Item 6.



 

ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (d) OF SECTION 16-15, 

DISCHARGE OF WEAPONS, OF ARTICLE 1, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 16, OFFENSES 

AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO ELIMINATE REGULATION OF CARRYING AND 

TRANSPORTING CERTAIN WEAPONS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                Untitled Subsection (d) of Section 16-15, Discharge of Weapons, of Article 1, In 

General, of Chapter 16, Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new untitled Subsection (d) 

of Section 16-15, Discharge of Weapons, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 16-15. Discharge of weapons. 

                               [unchanged provisions omitted] 

(d) No person shall discharge or carry on or about his person or in a vehicle any air rifles, pellet guns or similar 
devices capable of discharging any leaden or other dangerous missile or substance within the city, except 
peace officers in the line of duty. However, it shall be lawful to carry one or more unloaded air rifles, pellet 
guns or similar devices if the unloaded weapon is carried in a gun case or closed container which is too large 
to be effectively concealed on the person or within the clothing of an individual.  

                               [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

                                                                                               

                                                                               ___________________________ 

                                                                                         Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

78

Item 7.



ORDINANCE NO. 3077 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (d) OF SECTION 16-15, 

DISCHARGE OF WEAPONS, OF ARTICLE 1, IN GENERAL, OF CHAPTER 16, 

OFFENSES AND MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, TO ELIMINATE 

REGULATION OF CARRYING AND TRANSPORTING CERTAIN WEAPONS. 

                 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

                Untitled Subsection (d) of Section 16-15, Discharge of Weapons, of Article 1, In 

General, of Chapter 16, Offenses and Miscellaneous Provisions, of the Code of Ordinances of 

the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new untitled Subsection (d) 

of Section 16-15, Discharge of Weapons, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 16-15. Discharge of weapons. 

                               [unchanged provisions omitted] 

(d) No person shall discharge any air rifles, pellet guns or similar devices capable of 
discharging any leaden or other dangerous missile or substance within the city, except 
peace officers in the line of duty. 

                               [unchanged provisions omitted] 

 

INTRODUCED:     August 5, 2024    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   August 5, 2024    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

                                                                                               

                                                                                     

                                                                               Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

      
Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

79

Item 7.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
  
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 5, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Storm Water Ordinance 
  Chapter 24, Utilities 
  Article VI, Post-Construction Stormwater Control 
  Section(s) 24-336, 24-337, 24-339 
   
 
On April 10th, 2024, Governor Kim Renyolds approved Senate File 455 regarding 
regulations of topsoil and stormwater at construction sites that recently went into effect 
with Iowa Code statewide on July 1st, 2024. Attached is a copy of the signed Senate File 
455 for your review. As a result, the City’s Code of Ordinances will need to be updated 
to match the Iowa Code’s intent. 
 
The City’s current post-construction stormwater management practice requires 
developments to install detention basins that store the 100 year post-construction 
rainfall event, release at the 2 year rainfall event as if it were in its natural undeveloped 
state, and provide water quality by storing the first 1.25” of rain while releasing it over 24 
to 48 hours. The new requirements will change the release rate to a 5 year rainfall event 
based on how the site exists at time of construction. The existing post-construction 
stormwater management code was last updated in 2010.  
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department is proposing that the 
associated changes in Chapter 24, Utilities, Article VI, Post-Construction Stormwater 
Control, in Sections 24-336, 24-337, and 24-339 of the Code of Ordinances be modified 
to match the Iowa Code. Please see attached for this proposed redlines and updates. 
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask. 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  

80

Item 8.



ORDINANCE NO. ___________ 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (b)(1) OF SECTION 24-336, 

APPLICABILITY, TO CLARIFY USE OF THE TERM “LAND DISTURBING ACTIVITY”; AND 2) 

AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (b) OF SECTION 24-337, DEFINITIONS, TO ADD A 

NEW DEFINITION OF “LAND DISTURBING ACTIVITY”; AND 3) AMENDING SECTION 24-

339, REQUIREMENTS FOR APPROVAL OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN, TO 

CONFORM STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS TO STATE LAW, ALL OF 

ARTICLE VI, POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER CONTROL, OF CHAPTER 24, 

UTILITIES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA.. 

                  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                  Section 1.  Untitled Subsection (b)(1) of Section 24-336, Applicability, of Article VI, Post-

Construction Stormwater Control, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Untitled Subsection (b)(1) of Section 24-336, 

Applicability, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 24-336. Applicability. 

                                                             [unchanged provisions omitted] 

(b) When a development plan is submitted to the city that qualifies as a development or redevelopment, the 
procedures and requirements of section 24-338 shall be followed. Final authorization of all development and 
redevelopment projects shall be determined after a review by the city. Plans that must comply with section 
24-338 are:  

(1) Land disturbing activity as defined in section 24-337 exceeding 43,560 square feet (one (1) acre) in area 
on land previously vacant of buildings or largely free of previous land disturbing activity other than 
traditional agricultural activities;  

                                                       

                                                     [unchanged provisions omitted] 

                   Section 2.  Untitled Subsection (b), of Section 24-337, Definitions, of Article VI, Post-

Construction Stormwater Control, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by adding a new unnumbered Subparagraph entitled Land Disturbing 

Activity, as follows: 

Sec. 24-337. Definitions. 

                                                                   [unchanged provisions omitted]  

(b) The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them 
in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Building means any structure, either temporary or permanent, having walls and a roof, designed for the 
shelter of any person, animal, or property, and occupying more than 100 square feet of area.  

Best management practices (BMPs) are policies, practices, procedures, or structures implemented to 
mitigate the adverse environmental effects on surface water quality resulting from development. BMPs are 
categorized as structural or non-structural.  

81

Item 8.



City engineer includes any other representative of the city engineer's office that is designated by the city 
engineer to act in the place and with the authority of the city engineer. The city engineer is also referred to in this 
article as the "enforcement officer." The city engineer shall have responsibility for administration and enforcement 
of this article.  

City stormwater requirements are set forth in section 24-339(c)(2) and are based upon the Iowa Stormwater 
Management Manual.  

Dedication means the deliberate appropriation of property by its owner for general public use.  

Developer means a person who undertakes land disturbing activities.  

Drainage easement means a legal right granted by a landowner to a grantee allowing the use of private land 
for stormwater management purposes.  

Iowa Stormwater Management Manual means the manual collaboratively developed by the Iowa 
Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) and the Center for Transportation Research and Education (CTRE) at Iowa 
State University that contains the sizing criteria, design and specification guidelines and BMPs that address 
stormwater quality and quantity management. This manual can be found on the web at the following address: 
http://www.ctre.iastate.edu/pubs/stormwater/index.cfm.  

Land Disturbing Activity means any construction activity that modifies existing grade, elevation, or surface of 
any part of any lot or parcel of land.  Land disturbing activity includes reconstruction of parking lots to subgrade, 
but does not include resurfacing of established parking lots as long as the subbase is not exposed.   

Maintenance and repair agreement means an agreement between the city and property owner that shall be 
filed at the county recorder's office by which the property owners of all lots or land benefiting from the 
stormwater management facility grant access for maintenance and repair by means of an easement.  

Regional stormwater management facility means a facility collecting two or more square miles of a drainage 
area or a facility having a retention or detention basin with a storage depth of ten feet or more and which stores 
ten acre-feet or more of water. The facility is required to be on public right-of-way, accessible by street right-of-
way, is required to have a perimeter of at least 25 feet, be located within the city limits, and the discharge from 
which flows through the city limits.  

Stormwater management means the use of BMPs that are designed in accordance with city stormwater 
requirements to reduce stormwater runoff pollutant loads, discharge volumes, peak flow discharge rates and 
detrimental changes in stream temperature that affect water quality and habitat.  

(Code 2017, § 27-404; Ord. No. 2718, § 1, 9-27-2010) 

                  Section 3.  Section 24-339, Requirements for Approval of Stormwater Management Plan, of 

Article VI, Post-Construction Stormwater Control, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 24-339, Requirements for 

Approval of Stormwater Management Plan, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 24-339. Requirements for approval of stormwater management plan. 

(a) Stormwater management plan. No application for a development shall be accepted unless it includes a plan 
detailing the stormwater management facility, and the control and management of the runoff and water 
quality impacts resulting from the development.  

(b) The stormwater management plan shall:  

(1) Be prepared by either a licensed professional engineer or registered architect if a site is more than five 
acres of disturbed area. A site with five acres or less of disturbed area shall be prepared by either a 
licensed professional engineer, a registered architect (including a registered landscape architect), or a 
professional in erosion and sediment control, as the applicant's engineer. The applicant's engineer shall 

82

Item 8.



be credentialed in a manner acceptable to the city, and shall be referred to in this article as the 
"applicant's engineer."  

(2) Indicate whether stormwater will be managed on site or off site, and applicable provisions of the 
general location and type of BMPs, with clear citations to the Iowa Stormwater Management Manual.  

(c) The stormwater management plan shall include the following information:  

(1) A map indicating the location of existing and proposed buildings, roads, parking areas, utilities, 
structural stormwater management facility and sediment and erosion BMPs. The map shall also clearly 
show proposed land use with tabulation of the percentage of surface area to be adapted to various 
uses; drainage patterns; unobstructed 100-year storm overflow routes; locations of utilities, roads and 
easements; and the limits of clearing and grading.  

(2) Sufficient engineering analysis to show compliance with the city stormwater requirements, including 
the following:  

a. Rainfall events, up to and including 1.25 inches of rain, shall be released at a continuous rate 

over 24 hours or provide an adequate maintenance and repair agreement to manage this 

level of rainfall event off site.  

b. All rainfall events greater than 1.25 inches of rain and up to the 100-year rainfall event shall 

be released at the rate of the fivetwo-year frequency rainfall event on the site as it existed 

at the time construction commencedin its natural, undeveloped state.  

c. If there are reasons why subsection (c)(2)a or b of this section cannot be achieved, an 

applicant may apply for a waiver as provided in section 24-342.  

(3) A written or graphic inventory of the natural resources present at the site and extending a minimum of 
500 feet beyond the limits of the site of the proposed development. A description of the watershed for 
the project shall include soil conditions, forest cover, topography, wetlands, and other native 
vegetative areas on the site.  

(4) The city may also require that the applicant file a conceptual plan to analyze the maximum 
development potential of a site under existing zoning regulations, regardless of whether the applicant 
presently intends to develop the site to its maximum potential.  

(5) For developments occurring on a previously developed site, an applicant shall be required to include 
existing stormwater runoff discharges.  

(6) Contact information, including the name and address of the owner of the property, and a list of the 
owner and addresses of adjacent properties.  

(7) Topographic base map, consisting of a scalable topographic base map of the site which extends a 
minimum of 500 feet beyond the limits of the proposed development and which indicates existing 
surface water drainage including streams, ponds, culverts, ditches, and wetlands; current land uses, 
including all existing structures; locations of utilities, roads, and easements; and significant natural and 
manmade features.  

(8) Hydrologic and hydraulic design calculations for the pre-development and post-development 
conditions for the fivetwo-, ten-, and 100-year rainfall events. Such calculations shall include:  

a. Description of the design storm frequency, intensity and duration;  

b. Time of concentration;  

c. Soil curve numbers or runoff coefficients;  

d. Peak runoff rates and total runoff volumes for each watershed area;  

e. Infiltration rates, where applicable;  

83

Item 8.



f. Culvert capacities;  

g. Flow velocities;  

h. Data on the increase in rate and volume of runoff; and  

i. Documentation of sources for all computation methods and field test results.  

(9) If a stormwater management facility depends on the hydrologic properties of soils (e.g., infiltration 
basins), then a soils report shall be submitted. The soils report shall be based on on site boring logs or 
soil pit profiles. The number and location of required soil borings or soil pit profiles shall be determined 
based on what is necessary to determine the suitability and distribution of soil types present at the 
location of the facility.  

(10) Landscaping and vegetative stabilization shall comply with the city's stormwater requirements and 
shall prevent impairment of BMPs.  

(11) A maintenance and repair agreement for all stormwater management facilities (see section 24-341). In 
the event the applicant and the city agree that the regional stormwater management facility installed 
by the applicant is to be dedicated to the city, the city shall prepare a dedication agreement on such 
terms and conditions as the city determines are appropriate, which may include requirements that the 
applicant pay all installation costs and fees.  

(12) Proof of the recorded maintenance and repair agreement shall be given to the city. The agreement 
shall require the following:  

a. The agreement shall require all benefiting properties to participate in the maintenance and 

repair of the stormwater management facility;  

b. Said applicant has accepted such responsibility in a written document and has recorded the 

document in the county recorder's office under state law; and  

c. Said applicant understands that this easement shall grant the city the right to correct any 

maintenance or repair issues not corrected by the applicant with said facility and assess the 

cost of maintenance and repairs to all benefiting properties as liens to be collected in the 

same manner as property taxes.  

(13) Performance bond. The cost of the stormwater management facility shall be included in the amount of 
the cash escrow or payment and performance bond required under chapter 20.  

(14) Maintenance bond. The cost of the stormwater management facility shall be included in the amount of 
the subdivision maintenance bond required to be posted by the developer under chapter 20.  

(d) The stormwater management plan shall be referred for comments to all other interested agencies including, 
but not limited to, Iowa Department of Natural Resources (IDNR), Iowa Department of Transportation 
(IDOT), and the Natural Resources Conservation Services (NRCS), and consideration shall be given to all 
comments received from such agencies in determining whether the stormwater management plan meets 
the requirements of this article.  

(e) No building, land use, or SWPPP permits shall be issued until a stormwater management plan or waiver has 
been approved by the city.  

(f) Multiple submissions of the stormwater management plans shall include a summary of the differences in the 
new stormwater management plan from the stormwater management plan previously submitted.  

(Code 2017, § 27-406; Ord. No. 2718, § 1, 9-27-2010) 

 

INTRODUCED: _______________________________________________ 

84

Item 8.



PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION: _________________________________ 

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATIONI: _________________________________ 

ADOPTED: ___________________________________________________ 

 

_______________________                                    
    Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
 
 
Attest:    
               _________________________ 
                    Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

85

Item 8.



ORDINANCE NO. 3078 

AN ORDINANCE 1) AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (b)(1) OF SECTION 24-336, 

APPLICABILITY, TO CLARIFY USE OF THE TERM “LAND DISTURBING ACTIVITY”; AND 2) 

AMENDING UNTITLED SUBSECTION (b) OF SECTION 24-337, DEFINITIONS, TO ADD A 

NEW DEFINITION OF “LAND DISTURBING ACTIVITY”; AND 3) AMENDING SECTION 24-

339, REQUIREMENTS FOR APPROVAL OF STORMWATER MANAGEMENT PLAN, TO 

CONFORM STORMWATER MANAGEMENT REQUIREMENTS TO STATE LAW, ALL OF 

ARTICLE VI, POST-CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER CONTROL, OF CHAPTER 24, 

UTILITIES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA.. 

                  BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

                  Section 1.  Untitled Subsection (b)(1) of Section 24-336, Applicability, of Article VI, Post-

Construction Stormwater Control, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Untitled Subsection (b)(1) of Section 24-336, 

Applicability, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 24-336. Applicability. 

                                                             [unchanged provisions omitted] 

(b) When a development plan is submitted to the city that qualifies as a development or redevelopment, the 
procedures and requirements of section 24-338 shall be followed. Final authorization of all development and 
redevelopment projects shall be determined after a review by the city. Plans that must comply with section 
24-338 are:  

(1) Land disturbing activity as defined in section 24-337 exceeding 43,560 square feet (one (1) acre) in area 
on land previously vacant of buildings or largely free of previous land disturbing activity other than 
traditional agricultural activities;  

                                                       

                                                     [unchanged provisions omitted] 

                   Section 2.  Untitled Subsection (b), of Section 24-337, Definitions, of Article VI, Post-

Construction Stormwater Control, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, is hereby amended by adding a new unnumbered Subparagraph entitled Land Disturbing 

Activity, as follows: 

Sec. 24-337. Definitions. 

                                                                   [unchanged provisions omitted]  

(b) The following words, terms and phrases, when used in this article, shall have the meanings ascribed to them 
in this section, except where the context clearly indicates a different meaning:  

Building means any structure, either temporary or permanent, having walls and a roof, designed for the 
shelter of any person, animal, or property, and occupying more than 100 square feet of area.  

Best management practices (BMPs) are policies, practices, procedures, or structures implemented to 
mitigate the adverse environmental effects on surface water quality resulting from development. BMPs are 
categorized as structural or non-structural.  

86

Item 8.



City engineer includes any other representative of the city engineer's office that is designated by the city 
engineer to act in the place and with the authority of the city engineer. The city engineer is also referred to in this 
article as the "enforcement officer." The city engineer shall have responsibility for administration and enforcement 
of this article.  

City stormwater requirements are set forth in section 24-339(c)(2) and are based upon the Iowa Stormwater 
Management Manual.  

Dedication means the deliberate appropriation of property by its owner for general public use.  

Developer means a person who undertakes land disturbing activities.  

Drainage easement means a legal right granted by a landowner to a grantee allowing the use of private land 
for stormwater management purposes.  

Iowa Stormwater Management Manual means the manual collaboratively developed by the Iowa 
Department of Natural Resources (IDNR) and the Center for Transportation Research and Education (CTRE) at Iowa 
State University that contains the sizing criteria, design and specification guidelines and BMPs that address 
stormwater quality and quantity management. This manual can be found on the web at the following address: 
http://www.ctre.iastate.edu/pubs/stormwater/index.cfm.  

Land Disturbing Activity means any construction activity that modifies existing grade, elevation, or surface of 
any part of any lot or parcel of land.  Land disturbing activity includes reconstruction of parking lots to subgrade, 
but does not include resurfacing of established parking lots as long as the subbase is not exposed.   

Maintenance and repair agreement means an agreement between the city and property owner that shall be 
filed at the county recorder's office by which the property owners of all lots or land benefiting from the 
stormwater management facility grant access for maintenance and repair by means of an easement.  

Regional stormwater management facility means a facility collecting two or more square miles of a drainage 
area or a facility having a retention or detention basin with a storage depth of ten feet or more and which stores 
ten acre-feet or more of water. The facility is required to be on public right-of-way, accessible by street right-of-
way, is required to have a perimeter of at least 25 feet, be located within the city limits, and the discharge from 
which flows through the city limits.  

Stormwater management means the use of BMPs that are designed in accordance with city stormwater 
requirements to reduce stormwater runoff pollutant loads, discharge volumes, peak flow discharge rates and 
detrimental changes in stream temperature that affect water quality and habitat.  

(Code 2017, § 27-404; Ord. No. 2718, § 1, 9-27-2010) 

                  Section 3.  Section 24-339, Requirements for Approval of Stormwater Management Plan, of 

Article VI, Post-Construction Stormwater Control, of Chapter 24, Utilities, of the Code of Ordinances of the 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new Section 24-339, Requirements for 

Approval of Stormwater Management Plan, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 24-339. Requirements for approval of stormwater management plan. 

(a) Stormwater management plan. No application for a development shall be accepted unless it includes a plan 
detailing the stormwater management facility, and the control and management of the runoff and water 
quality impacts resulting from the development.  

(b) The stormwater management plan shall:  

(1) Be prepared by either a licensed professional engineer or registered architect if a site is more than five 
acres of disturbed area. A site with five acres or less of disturbed area shall be prepared by either a 
licensed professional engineer, a registered architect (including a registered landscape architect), or a 
professional in erosion and sediment control, as the applicant's engineer. The applicant's engineer shall 

87

Item 8.



be credentialed in a manner acceptable to the city, and shall be referred to in this article as the 
"applicant's engineer."  

(2) Indicate whether stormwater will be managed on site or off site, and applicable provisions of the 
general location and type of BMPs, with clear citations to the Iowa Stormwater Management Manual.  

(c) The stormwater management plan shall include the following information:  

(1) A map indicating the location of existing and proposed buildings, roads, parking areas, utilities, 
structural stormwater management facility and sediment and erosion BMPs. The map shall also clearly 
show proposed land use with tabulation of the percentage of surface area to be adapted to various 
uses; drainage patterns; unobstructed 100-year storm overflow routes; locations of utilities, roads and 
easements; and the limits of clearing and grading.  

(2) Sufficient engineering analysis to show compliance with the city stormwater requirements, including 
the following:  

a. Rainfall events, up to and including 1.25 inches of rain, shall be released at a continuous rate 

over 24 hours or provide an adequate maintenance and repair agreement to manage this 

level of rainfall event off site.  

b. All rainfall events greater than 1.25 inches of rain and up to the 100-year rainfall event shall 

be released at the rate of the five-year frequency rainfall event on the site as it existed at 

the time construction commenced.  

c. If there are reasons why subsection (c)(2)a or b of this section cannot be achieved, an 

applicant may apply for a waiver as provided in section 24-342.  

(3) A written or graphic inventory of the natural resources present at the site and extending a minimum of 
500 feet beyond the limits of the site of the proposed development. A description of the watershed for 
the project shall include soil conditions, forest cover, topography, wetlands, and other native 
vegetative areas on the site.  

(4) The city may also require that the applicant file a conceptual plan to analyze the maximum 
development potential of a site under existing zoning regulations, regardless of whether the applicant 
presently intends to develop the site to its maximum potential.  

(5) For developments occurring on a previously developed site, an applicant shall be required to include 
existing stormwater runoff discharges.  

(6) Contact information, including the name and address of the owner of the property, and a list of the 
owner and addresses of adjacent properties.  

(7) Topographic base map, consisting of a scalable topographic base map of the site which extends a 
minimum of 500 feet beyond the limits of the proposed development and which indicates existing 
surface water drainage including streams, ponds, culverts, ditches, and wetlands; current land uses, 
including all existing structures; locations of utilities, roads, and easements; and significant natural and 
manmade features.  

(8) Hydrologic and hydraulic design calculations for the pre-development and post-development 
conditions for the five-, ten-, and 100-year rainfall events. Such calculations shall include:  

a. Description of the design storm frequency, intensity and duration;  

b. Time of concentration;  

c. Soil curve numbers or runoff coefficients;  

d. Peak runoff rates and total runoff volumes for each watershed area;  

e. Infiltration rates, where applicable;  

88

Item 8.



f. Culvert capacities;  

g. Flow velocities;  

h. Data on the increase in rate and volume of runoff; and  

i. Documentation of sources for all computation methods and field test results.  

(9) If a stormwater management facility depends on the hydrologic properties of soils (e.g., infiltration 
basins), then a soils report shall be submitted. The soils report shall be based on on site boring logs or 
soil pit profiles. The number and location of required soil borings or soil pit profiles shall be determined 
based on what is necessary to determine the suitability and distribution of soil types present at the 
location of the facility.  

(10) Landscaping and vegetative stabilization shall comply with the city's stormwater requirements and 
shall prevent impairment of BMPs.  

(11) A maintenance and repair agreement for all stormwater management facilities (see section 24-341). In 
the event the applicant and the city agree that the regional stormwater management facility installed 
by the applicant is to be dedicated to the city, the city shall prepare a dedication agreement on such 
terms and conditions as the city determines are appropriate, which may include requirements that the 
applicant pay all installation costs and fees.  

(12) Proof of the recorded maintenance and repair agreement shall be given to the city. The agreement 
shall require the following:  

a. The agreement shall require all benefiting properties to participate in the maintenance and 

repair of the stormwater management facility;  

b. Said applicant has accepted such responsibility in a written document and has recorded the 

document in the county recorder's office under state law; and  

c. Said applicant understands that this easement shall grant the city the right to correct any 

maintenance or repair issues not corrected by the applicant with said facility and assess the 

cost of maintenance and repairs to all benefiting properties as liens to be collected in the 

same manner as property taxes.  

(13) Performance bond. The cost of the stormwater management facility shall be included in the amount of 
the cash escrow or payment and performance bond required under chapter 20.  

(14) Maintenance bond. The cost of the stormwater management facility shall be included in the amount of 
the subdivision maintenance bond required to be posted by the developer under chapter 20.  

(d) The stormwater management plan shall be referred for comments to all other interested agencies including, 
but not limited to, Iowa Department of Natural Resources (IDNR), Iowa Department of Transportation 
(IDOT), and the Natural Resources Conservation Services (NRCS), and consideration shall be given to all 
comments received from such agencies in determining whether the stormwater management plan meets 
the requirements of this article.  

(e) No building, land use, or SWPPP permits shall be issued until a stormwater management plan or waiver has 
been approved by the city.  

(f) Multiple submissions of the stormwater management plans shall include a summary of the differences in the 
new stormwater management plan from the stormwater management plan previously submitted.  

(Code 2017, § 27-406; Ord. No. 2718, § 1, 9-27-2010) 

 

 

89

Item 8.



INTRODUCED:     August 5, 2024     

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:   August 5, 2024     

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:         

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:         

ADOPTED:            

 

_______________________                                    
                                                                                                                     Daniel Laudick, Mayor 
 
 
Attest:    
 
 
               _________________________ 
               Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 

 

 

 

 

90

Item 8.



Kim Reynolds

GOVERNOR

Office of the Governor Adam Gregg

LT governor

April 10, 2024

The Honorable Paul Pate

Secretary of State of Iowa

State Capitol

Des Moines, Iowa 50319

Dear Mr. Secretary,

I hereby transmit:

Senate File 455, an Act relating to the regulation of topsoil and storm water at

construction sites.

The above Senate File is hereby approved on this date.

Sincerely,

Kim Reynok

Governor of Iowa

cc: Secretary of the Senate

Clerk of the House

STATE CAPITOL DES MOINES, IOWA 50319 515.281.5211 FAX 515.725.3527 WWW.GOVERNOR.IOWA.GOV 91

Item 8.



fmimimmimnn^iiini^imrnnrnirnnniiminmin^:!'^'^'
•.• 'TrrrousiSiHef.

mm
e PRIZE

ft niOHT

iiiiiiiiiimmnmiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiitfitfi WILL MAINTA/

ir;r; :;iiillinillili:i

1 !E8aigtfl M 1̂  ASS KM

Senate Pile 455

AN ACT

RELATING TO THE REGULATION OF TOPSOIL AND STORM WATER AT

CONSTRUCTION SITES.

BE IT ENACTED BY THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY OF THE STATE OF IOWA:

Section 1. Section 331.301, Code 2024, is amended by adding

the following new subsection:

NEW SUBSECTION. 23. a. For purposes of this subsection:

(1) ^Construction site" means the same as used in a storm

water general permit adopted by rule pursuant to section

455B.103A.

(2) "^itopsoii" means the same as used in a storm water

general permit adopted by rule pursuant to section 455B.103A.

b, A county shall not adopt or enforce an ordinance,

motion, resolution, or amendment relating to the preservation.

92

Item 8.



Senate File 455, p. 2

compaction, placement, or depth of topsoil at a construction

site that is more restrictive than those requirements provided

in the national pollutant discharge elimination system general

permit no. 2 as issued by the department of natural resources.

A county may develop standards to evaluate topsoil quantities

before and after construction and ensure compliance with

general permit no. 2. A county may request that the department

of natural resources review the soil of a construction site to

verify that the national pollutant discharge elimination system

general permit no. 2 as issued by the department of natural

resources is proper for the construction site.

c, (1) A county may adopt or enforce an ordinance, motion,

resolution, or amendment that regulates storm water runoff at a

construction site only to the extent that such regulation for

rainfall events having a return frequency ranging from five

through one hundred years does not require a post-construction

storm water flow rate that is more restrictive than the

existing flow rate of a rainfall event having a return

frequency of five years, with all such runoff rates based on

the actual existing condition of the site at the time the

construction commences.

(2) A county may adopt or enforce an ordinance, motion,

resolution, or amendment that regulates storm water runoff

from upstream properties adjacent to a construction site to

the extent that storm water runoff shall be allowed to pass

through downstream storm water basins at the same flow rates as

off-site storm water runoff entering the construction site.

(3) A county may impose a storm water runoff requirement

that is more restrictive than what is allowed or required by

this paragraph at the construction site if the county meets all

of the following conditions:

(a) The county pays for all study, design, and engineering

costs for implementing the more restrictive storm water

runoff requirement that includes an analysis by a licensed

professional engineer of the difference in costs between the

requirements of this paragraph and the more restrictive county

storm water runoff requirement.

93

Item 8.



Senate File 455, p. 3

(b) The county pays for the difference of costs between

the requirements of this paragraph and the more restrictive

requirement imposed by the county for installation of equipment

or practices required for a property owner to comply with the

storm water runoff requirement.

(c) If the storm water runoff requirement results in the

county using a person's private property, whether by easement

or otherwise taking an interest in the property, the county

pays the property owner the fair market value of the property

taken for any additional land required beyond the requirements

of this paragraph.

(d) A county shall not impose a special assessment or

otherwise recover the costs from the property owner for the

portion of the costs attributable to the county.

(e) The costs attributable to the county shall only apply

to the storm water management practices addressed in this

paragraph.

Sec. 2. Section 364.3, Code 2024, is amended by adding the

following new subsection;

NEW SUBSECTION. 18. a. For purposes of this subsection:

(1) "^^Constraction site" means the same as used in a storm

water general permit adopted by rule pursuant to section

455B.103A.

(2) ^Topsail" means the same as used in a storm water

general permit adopted by rule pursuant to section 455B.103A.

b, A city shall not adopt or enforce an ordinance, motion,

resolution, or amendment relating to the preservation,

compaction, placement, or depth of topsoil at a construction

site that is more restrictive than those requirements provided

in the national pollutant discharge elimination system general

permit no. 2 as issued by the department of natural resources.

A city may develop standards to evaluate topsoil quantities

before and after construction and ensure compliance with

general permit no. 2. A city may request that the department

of natural resources review the soil of a construction site to

verify that the national pollutant discharge elimination system

general permit no. 2 as issued by the department of natural

resources is proper for the construction site.

a, (1) A city may adopt or enforce an ordinance, motion.

94

Item 8.



Senate Pile 455, p. 4

resolution, or amendment that regulates storm water runoff at a

construction site only to the extent that such regulation for

rainfall events having a return frequency ranging from five

through one hundred years does not require a post-construction

storm water flow rate that is more restrictive than the

existing flow rate of a rainfall event having a return

frequency of five years, with all such runoff rates based on

the actual existing condition of the site at the time the

construction commences.

(2) A city may adopt or enforce an ordinance, motion,

resolution, or amendment that regulates storm water runoff from

upstream properties adjacent to a construction site only to the

extent that storm water runoff shall be allowed to pass through

downstream storm water basins at the same flow rate as off-site

storm water runoff entering the construction site.

(3) A city may impose a storm water runoff requirement that

is more restrictive than what is allowed or required by this

paragraph at the construction site if the city meets all of the

following conditions:

(a) The city pays for all study, design, and engineering

costs for implementing the storm water runoff requirement that

includes an analysis by a licensed professional engineer of the

difference in costs between the requirements of this paragraph

and the more restrictive city storm water runoff requirement.

(b) The city pays for the difference of costs between

the requirements of this paragraph and the more restrictive

requirement imposed by the city for installation of equipment

or practices required for a property owner to comply with the

storm water runoff requirement.

(c) If the storm water runoff requirement results in the

city using a person's private property, whether by easement or

otherwise taking an interest in the property, the city pays the

property owner the fair market value of the property taken for

any additional land required beyond the requirements of this

paragraph.

(d) A city shall not impose a special assessment or

otherwise recover the costs from the property owner for the

portion of the costs attributable to the city.

95

Item 8.



Senate File 455, p. 5

(e) The costs attributable to the city shall only apply

to the storm water management practices addressed in this

paragraph.

AMY SINeaAIR PAT GRASSLEY

President of the Senate Speaker of tKe House

I hereby certify that this bill originated in the Senate and

is known as Senate File 455, Ninetieth General Assembly.

W. CHARLES SMITHSON

Secretary of the Senate

AcOftl , 2024
KIM REYNOLDS j

Approved

Governor

96

Item 8.



MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 

August 5, 2024 
 

The meeting of the Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 5:35 p.m. on August 5, 2024, 
with the following Committee persons in attendance: Mayor Daniel Laudick, Councilmembers 
Gil Schultz, Chris Latta, Daryl Kruse, Aaron Hawbaker, Dustin Ganfield, Hannah Crisman, and 
Kelly Dunn. Absent: none. Staff members from various City Departments and members of the 
community attended in person. 
 
Committee of the Whole: 
Mayor Laudick called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the Committee of the 
Whole Agenda, Discussion on the Future Planning of the Current Cedar Falls High School Site 
and the MercyOne Cedar Falls Medical Center (formerly Sartori) site.  Mayor introduced 
Community Development Director Stephanie Houk Sheetz.  Sheetz provided an overview of the 
current High School site: it is 16 acres and owned by the school district; it is zoned R-1 and 
Sheetz provided examples of permitted uses in that zoning district; its future intended land use 
is as an educational facility; and Sheetz provided current neighborhood characteristics.  
Potential options for future use of the site include: reuse of the structure following R-1 zoning 
regulations; site redevelopment with some or all of the current structure demolished with new 
construction; a future application for rezoning and Comprehensive Plan amendment through a 
public process (no applications are currently on file).  Sheetz provided an overview of the 
current MercyOne site: it is 18.5 acres and the City owns the building and the land; it was a 
municipal hospital until 1997, when it was leased to Covenant (now MercyOne), most recently a 
5 year renewal of the lease was signed in 2022; it is zoned R-3 and Sheetz provided examples 
of permitted uses in that zoning district; its future intended land use is Civic; and Sheetz gave 
current neighborhood characteristics.  Potential options for future use of the site include: reuse 
of the structure following R-3 zoning regulations; site redevelopment with some or all of the 
current structure demolished with new construction; a future application for rezoning and 
Comprehensive Plan amendment through a public process (no applications are currently on 
file).  Sheetz noted visioning & zoning work for these areas is in the CIP currently slated for 
FY26-27.  Councilmembers, staff, and Mayor Laudick discussed: timeline of project  and 
placement in CIP; concern that no representative from MercyOne was in attendance and a 
request for their input; what the process for a future land use other than what is identified would 
be – it would require a request, but would include a public process; City ownership of the land 
and building along with control over any leases for the MercyOne site; clarification of ownership 
of parcels located to the northwest part of the MercyOne property; and if there are any 
flooding/runoff concerns at the MercyOne site – there are none currently. 
 
Mayor Laudick introduced the second item on the Committee of the Whole Agenda, Resilience 
Plan – Overview of the Plan Elements.  Mayor Laudick introduced Planner III Thomas 
Weintraut.  Weintraut stated the purpose of the plan is to provide an action guide utilizing 
existing community plans and actions while seeking community involvement to identify 
additional actions needed to improve prosperity and stability.  Weintraut overviewed the process 
of the Plan’s creation including online and self-guided workshops, public worksheets, and a 
town hall meeting and provided a chart identifying the importance the community placed on 
topics in three areas:  Local Economics and Community, Weather and Nature, and Energy and 
Mobility.  Weintraut provided an overview of current City actions and progress, responsibilities of 
the City and CFU, while involving community members, businesses, and community 
organizations to execute the plan; and utilizing the three identified categories to identify resilient 

97

Item 9.



actions needed.  Weintraut provided plan drivers, top resilience issues identified, what Cedar 
Falls currently provides, and what is still needed for each area.  Weintraut overviewed the action 
plan, which includes 68 listed actionable items, and reiterated that the plan only works if the 
City, CFU, the community and its organizations, and businesses all work to implement it.  
Councilmembers, Mayor Laudick, and staff discussed:  use of the plan if it’s only received/filed 
but not adopted/approved; how to define resilience; how best to utilize the information in the 
Plan, possibly move items onto the Council Goals list and note things that have occurred or are 
in process; potential for a new group of people to review the plan; Councilmembers individually 
reviewing the plan to put forth specific items to Council; if the plan is adopted, staff can work 
without direction, if not they would need specific direction from Council; how staff will know an 
action is being addressed if not indicated directly; how to monitor if the plan is being utilized; if 
Councilmembers and staff know when a request or referral is put forward if it is a 
recommendation in the Plan; grant application questions regarding if the City has an adopted 
Resilience Plan; how to avoid duplicating work being done by a community group and 
identifying items being done or in process; and the possibility of putting the plan forward 
subservient to the Strategic Plan and review at Goal Setting.   
 
Meeting adjourned at 6:34 p.m.  

Minutes by Katie Terhune, Administrative Supervisor 

 

98

Item 9.



99

Item 10.



100

Item 11.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Human Resources Division 
 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Chelsie Luhring, Human Rights Commission Staff Liaison 

 DATE: August 13, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Human Rights Commission Bylaws 

 
The Human Rights Commission unanimously approved their revised Bylaws at their 
meeting on August 12, 2024. The Bylaws reflect the recent update to Iowa Code 
Section 21.8 relating to electronic meeting attendance for government boards and 
commissions.  

101

Item 12.



 

 

 

BYLAWS 

ARTICLE I 

MEMBERS 

SECTION I. The Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission shall be composed of eleven (11) members, 

broadly representative of the community, appointed by the Mayor with the advice and consent of the 

City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

SECTION II. Each member shall be appointed for a designated term of three (3) years. Appointments 

or re-appointments shall be made in such a way that only three (3) members are appointed or 

reappointed at one time.  

SECTION III. Vacancies occurring upon resignation of a commissioner shall be filled by the above 

appointment process for that un-expired term.  

ARTICLE II 

OFFICERS 

SECTION I. The officers of this Commission shall be a Chairperson and a Vice-Chairperson, each of 

whom shall be elected for a term of one (1) year unless otherwise provided. 

SECTION II. The term for Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson shall begin on January 1 and end on 

December 31 of the calendar year. 

SECTION III. Any vacancies occurring for Chairperson and/or Vice-Chairperson shall be filled by 

special election by the Commission. 

Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission 

220  Clay  Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Telephone: (319)  273-8600     Fax: (319) 268-5126 

Approved  0 8
0

/1 2 /2 4 

102

Item 12.



Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission BYLAWS Approved: August 12, 2024 

Page 2 of 4 

ARTICLE III 

DUTIES OF OFFICERS 

SECTION I. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings and shall have a vote on all matters 

before the Commission. They shall act as spokesperson for the Commission on subjects on which the 

Commission has taken a position/stand. The Chairperson shall appoint chairpersons and members to 

serve on committees. (See Article VII regarding Committees.)  

SECTION II. The Vice-Chairperson shall assume the duties of Chairperson in the event of the 

Chairperson's absence or incapacity.  

ARTICLE IV 

STAFF 

SECTION I. The City provides a staff liaison for support to the Commission; the Commission shall 

appoint and prescribe the duties for such staff liaison subject to the approval of the City Council. While 

attending to Commission duties, such staff liaison shall be under the supervision, policies and rules set 

by the Human Rights Commission.  

SECTION II. The staff liaison shall be assigned all administrative support duties and responsibilities 

of the Commission. These duties and responsibilities shall be delegated to the staff liaison at the regular 

January meeting each year. 

ARTICLE V 

SCHEDULE AND QUORUM FOR MEETINGS 

SECTION I. 

month.  

Regular meetings of the Commission shall be held on the 2nd Monday of each 

SECTION II. Special meetings may be called by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson or upon the 

request of three (3) members.  

SECTION III. The presence of a simple majority of appointed Commission members, one of whom 

must be the Chairperson or Acting Chairperson, shall constitute a quorum.  

SECTION IV. The 12th Edition of Robert’s Rules of Order shall be the authority for parliamentary 

procedure governing the meetings of the Commission in all cases unless they conflict with the Cedar 

Falls Human Rights Ordinance and/or these Bylaws. 

103

Item 12.



Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission BYLAWS Approved: August 12, 2024 

Page 3 of 4 

ARTICLE VI 

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND VOTING  

SECTION I. Regular attendance of all members is a requirement of an effective commission. Absence 

constitutes a breach in the performance of effective membership. Members are expected to 

communicate in advance of absences. If a member permanently moves from the City of Cedar Falls, 

or, without due explanation as determined by the Commission Chairperson, is absent from three 

consecutive regular meetings or five meetings within one year, except in the case of sickness or 

temporary absence from Cedar Falls, the member’s office shall be rendered vacant. For the purposes 

of this section, the term “one year” is on a rolling basis and not a calendar year basis. Members can 

attend virtually via teleconference communication using audio and/or visual conference tools. 

Meetings may be held in a “Hybrid” manner, meaning both in-person attendance and remote 

participation are utilized, or fully remotely, meaning all attendance is utilizing teleconference tools. If 

a member or members request to attend utilizing a teleconference tool, they must be allowed to do so. 

The decision on which tool to use depends upon the individual circumstances of the Commission, and 

the technology available. Members can attend as many meetings remotely as requested. Members who 

attend meetings utilizing teleconference tools count toward establishing a quorum. If teleconference 

tools are used for Commissioner attendance in a Hybrid meeting, members of the public may have 

access to these resources too, at the discretion of the Commission Chairperson. In a fully remote 

meeting, members of the public must have access to the tools utilized. Meetings where at least one 

member of the Commission attends in person, public access may be limited to in-person access. 

SECTION II.  All votes before the commission are taken by show of raised hands. Appointed members 

are expected to vote. Abstention is allowed only where there is a conflict of interest, which should be 

stated before the discussion. The votes of members shall be stated in the minutes of the meeting. 

ARTICLE VII 

COMMITTEES 

SECTION I. Permanent or ad hoc committees may be established through the vote of the 

Commissioners. The Chairperson shall appoint chairpersons and members to serve on those 

committees. All ad hoc committees shall be for a specific purpose and duration.  

SECTION II. The Executive Committee consists of the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and the most 

recent past chairperson, if available.  If the most recent past chairperson is not available, then the third 

member of the Executive Committee shall be appointed by the Chairperson. 

 

SECTION III.  Except for December, all permanent committees shall meet at least monthly unless 

there are unavoidable circumstances. Permanent committee meetings need not be in person. A majority 

of the members of the permanent committee constitutes a quorum.  

104

Item 12.



Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission BYLAWS Approved: August 12, 2024 

Page 4 of 4 

 

ARTICLE VIII 

CONFLICT OF INTEREST 

SECTION I. Whenever a Commissioner is unable to be objective with respect to any matter before 

the commission due to a conflict of interest, that Commissioner shall abstain from any involvement in 

the deliberation or vote on the matter. 

ARTICLE IX 

CONFIDENTIALITY 

SECTION I. No Commissioner shall make a public statement on behalf of the Commission without 

the knowledge and approval of the members of the Commission. 

 

SECTION II. All Commissioners shall sign a confidentiality statement upon appointment to the 

Commission.  

 

ARTICLE X 

AMENDMENT TO THE BYLAWS 

SECTION I. These Bylaws may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the 

Commission. Notice of the proposed amendments shall be enclosed with the notice of the meeting. If 

they are to be amended at a specially called meeting, notice of such intent to amend must have been 

given at the previous regular meeting. All proposed amendments shall be submitted in writing and shall 

require an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of those present to adopt the amendment. 

ARTICLE XI 

ORDINANCE 

SECTION I. These Bylaws or their amendments shall conform to the Cedar Falls Commission on 

Human Rights provisions of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls. 

 

105

Item 12.



BYLAWS

ARTICLE I

MEMBERS

SECTION I. The Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission shall be composed of eleven ( 11) members, 
broadly representative of the community, appointed by the Mayor with the advice and consent of the

City Council of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

SECTION II. Each member shall be appointed for a designated term of three (3) years. Appointments
or re-appointments shall be made in such a way that only three ( 3) members are appointed or

reappointed at one time.  

SECTION III. Vacancies occurring upon resignation of a commissioner shall be filled by the above
appointment process for that un-expired term.  

ARTICLE II

OFFICERS

SECTION I. The officers of this Commission shall be a Chairperson and a Vice- Chairperson, each of
whom shall be elected for a term of one ( 1) year unless otherwise provided. 

SECTION II. The term for Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson shall begin on January 1 and end on

December 31 of the calendar year. 

SECTION III. Any vacancies occurring for Chairperson and/or Vice-Chairperson shall be filled by

special election by the Commission. 

Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission
220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Telephone: (319)  273-8600 Fax: (319) 268-5126

Approved 03 /11 /24

106

Item 12.



Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission BYLAWS Approved: March 11, 2024

Page 2 of 5

ARTICLE III

DUTIES OF OFFICERS

SECTION I. The Chairperson shall preside at all meetings and shall have a vote on all matters
before the Commission. They shall act as spokesperson for the Commission on subjects on which the
Commission has taken a position/ stand. The Chairperson shall appoint chairpersons and members to
serve on committees. ( See Article VII regarding Committees.)  

SECTION II. The Vice-Chairperson shall assume the duties of Chairperson in the event of the

Chairperson' s absence or incapacity.  

ARTICLE IV

STAFF

SECTION I. The City provides a staff liaison for support to the Commission; the Commission shall
appoint and prescribe the duties for such staff liaison subject to the approval of the City Council. While
attending to Commission duties, such staff liaison shall be under the supervision, policies and rules set
by the Human Rights Commission.  

SECTION II. The staff liaison shall be assigned all administrative support duties and responsibilities
of the Commission. These duties and responsibilities shall be delegated to the staff liaison at the regular
January meeting each year. 

ARTICLE V

SCHEDULE AND QUORUM FOR MEETINGS

SECTION I. 
month.  

Regular meetings of the Commission shall be held on the 2nd Monday of each

SECTION II. Special meetings may be called by the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson or upon the
request of three ( 3) members.  

SECTION III. The presence of a simple majority of appointed Commission members, one of whom

must be the Chairperson or Acting Chairperson, shall constitute a quorum.  

SECTION IV. The 12th Edition of Robert’ s Rules of Order shall be the authority for parliamentary
procedure governing the meetings of the Commission in all cases unless they conflict with the Cedar

Falls Human Rights Ordinance and/or these Bylaws. 

107

Item 12.



Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission BYLAWS Approved: March 11, 2024

Page 3 of 5

ARTICLE VI

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS AND VOTING

SECTION I. Regular attendance of all members is a requirement of an effective commission. Absence
constitutes a breach in the performance of effective membership. Members are expected to
communicate in advance of absences. If a member permanently moves from the City of Cedar Falls, 
or, without due explanation as determined by the Commission Chairperson, is absent from three
consecutive regular meetings or five meetings within one year, except in the case of sickness or

temporary absence from Cedar Falls, the member’ s office shall be rendered vacant. For the purposes
of this section, the term “ one year” is on a rolling basis and not a calendar year basis.  Commissioners
may attend remotely up to three meetings in one year. Members can attend virtually via teleconference
communication using audio and/or visual conference tools. Meetings may be held in a “ Hybrid” 
manner, meaning both in-person attendance and remote participation are utilized, or fully remotely, 
meaning all attendance is utilizing teleconference tools. If a member or members request to attend

utilizing a teleconference tool, they must be allowed to do so. The decision on which tool to use
depends upon the individual circumstances of the Commission, and the technology available. Members
can attend as many meetings remotely as requested. Members who attend meetings utilizing
teleconference tools count toward establishing a quorum. If teleconference tools are used for
Commissioner attendance in a Hybrid meeting, members of the public may have access to these
resources too, at the discretion of the Commission Chairperson. In a fully remote meeting, members
of the public must have access to the tools utilized. Meetings where at least one member of the

Commission attends in person, public access may be limited to in-person access. 

SECTION II.  All votes before the commission are taken by show of raised hands. Appointed members
are expected to vote. Abstention is allowed only where there is a conflict of interest , which should be

stated before the discussion. The votes of members shall be stated in the minutes of the meeting. 

ARTICLE VII

COMMITTEES

SECTION I. Permanent or ad hoc committees may be established through the vote of the
Commissioners. The Chairperson shall appoint chairpersons and members to serve on those

committees. All ad hoc committees shall be for a specific purpose and duration.  

SECTION II. The Executive Committee consists of the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, and the most
recent past chairperson, if available.  If the most recent past chairperson is not available, then the third

member of the Executive Committee shall be appointed by the Chairperson. 

108

Item 12.



Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission BYLAWS Approved: March 11, 2024

Page 4 of 5

SECTION III.  Except for December, all permanent committees shall meet at least monthly unless

there are unavoidable circumstances. Permanent committee meetings need not be in person. A majority
of the members of the permanent committee constitutes a quorum.  

ARTICLE VIII

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

SECTION I. Whenever a Commissioner is unable to be objective with respect to any matter before
the commission due to a conflict of interest, that Commissioner shall abstain from any involvement in
the deliberation or vote on the matter. 

ARTICLE IX

CONFIDENTIALITY

SECTION I. No Commissioner shall make a public statement on behalf of the Commission without
the knowledge and approval of the members of the Commission. 

SECTION II. All Commissioners shall sign a confidentiality statement upon appointment to the
Commission.  

ARTICLE X

AMENDMENT TO THE BYLAWS

SECTION I. These Bylaws may be amended at any regular or special meeting of the

Commission. Notice of the proposed amendments shall be enclosed with the notice of the meeting. If
they are to be amended at a specially called meeting, notice of such intent to amend must have been
given at the previous regular meeting. All proposed amendments shall be submitted in writing and shall
require an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds (2/3) of those present to adopt the amendment. 

ARTICLE XI

ORDINANCE

SECTION I. These Bylaws or their amendments shall conform to the Cedar Falls Commission on
Human Rights provisions of the Code of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls. 

109

Item 12.



Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission BYLAWS Approved: March 11, 2024

Page 5 of 5
110

Item 12.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
  

 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Thomas Weintraut, AICP, Planner III 
 

 DATE: August 19, 2024 

SUBJECT: Temporary Portable Sign Request 
 2408 Waterloo Road – Heinz Dance Academy 
 
 
Planning and Community Services has 
received a request from Jackie Heinz, 
Heinz Dance Academy, to place a 
temporary portable sign on the property 
located at 2408 Waterloo Road. Portable 
signs are signs that are not permanently 
attached to the ground or other permanent 
structure.  Since they are not secured and 
are often constructed of materials that 
easily deteriorate over time, they may only 
be authorized for temporary use by the 
City Council. 
 
The dance academy moved to this location 
in late July or early August of 2023.  In 
September 2023, staff noticed a portable 
sign located on the sidewalk in front of the 
building and called Ms. Heinz to inform her 
the sign would need a permit and noting that it could not be placed in the public right-of-way. 
Staff have been following up with Ms. Heinz by email, letter and phone calls since that time in 
attempts to bring the sign issues into compliance. Staff have advised that permission is 
needed from the City Council to display a temporary portable sign and also provided 
suggestions on options for installing a permanent sign for her business.    
 
On August 7, 2024, Heinz came to City Hall to file an application for the portable sign. Ms. 
Heinz did not provide specific dimensions of the sign, but it is shown in the photo on the next 
page. The sign has been moved out of the public right-of-way.  

September 13, 2023 

111

Item 13.



Staff Recommendation:  
 
Staff have concerns regarding the amount 
of time this portable sign has already been 
displayed without a permit and the 
reluctance of the owner to comply with the 
ordinance and to submit an application for 
a permit.  
 
Therefore, staff recommends approval for 
this portable sign to a date specific, 
September 30, 2024, beyond which time 
regardless of whether the business owner 
has installed a permanent sign, it must be 
removed.   
  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
xc:  Stephanie Sheetz, AICP, Community Development Director 

Karen Howard, AICP, Planning and Community Services Manager 

112

Item 13.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Laudick and City Councilmembers 

From:  Craig Berte, Public Safety Services Director 

  Mark Howard, Police Chief 

Date:  August 13, 2024 

Re:  Retail Alcohol License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for retail alcohol licenses. We find no records that would 
prohibit these licenses and recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants:  

a) Amigo, 5809 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

b) Buffalo Wild Wings, 6406 University Avenue, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - renewal. 

c) Whiskey Road Tavern & Grill, 402 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

d) B & B West, 3105 Hudson Road, Class E retail alcohol - renewal. 

e) Fleet Farm, 400 West Ridgeway Avenue, Class B retail alcohol - change in ownership. 

f) Berk's Main Street Pub, 207 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary outdoor service. 
(September 21-22, 2024) 

g) Blue Room, 201 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary outdoor service. (September 21, 
2024) 

h) The Black Hawk Hotel/Bar Winslow, 115-117 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol - temporary 
outdoor service. (September 21, 2024) 

i) The Brass Tap, 419 & 421 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary 
additional outdoor service. (September 21, 2024) 

j) The Landmark, 107 Main Street, Class C retail alcohol & outdoor service - temporary additional 
outdoor service. (September 21, 2024) 

k) Community Main Street (District Street Party), Main Street from 1st - 5th Streets and to alleys on 
East and West of Main on 2nd, 3rd and 4th Streets - Special Class C retail alcohol & outdoor 
service - 5-day permit. (September 19 - 23, 2024) 

 

113

Item 14.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: August 13, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Subordination Agreement with BankIowa 
 
 

In connection with the Cedar Heights area reconstruction project, the City acquired a permanent 

easement over part of the property located at 1621 E. Ridgewood Drive owned by David A. & 

Mary C. Jackson.  BankIowa holds a mortgage over the property, and the lien created by the 

mortgage is superior to the grant of the permanent easement to the City.  In order to protect the 

City’s permanent easement in the event of foreclosure on the mortgage, BankIowa has agreed 

to subordinate its mortgage lien to the City’s permanent easement interest so that such 

easement would survive foreclosure.  Staff is therefore requesting that Council approve and 

accept the attached Subordination Agreement. 

 

It is important to note that the City has received no information whatsoever that the Jacksons 

are in default on their loan or that there is any indication that foreclosure is likely.  This is merely 

a precaution to protect the City’s interests in all scenarios, however unlikely.   

      

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.   

 

Thank you.  

114

Item 16.



115

Item 16.



116

Item 16.



117

Item 16.



118

Item 16.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Laudick, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: August 13, 2024 

   SUBJECT:   Special Warranty Deed and Encroachment Agreement Deere & Company 
 
 

In connection with the Viking Road and Prairie Parkway intersection project, the City has 

acquired a fee interest from Deere & Company for land required for the roundabout at that 

intersection.  As part of the transaction Deere & Company wishes to reconstruct its border fence 

at the new boundary with the City which will necessitate work within the newly acquired City 

right-of-way as well as movement of equipment onto and across the right-of-way for such work.  

The parties have agreed to the terms of an Encroachment Agreement that will allow Deere & 

Company to complete this work.   

 

Staff therefore requests that Council approve and accept the attached Special Warranty Deed 

as well as the attached Encroachment Agreement.      

 

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.   

 

Thank you.  

119

Item 17.



120

Item 17.



121

Item 17.



122

Item 17.



123

Item 17.



124

Item 17.



125

Item 17.



126

Item 17.



127

Item 17.



128

Item 17.



129

Item 17.



130

Item 17.



131

Item 17.



132

Item 17.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Melissa Denning, Community Services Supervisor 

 DATE: August 19, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Community Development Block Grant - Grant Administration and   
  Technical Services 
  Federal Fiscal Year 2024 (City FY2025) 
   
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
funds.  In Federal Fiscal Year 2024, funding for the entitlement CDBG program is 
$262,476.  The City has contracted with INRCOG to help with administration and 
technical services related to projects eligible for CDBG and HOME funds since February 
2018.  INRCOG’s support helps the City maintain these programs, without adding staff. 
 
INRCOG’s proposed services include CDBG general administration (preparing plans, 
reports, and monitoring service agencies), technical support for housing rehabilitation 
projects, as well as technical support for the Neighborhood Infrastructure Improvements 
(sewer lining) and the Sidewalk Replacement Project covering federal requirements for 
construction management and Davis-Bacon wages verification.  The total cost for 
services outlined in the attached contract is $43,000. 
 
Staff recommend continuing services with INRCOG in FFY24 (City FY25).  Attached is 
the proposed agreement with all required attachments. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
 
 

 

 
  
 

133

Item 18.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

SERVICE/PRODUCT AGREEMENT 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding Project Delivery under Federal Fiscal 
Year 2024 in Cedar Falls, Iowa 

This Agreement is by and between Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG), 229 East Park 
Avenue, Waterloo, IA (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“City”), and is to be effective on the date last 
signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of those services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor 
as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 
authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 
Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 
presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 
work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 
not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 
warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 
required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 
Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 
Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 
approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 
Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 
under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 
third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 
the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 
provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 
full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 
Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 
accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “A”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 
be the amount set forth in Exhibit “A” which will not exceed $43,000 for CDBG funds, unless additional Services are 
agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted 
accordingly.   

134

Item 18.



2 
 

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum, the name and address of the Contractor, the 
invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 
goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 
or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below.  All invoices are due 
to the City by fifteen calendar days after the end of the fiscal year. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “A”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 
provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 
on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving at least seven 
(7) days written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 
faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 
services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as requested.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 
(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 
Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 
property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 
and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 
City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 
rights.  CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of service solely for the purpose of the benefiting the 
CDBG Entitlement Program. 

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 
other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 
known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 
of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 
conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 
and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 
providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 
information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 
years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 
Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 
inspection by the City or designee.  

 

 

135

Item 18.



3 
 

5.0.       Termination. 

5.1.       The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 
Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 
before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 
prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 
is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 
approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 
from the Contractor. 

5.2.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 
other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 
standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 
component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 
meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 
the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 
days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 
satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 
Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 
as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 
acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 
remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 
availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 
Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 
any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 
entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 
City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 
privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 
Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 
dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

136

Item 18.



4 
 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 
all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 
payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 
continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 
incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 
mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 
except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 
mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification. 

9.1.       Contractor (including, for purposes of this Section, Contractor’s agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of Contractor) shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its elected and appointed 
officers, its employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, from any and all liability, loss, cost, damage and 
expense (including reasonable attorney fees and court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or related in any way to 
any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon or alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and 
property damages, arising out of or in any way connected or associated with the Contractor’s performance under this 
Agreement. 

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 
or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above and shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement. 

9.3.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 
member of the public, any third-party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to 
maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “B” 
unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 
state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 
applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 
chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 
delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 
as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 
employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 
deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

 

 

137

Item 18.



5 
 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 
procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 
connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 
contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 
such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 
into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 
competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not in the performance of this Agreement unlawfully discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, sex, color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, 
disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification 
protected by federal, state, or local law.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 
the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 
Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 
participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  
Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 
Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 
additional costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums 
yet due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 
order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 
such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 
labor disputes; public health emergency; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or 
referred to in this Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of 
performance by either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any 
claim for damages, if and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 
exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 
party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 
such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 
Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

 

 

138

Item 18.



6 
 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 
City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 
approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 
bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 
quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 
Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 
shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 
bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 
and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 
agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 
information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 
submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 
designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 
to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 
endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 
asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 
the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 
employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 
disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 
occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 
confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

139

Item 18.



7 
 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 
for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 
party, or as required by law, or by an order of court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 
confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 
until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 
representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 
be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 
and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms.  

 Notice to proceed will occur after the HUD authorization of funds. 

24.1 Additional Exhibits attached as follows: 
  Exhibit B – Insurance Requirements for Goods & Services Contract 
  Exhibit C – Required Federal Contract Language 
 
25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 
provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP_                                        Name: _Brian Schoon, AICP_________ 

Title: Director of Community Development_                                  Title: Executive Director________       __ 

Address: 220 Clay St, Cedar Falls, IA__                                       Address: 229 East Park Avenue, Waterloo, IA 50703 

Telephone: __(319) 268-5151   _______                                       Telephone: (319) 235-0311 Ext. 138  

Email: Stephanie.Sheetz@cedarfalls.com_                                    Email: bschoon@inrcog.org   

 

  

140

Item 18.

mailto:bschoon@inrcog.org


8 
 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 
below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

INRCOG; Brian Schoon, Executive Director of INRCOG___________________ 

By: __________________________________________ 

Its: __________________________________________                    Date: ___________________ 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: __________________________________ 

        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

             Kim Kerr, MMC, City Clerk  

                                 

    

141

Item 18.



    
Exhibit A 

 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding: Project  Support 

Federal Fiscal Year 2024 Projects in Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

   
 

SCOPE OF WORK 
CDBG GRANT PROJECT SUPPORT FOR FFY 2024 CDBG PROJECTS 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  
 
Overview 
 
The Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) is proposing to 
complete project delivery to meet the requirements related to the Community 
Development Block Grant (CDBG) under which the City of Cedar Falls plans to utilize 
funds to support service agencies; repair and rehabilitate housing units, both owner 
occupied and renter occupied units; as well as complete infrastructure and/or public 
access projects. 
 
 
Qualifications 
 
Housing Rehabilitation and CDBG Experience 
 
As a public agency created under Chapter 28E of the Iowa Code, INRCOG serves a six-
county area. The City of Cedar Falls is a member in good standing our staff has built a 
solid relationship with the City’s staff. We are located in close proximity to Cedar Falls 
City Hall and we are very familiar with the community, including its infrastructure, 
services and its elected and appointed officials.   
 
Our agency is proud of the working relationships we have built with numerous federal 
and state departments, as we have administered numerous programs on behalf of our 
local government members. Included amongst those agencies are the US Department of 
Commerce, Economic Development Administration; US Department of Agriculture; 
Federal Highway and Federal Transit Administrations; Federal Emergency Management 
Agency; Iowa Economic Development Authority; Iowa Department of Transportation; 
Iowa Department of Natural Resources; Iowa Homeland Security and Emergency 
Management; and the Iowa Finance Authority. INRCOG also provides staff and 
oversight for several regional bodies including the Black Hawk County Metropolitan 
Transportation Organization; Regional Transportation Authority; Regional Transit 
Commission; Regional Economic Development Commission; and Regional Housing 
Council. Further, our agency has acted as the procurement and fiscal agent for multi-
county emergency management regions. Through our work, our agency has developed 
relationships with several non-profit organizations, including administration of housing-
related grants which involves working directly with several entities such as The Salvation 
Army, Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity, Cedar Valley Friends of the Family, 
Operation Threshold, Exceptional Persons, Inc., Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging; 

142

Item 18.



 
  CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
Northeast Iowa Community Action Corporation; Community Based Services; and House 
of Hope. 
 
INRCOG has extensive housing rehabilitation and repair experience under the Iowa 
Economic Development Authority’s (IEDA) Housing Rehabilitation and Iowa Finance 
Authority’s (IFA) Local Housing Trust Fund programs.  IEDA’s program is funded 
through the CDBG program, as administered by the US Department of Housing and 
Urban Development, and the IFA program is funded through the State Housing Trust 
Fund. We also have a familiarity with the HOME Investment Partnership Program as 
administered by the US Department of Housing and Development. INRCOG has 
administered housing trust fund grants for the Iowa Northland Regional Housing Council 
since 2003 and since 2014 for the Waterloo Housing Trust Fund. Through the trust 
funds, our staff has developed and administered annual homeowner repair programs 
that serve approximately ten individual households per year. In addition to administering 
the individual home improvement programs, INRCOG has managed numerous housing 
acquisition programs, as funded by the Hazard Mitigation Grant and CDBG Programs, 
following disasters in 1993, 1999, 2000, 2008, and 2016. 
 
Our staff writes grants for these programs for our member local governments and we 
perform all administrative tasks relative to construction, finance, and professional service 
functions associated with the programs.  We have completed all IEDA basic and 
updated trainings, including certification requirements, associated with administering 
CDBG funds, specifically those associated with environmental assessments, Davis-
Bacon (prevailing wage) compliance, historical preservation review and approval, 
Section 3 (hiring practices) compliance, fair housing standards, lead-based paint testing 
and certification, radon testing, and contractor procurement. INRCOG is accustomed to 
developing the necessary contracts, developing file and program management 
techniques, assisting with city audits, successfully preparing for and completing IEDA 
monitoring reviews, conflict mediation, financial management, and closeout processes 
associated with CDBG projects. 
 
Primary INRCOG Staff Members 
The primary contacts for this proposal and program are 

o Brian Schoon, Executive Director (bschoon@inrcog.org); 
o Isaiah Corbin, Director of Development (icorbin@inrcog.org);  
o Cindy Knox, Housing Planner II (cknox@inrcog.org);  

 
Brian Schoon has been employed by INRCOG since September 1991 and is currently 
serving as the Executive Director. He is a member of the American Institute of Certified 
Planners. His responsibilities include supervision, project administration, budget 
oversight, and planning functions associated with INRCOG’s housing, planning, and 
economic development efforts, including numerous CDBG projects funded by the Iowa 
Economic Development Authority (IEDA).  Schoon has overseen the Iowa Northland 
Regional Housing Council and its local Housing Trust Funds and staffed the Waterloo 
Housing Trust Fund and its financial programs. He is currently providing planning 
services to the City, including updating the Consolidated and Annual Action Plans 
related to its current HUD CDBG Entitlement Program. Schoon has a bachelor’s degree 
in landscape design from South Dakota State University and a Masters’ degree in 
Community and Regional Planning from Iowa State University. 
 

143

Item 18.

mailto:bschoon@inrcog.org
mailto:icorbin@inrcog.org
mailto:cknox@inrcog.org


 
  CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
Isaiah Corbin became employed with INRCOG in January of 2021 as Community 
Planner II. He has a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science from Wartburg College 
as well as a Master of Public Policy degree from the University of Northern Iowa. In his 
role as planner, he has been responsible for a wide range of federal and state grants 
including CDBG, BRIC, and EDA awards. Isaiah has been responsible for the 
development of several plans, including the recent CEDS Plan for INREDC. Since 2023, 
he has taken the role of Director of Development which includes project administration 
and planning efforts for community and economic development, housing, and waste 
management. Prior to his role at INRCOG, he worked in the nonprofit arena at a local 
hospital and University. 
 
Cindy Knox has worked as a housing program specialist for INRCOG for 13 years. 
Knox has administered nearly two dozen CDBG housing rehab programs, as well as 
other housing programs awarded to our member communities from the US Department 
of Agriculture, Federal Home Loan Bank, and Iowa Finance Authority. She has managed 
rehabilitation and repair programs; homebuyer and down-payment assistance programs; 
housing inspection programs; and emergency and rural repair programs for our regional 
Housing Council. Knox is a Certified Lead-Based Paint Sampling Technician and has 
knowledge of Iowa Minimum Housing and Housing Quality Standards. Knox has a 
bachelor’s degree in design and the Human Environment from the University of Northern 
Iowa. 
 
Description of Technical Services, Grant Administration, and Organizational 
Capacity 
 
INRCOG, through its existing staff, will complete project delivery to meet CDBG 
requirements to expend the annual allocation of FFY 2024 funds.  
 
INRCOG will present any necessary approvals or reports to City staff.  Further, as 
HUD’s subrecipient, the City will be responsible for obtaining HUD reimbursement for all 
expenses under this proposal with INRCOG assisting with obtaining said 
reimbursements. Likewise, INRCOG will assist the City with any necessary HUD or 
CDBG reports, as requested. 
 
  

144

Item 18.



 
  CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
Budget 
 
INRCOG is prepared to offer the project delivery services for a not-to-exceed price for 
each unit or task completed during the City fiscal year, as outlined below.  Said project 
delivery expenses will be billed on an hourly basis, using rates that will be defined in the 
contract between the City and INRCOG. 
 

• Provide Public Services Enhancing Quality of Life-Agency Awards Program 
(to City-Determined Agencies) 
• Approximately Four (4) Agencies (Includes Administration Procurement, 

Monitoring, and Award expenses) 
o INRCOG Expense: $6,000 (Activity Delivery Cost-ADC) 

• Increase and Improve Affordable Housing Options-Rehabilitation and 
Repair for both Owner and Rental Units 
• General and Technical Services for two (2) units 

o INRCOG Expense: $11,000 (Activity Delivery Cost-ADC) 

• Support Public Facilities and Infrastructure (Sidewalk and Tree 
Replacement Projects) 

o Spec book development, Bidding, Davis-Bacon, Payroll Management, 
Contractor clearances, Section 3 management 

o INRCOG Expense: $17,500 (Activity Delivery Cost-ADC) 

• Reports and Plans 
• 2025 Action Plan; 2023 CAPER; Davis-Bacon; Section 3; MBE/WBE 

Reporting 
o INRCOG Expense: $8,500 (Planning and Admin Cost-PAC) 

 
INRCOG will provide monthly invoices to the City for services provided by our staff.  
Services covered by the agreement will be assigned an individual, unique program 
number through which expenses will be tracked and monitored within INRCOG’s 
monthly financial reports and annual independent audit.  INRCOG shall make all 
financial records available to the City upon request. 
 
Time of Performance 
Work under this proposal would begin upon execution of an agreement and completion 
would be no later than June 30th, 2025.  INRCOG may propose an extension to the 
negotiated agreement, in the event it is unable to complete the services defined above.  
Accordingly, the completion date may be extended for a period of up to six (6) months 
upon written request of INRCOG documenting a good faith effort to complete 
performance in a timely manner. 
 
Project Review 
At least annually, but not later than May 1st, 2025, during the contract timeframe, the City 
and INRCOG will meet to review INRCOG’s performance with regard to the services 
provided to the City.  Extending the existing agreement for future years(s) may also be 
discussed at that time. 
 

145

Item 18.



 

 
 

    
Exhibit B 

 
 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding Project Support for 
Federal Fiscal Year 2024 Services for Projects in Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
   

 
01-19-2022 

 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
FOR GOODS & SERVICES 

FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 

 
This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform work 
for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “Contractor” as used in this document shall be 
defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design contractor that will be 
performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.  The term “Agreement” herein 
shall mean the agreement of which this Exhibit forms a part.  
 
 

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized 
by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be issued by 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   

 
2. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain through the term of the Agreement, 

insurance with the terms set forth in this Exhibit and with limits of coverage equal 
to or in excess of those set forth on Pages 3-4 of this Exhibit.  By requiring the 
insurance as set forth in this Exhibit the City does not represent that coverage or 
limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor’s interests and such 
coverage and limits shall not be deemed a limitation on Contractor’s liability 
under the Agreement or under the indemnity provisions of this Exhibit.  The City 
shall have the right at any time to require liability insurance with greater coverage 
than that otherwise specified herein.   

 
3. Coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations 

or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 
shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the review and approval of the 
City. 

 
 

4. Contractor shall maintain ongoing Commercial General Liability coverage for at 
least 2 years following substantial completion of the work, under the Agreement, 

146

Item 18.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
to cover liability arising from the products-completed operations hazard and 
liability assumed under an insured contract. 

 
5. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not contain 

the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially similar 
clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 

6. Certificate of Insurance: Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of 
Insurance, with accompanying endorsements, to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for 
the coverage required herein. See Pages 6-12 of this Exhibit.  

 
A. Upon request by the City, Contractor shall provide Certificates of 

Insurance for all subcontractors and sub-sub-contractors who perform 
work or services pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement. 

 
B. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 

Cancellation & Material Changes Endorsement.   
 

7. Termination: Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver 
of these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure of the Contractor to 
obtain or maintain the required insurance shall be considered a material breach 
of the Agreement, and at City’s option, shall allow City to terminate the 
Agreement for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s expense. 

 
 

  

147

Item 18.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
8. Insurance Limits 

 
A. Commercial General Liability 
 
The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a primary and non-
contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement 
in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
Fire Damage (any one occurrence) $100,000  
Medical Payments $5,000  
Personal & Advertising Injury $1,000,000  
General Aggregate $2,000,000  
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000  

 
Required Endorsements - sample endorsements Pages 7-11 of this Exhibit 
Blanket or Scheduled Additional Insured  
Owners, Lessees or Contractors - Scheduled Person or 
Organization 

CG 20 10 12 19         
or Equivalent 

Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors - 
Completed Operations 

CG 20 37 12 19           
or Equivalent 

Governmental Immunity                                     
(Nonwaiver of Government Immunity -                    
Code of Iowa §670.4) 

Equivalent to sample 
on Page 7 of this 
Exhibit. 

Designated Construction Project(S) General Aggregate 
Limit (if applicable) 

CG 25 03 05 09         
or Equivalent 

 
 
B. Automobile Liability 
 
Coverage is required for non-owned and hired vehicles, if the Contractor does 
not own any vehicles.  The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a 
primary and non-contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Bodily Injury & Property Damage (each accident) $1,000,000  (CSL) 
Hired & Non-Owned Autos  If required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

148

Item 18.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
C. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability  
 
As required by any applicable law or regulation.  The policy will include waiver 
of subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Workers' Compensation Statutory Limits 
Bodily Injury Each Accident $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Policy Limit $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Each Employee $500,000  

 
 
D. Umbrella/Excess Liability 
 
If the umbrella/excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the 
same endorsement as required of the primary policies including but not 
limited to additional insured on a primary and non-contributory, and waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.   
 

Each Occurrence $3,000,000  
Aggregate $3,000,000  

 
 
E. Errors & Omissions/Professional Liability 
 
If the Agreement’s scope of services includes design work or other 
professional consultation services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except 
for intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services 
performed by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & 
Omissions coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the 
Agreement, and continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date 
of completion of all work completed or services performed under the 
Agreement. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

149

Item 18.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
ENDORSEMENTS 

 
 

ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 
 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its 
employees, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, are 
included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 20 10 12 19 or 
equivalent, and completed operations CG 20 37 12 19 or equivalent. See specimens on 
Pages 9-10 of this Exhibit. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing with any 
other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether other 
available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
_______________________________ 

 
GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 

(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 
 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and 
states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity 
available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now 
exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental 
immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be 
amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any 
time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing 
contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from asserting the defense of 
governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under 
this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits 
accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of governmental 
immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the 
defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise 
change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 
 

150

Item 18.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in 
coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall 
be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement supersedes the standard cancellation 
statement on the Certificate of Insurance to which this endorsement is attached.  
Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 days advance written notice of 
cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance 
written notice of non-payment of premium. 

 
 

________________________________ 
 
 
 

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS 
OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US  

(Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement) 
 
To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working 
on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or 
responsibility to the Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by 
way of subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss or 
damage occurring during the time of the Agreement or arising out of the work performed 
under the Agreement. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for Professional 
Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder.  

151

Item 18.



   
Exhibit C 

Required Federal Contract Language 

All project contracts shall contain at a minimum the following provisions, as appropriate. 
    
ALL CONTRACTS 

1. Access and Maintenance of Records 

The contractor must maintain all required records for five years after final payments are made and 
all other pending matters are closed. 

At any time during normal business hours and as frequently as is deemed necessary, the contractor 
shall make available to the Iowa Economic Development Authority, the State Auditor, the General 
Accounting Office, and the Department of Housing and Urban Development, for their examination, all 
of its records pertaining to all matters covered by this contract and permit these agencies to audit, 
examine, make excerpts or transcripts from such records, contract, invoices, payrolls, personnel 
records, conditions of employment, and all other matters covered by this contract. 

2. Civil Rights 

The Contractor must comply with the following laws and regulations: 
• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352). 

States that no person may be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 
subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial 
assistance on the basis of race, color, or national origin. 

 
• Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended. 

 
• Federal Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 12259 

Equal Opportunity Housing 
 
• Iowa Civil Rights Act of 1965. 

This Act mirrors the Federal Civil Rights Act. 
 
• Section 109 of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended (42 

U.S.C. 5309). 
Provides that no person shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 
subjected to discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or handicap 
under any program or activity funded in part or in whole under Title I of the Act. 

 
• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.) 

Provides that no person on the basis of age, be excluded from participation in, be denied the 
benefits of or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal 
financial assistance. 

 
  

152

Item 18.



Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 2 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-112, 29 U.S.C. 794). 
Provides that no otherwise qualified individual shall solely by reason of his/her handicap be 
excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be discriminated against under 
any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 

 
• Americans with Disabilities Act (P.L. 101-336, 42 U.S.C. 12101-12213) 

Provides comprehensive civil rights to individuals with disabilities in the areas of 
employment, public accommodations, state and local government services, and 
telecommunications. 

• Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended (12 U.S.C. 1701u). 
 

The purpose of section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 ( 12 U.S.C. 
1701u) (section 3) is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated 
by certain HUD financial assistance shall, to the greatest extent feasible, and consistent with 
existing Federal, State and local laws and regulations, be directed to low- and very low-
income persons, particularly those who are recipients of government assistance for housing, 
and to business concerns which provide economic opportunities to low- and very low-income 
persons. 

 
3. Termination Clause 

All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain a termination clause that specifies the following: 
• Under what conditions the clause may be imposed. 
• The form the termination notice must take (e.g., certified letter). 
• The time frame required between the notice of termination and its effective date. 
• The method used to compute the final payment(s) to the contractor. 

 
4. Certification regarding government-wide restriction on lobbying. 

All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain the following certification concerning restriction of 
lobbying: 

"The Recipient certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
i. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 

Recipient, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of 
any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of 
any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

ii. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee, or an employee of a Member of congress in 
connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Recipient 
shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Federal 
Lobbying" in accordance with its instruction. 

iii. The Recipient shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts 
under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and 
disclose accordingly. 

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or 

153

Item 18.

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=5b93c604f1f17967087eac820a6d3ba3&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/1701u
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/1701u
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=b53c4a715f555ddaf4130860d7e71119&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=5aee72c6cc23ba8dd9abbd1a7d08a45d&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=bea258cd28a425ab5cd326b7daa383e8&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1


Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 3 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to 
file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more 
than $100,000 for each such failure." 
 

 
5. Lead-Safe Housing Regulations (As applicable) 

24 CFR Part 35 et. al. 
Requirements for Notification, Evaluation and Reduction of Lead-Based Paint Hazards in Federally 
Owned Residential Properties and Housing Receiving Federal Assistance, Final Rule 

 
 
6. Recycled Materials 

The contractor agrees to comply with all the requirements of Code of Iowa chapter 8A.315-317 and 
Iowa Administrative Code chapter 11-117.6(5) — Recycled Product and Content. 

 
 
ALL CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $10,000 

Federal Executive Orders 11246 and 11375: 
Provides that no one be discriminated in employment. 

 
"During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows: 
(1) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take affirmative 
action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during 
employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. Such action 
shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or 
transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor 
agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for 
employment, notices to be provided by the contracting officer setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 

(2) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

(3) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a 
collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice, to be provided by 
the agency contracting officer, advising the labor union or workers' representative of the 
contractor's commitments under Section 202 of the Executive Order No. 11246 of September 
24, 1965, and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees 
and applicants for employment. 

(4) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 of September 
24, 1965, and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 

(5) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order No. 11246 
of September 24, 1965, and by the rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or 
pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the 
contracting agency and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain 
compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders. 

(6) In the event of the contractor's non-compliance with the nondiscrimination clause of this 
contract or with any of such rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, 

154

Item 18.



Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 4 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

terminated or suspended in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for 
further Government contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 
No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies 
invoked as provided in Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, 
regulation, or order of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

(7) The contractor will include the provisions of Paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract 
or purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor 
issued pursuant to Section 204 of Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that 
such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor.  The contractor will 
take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the contracting agency 
may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance: 
Provided, however, that in the event the contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened 
with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the contracting 
agency, the contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect 
the interests of the United States. 

 
 
ALL CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $100,000 

 

Clean Air and Water Acts: 
 
• Section 306 of the Clean Air Acts (42 U.S.C. 1857(h)). 
• Section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1368). 
• Executive Order 11738. Providing administration of the Clean Air and Water Acts 

 
Clean Air and Water Acts - required clauses: 
This clause is required in all third party contracts involving projects subject to the Clean Air Act (42 
U.S.C. 1857 et seq.), the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.), and the 
regulations of the Environmental Protection Agency with respect to 40 CFR Part 15, as amended. It 
should also be mentioned in the bid document. 

During the performance of this contract, the CONTRACTOR agrees as follows: 
(1) The CONTRACTOR will certify that any facility to be utilized in the performance of any 

nonexempt contract or subcontract is not listed on the Excluded Party Listing System 
pursuant to 40 CFR 32. 

(2) The CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 114 of the Clean 
Air Act, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 1857c-8) and Section 308 of the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. 1318) relating to inspection, monitoring, entry, reports, 
and information, as well as all other requirements specified in said Section 114 and Section 
308, and all regulations and guidelines issued thereunder. 

(3) The CONTRACTOR agrees that as a condition for the award of the contract, prompt notice 
will be given of any notification received from the Director, Office of Federal Activities, 
Environmental Protection Agency, indicating that a facility utilized or to be utilized for the 
contract is under consideration to be listed on the Excluded Party Listing System. 

(4) The CONTRACTOR agrees that it will include or cause to be included the criteria and 
requirements in Paragraph (1) through (4) of this section in every nonexempt subcontract 
and require every subcontractor to take such action as the Government may direct as a 
means of enforcing such provisions. 

 
  

155

Item 18.



Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 5 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

ALL CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $2,000 

Federal Labor Standards 

In addition to the preceding provisions, all construction contracts in excess of $2,000 must include 
the Federal Labor Standards Provisions (verbatim) found in Appendix 2 under Required Contract 
Provisions. (Housing rehabilitation contracts of less than 8 units are excluded from this 
requirement.) 

Federal Labor Standards Provisions (verbatim) found in Appendix 2, including: 
• Davis-Bacon and Related Acts 
• Contract Work Hours and Safety Standard Act 
• Copeland Anti-kickback Act  

156

Item 18.



The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

© 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.
ACORD 25 (2014/01)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

CANCELLATION

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

LOCJECT
PRO-POLICY

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

OCCURCLAIMS-MADE

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

PREMISES (Ea occurrence) $
DAMAGE TO RENTED
EACH OCCURRENCE $

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $

$RETENTIONDED

CLAIMS-MADE

OCCUR

$

AGGREGATE $

EACH OCCURRENCE $UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER

POLICY EFF
(MM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EXP
(MM/DD/YYYY) LIMITS

PER
STATUTE

OTH-
ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

$

$

$

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

(Mandatory in NH)
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y / N

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO
ALL OWNED SCHEDULED

HIRED AUTOS
NON-OWNED

AUTOS AUTOS

AUTOS

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)
PROPERTY DAMAGE $

$

$

$

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSD
ADDL

WVD
SUBR

N / A

$

$

(Ea accident)

(Per accident)

OTHER:

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

INSURED

PHONE
(A/C, No, Ext):

PRODUCER

ADDRESS:
E-MAIL

FAX
(A/C, No):

CONTACT
NAME:

NAIC #

INSURER A :

INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

6/24/2024

PDCM Insurance
P.O. Box 2597
Waterloo IA 50704

Paige Shanks
319-234-8888 319-234-7702

pshanks@pdcm.com

Philadelphia Ins. Companies
IOWANOR-02 IMWCA

Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments
229 E. Park Avenue
Waterloo IA 50703

* XL Insurance

273218342

A X 1,000,000
X 100,000

5,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

X

Y Y PHPK2561686 7/1/2024 7/1/2025

2,000,000

A 1,000,000
X

XX

Y Y PHPK2561686 7/1/2024 7/1/2025

A X X 4,000,000

10,000

Y PHUB866689

X
4,000,000

7/1/2024 7/1/2025

B 0640 7/1/2024 7/1/2025 X
5,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000
A
C

Professional Liability
Public Officials E&O/EPL

PHPK2561686
POL0950362

7/1/2024
7/1/2024

7/1/2025
7/1/2025

Ea Incident/Aggregate
Ea Claim/Aggregate

1000000/2000000
3000000/3000000

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and
their board members, employees and volunteers are an Additional insured on the general liability policy on a primary and non-contributory basis. Governmental
Immunities Endorsement and 30 Day Notice of Cancellation Endorsement are included. Waiver of Subrogation applies under General Liability.

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

157

Item 18.



PI-MANU-1 (01/00) 
 

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY

 
 

All other terms and conditions of this Policy remain unchanged.  

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT

(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured)

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees

and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of

Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the

defenses of governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended

from time to time.

2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of

insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of

governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists

and as it may be amended from time to time.

3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be

responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do

so at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the

insurance carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the

carrier from asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.

4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage

under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights

and benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for

reasons of governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent

jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity

asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.

Page 1 of 1

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT

158

Item 18.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Melissa Denning, Community Services Supervisor 

 DATE: August 19, 2024 

 SUBJECT: HOME - Grant Administration and Technical Services 
  Federal Fiscal Year 2024 (City FY2025) 
   
 
Cedar Falls is a recipient of Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) and HOME 
funds.  In Federal Fiscal Year 2024, funding for the entitlement HOME program is 
$97,000.  The City has contracted with INRCOG to help with administration and 
technical services related to projects eligible for HOME funds since February 2018.  
INRCOG’s support helps the City maintain this program, without adding staff. 
 
INRCOG’s proposed services include HOME general administration (preparing plans, 
bids and reports) and technical support for housing rehabilitation projects. The total cost 
for services outlined in the attached contract is $10,000. 
 
Staff recommends continuing services with INRCOG in FFY24 (City FY25).  Attached is 
the proposed agreement with all required attachments. 
 
Please contact me with any questions.   Thank you. 
 
 
 

 

 
  
 

159

Item 19.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

SERVICE/PRODUCT AGREEMENT 

Home Investment Partnerships Program (HOME) Funding Project Delivery for FFY 2024 
Projects in Cedar Falls, Iowa 

This Agreement is by and between Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG), 229 East Park 
Avenue, Waterloo, IA (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“City”), and is to be effective on the date last 
signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of those services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor 
as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 
authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 
Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 
presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 
work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 
not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 
warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 
required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 
Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 
unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 
Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 
approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 
Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 
under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 
third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 
the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 
provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 
full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 
Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 
accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “A”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 
be the amount set forth in Exhibit “A” which will not exceed $10,000 for HOME funds, unless additional Services are 
agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted 
accordingly.   

160

Item 19.



2 
 

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 
of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum, the name and address of the Contractor, the 
invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 
goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 
or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below.  All invoices are due 
to the City by fifteen calendar days after the end of the fiscal year. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “A”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 
provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 
on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving at least seven 
(7) days written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 
faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 
services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as requested.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 
(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 
Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 
property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 
and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 
City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 
rights.  CLIENT shall have the right to use such instruments of service solely for the purpose of the benefiting the 
CDBG Entitlement Program. 

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 
other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 
known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 
of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 
conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 
and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 
providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 
information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 
years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 
Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 
inspection by the City or designee.  

 

 

161

Item 19.



3 
 

5.0.       Termination. 

5.1.       The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 
Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 
before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 
prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 
is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 
approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 
from the Contractor. 

5.2.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 
other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 
standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 
component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 
meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 
the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 
days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 
satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 
Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 
as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 
acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 
remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 
availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 
Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 
Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 
any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 
entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 
City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 
privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 
Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 
dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

162

Item 19.



4 
 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 
all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 
payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 
continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 
incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 
mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 
except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 
mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification. 

9.1.       Contractor (including, for purposes of this Section, Contractor’s agents, employees, subcontractors or others 
working on behalf of Contractor) shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its elected and appointed 
officers, its employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, from any and all liability, loss, cost, damage and 
expense (including reasonable attorney fees and court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or related in any way to 
any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon or alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and 
property damages, arising out of or in any way connected or associated with the Contractor’s performance under this 
Agreement. 

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 
or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above and shall survive the termination of this 
Agreement. 

9.3.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 
member of the public, any third-party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to 
maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “B” 
unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 
state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 
applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 
chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 
delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 
as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 
employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 
deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

 

 

163

Item 19.



5 
 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 
procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 
connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 
contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 
such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 
into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 
competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not in the performance of this Agreement unlawfully discriminate against any employee or 
applicant for employment because of race, sex, color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, 
disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification 
protected by federal, state, or local law.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 
nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 
the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 
Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 
participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  
Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 
Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 
additional costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums 
yet due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 
order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 
such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 
labor disputes; public health emergency; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or 
referred to in this Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of 
performance by either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any 
claim for damages, if and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 
exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 
party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 
such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 
Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

 

 

164

Item 19.



6 
 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 
City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 
approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 
bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 
Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 
quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 
Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 
shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 
bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 
and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 
behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 
agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 
information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 
submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 
designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 
to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 
endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 
asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 
the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 
employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 
disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 
occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 
debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 
Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 
ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 
confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

165

Item 19.



7 
 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 
for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 
party, or as required by law, or by an order of court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 
confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 
until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 
the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 
entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 
representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 
be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 
and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms.  

 Notice to proceed will occur after the HUD authorization of funds. 

24.1 Additional Exhibits attached as follows: 
  Exhibit B – Insurance Requirements for Goods & Services Contract 
  Exhibit C – Required Federal Contract Language 
 
25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 
provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, AICP_                                        Name: _Brian Schoon, AICP_________ 

Title: Director of Community Development_                                  Title: Executive Director________       __ 

Address: 220 Clay St, Cedar Falls, IA__                                       Address: 229 East Park Avenue, Waterloo, IA 50703 

Telephone: __(319) 268-5151   _______                                       Telephone: (319) 235-0311 Ext. 138  

Email: Stephanie.Sheetz@cedarfalls.com_                                    Email: bschoon@inrcog.org   

 

  

166

Item 19.

mailto:bschoon@inrcog.org


8 
 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 
below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

INRCOG; Brian Schoon, Executive Director of INRCOG___________________ 

By: __________________________________________ 

Its: __________________________________________                    Date: ___________________ 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: __________________________________ 

        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

             Kim Kerr, MMC, City Clerk  

                                 

    

167

Item 19.



    
Exhibit A 

 
Home Investment Partnership (HOME) Program Funding: Project Support 

Federal Fiscal Year 2024 Projects in Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

   
 

SCOPE OF WORK 
HOME GRANT PROJECT DELIVERY FOR FFY 2024 PROJECTS 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA  
 
Overview 
 
The Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments (INRCOG) is proposing to 
complete project delivery to meet the State of Iowa’s requirements related to the Home 
Investment Partnership (HOME) Program allocation of $10,000.00 under which the City 
of Cedar Falls plans to utilize funds to support housing rehabilitation and repair work. 
 
 
Qualifications 
 
Housing Rehabilitation Experience 
 
As a public agency created under Chapter 28E of the Iowa Code, INRCOG serves a six-
county area. The City of Cedar Falls is a member in good standing our staff has built a 
solid relationship with the City’s staff. We are located in close proximity to Cedar Falls 
City Hall and we are very familiar with the community, including its infrastructure, 
services and its elected and appointed officials.   
 
Our agency is proud of the working relationships we have built with numerous federal 
and state departments, as we have administered numerous programs on behalf of our 
local government members. Included amongst those agencies are the US Department of 
Commerce, Economic Development Administration; US Department of Agriculture; 
Federal Highway and Federal Transit Administrations; Federal Emergency Management 
Agency; Iowa Economic Development Authority; Iowa Department of Transportation; 
Iowa Department of Natural Resources; Iowa Homeland Security and Emergency 
Management; and the Iowa Finance Authority. INRCOG also provides staff and 
oversight for several regional bodies including the Black Hawk County Metropolitan 
Transportation Organization; Regional Transportation Authority; Regional Transit 
Commission; Regional Economic Development Commission; and Regional Housing 
Council. Further, our agency has acted as the procurement and fiscal agent for multi-
county emergency management regions. Through our work, our agency has developed 
relationships with several non-profit organizations, including administration of housing-
related grants which involves working directly with several entities such as The Salvation 
Army, Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity, Cedar Valley Friends of the Family, 
Operation Threshold, Exceptional Persons, Inc., Northeast Iowa Area Agency on Aging; 
Northeast Iowa Community Action Corporation; Community Based Services; and House 
of Hope. 

168

Item 19.



 
  HOME Program Services 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
   
 
 
INRCOG has extensive housing rehabilitation and repair experience under the Iowa 
Economic Development Authority’s (IEDA) Housing Rehabilitation and Iowa Finance 
Authority’s (IFA) Local Housing Trust Fund programs.  IEDA’s program is funded 
through the CDBG program, as administered by the US Department of Housing and 
Urban Development, and the IFA program is funded through the State Housing Trust 
Fund. We also have familiarity with the HOME Investment Partnership Program as 
administered by the US Department of Housing and Development. INRCOG has 
administered housing trust fund grants for the Iowa Northland Regional Housing Council 
since 2003 and since 2014 for the Waterloo Housing Trust Fund. Through the trust 
funds, our staff has developed and administered annual homeowner repair programs 
that serve approximately ten individual households per year. In addition to administering 
the individual home improvement programs, INRCOG has managed numerous housing 
acquisition programs, as funded by the Hazard Mitigation Grant and CDBG Programs, 
following disasters in 1993, 1999, 2000, 2008, and 2016. 
 
Our staff writes the grants for these programs for our member local governments and we 
perform all administrative tasks relative to construction, finance, and professional service 
functions associated with the programs.  We have completed all IEDA basic and 
updated trainings associated with administering CDBG funds, specifically those 
associated with environmental assessments, Davis-Bacon (prevailing wage) compliance, 
historical preservation review and approval, Section 3 (hiring practices) compliance, fair 
housing standards, lead-based paint testing and certification, radon testing, and 
contractor procurement. INRCOG is accustomed to developing the necessary contracts, 
developing file and program management techniques, assisting with city audits, 
successfully preparing for and completing IEDA monitoring reviews, conflict mediation, 
financial management, and closeout processes associated with CDBG projects. 
 
Primary INRCOG Staff Members 
The primary contacts for this proposal and program are 

o Brian Schoon, Executive Director (bschoon@inrcog.org); 
o Isaiah Corbin, Director of Development (icorbin@inrcog.org);  
o Cindy Knox, Housing Planner II (cknox@inrcog.org);  

 
Brian Schoon has been employed by INRCOG since September 1991 and is currently 
serving as the Executive Director. He is a member of the American Institute of Certified 
Planners. His responsibilities include supervision, project administration, budget 
oversight, and planning functions associated with INRCOG’s housing, planning, and 
economic development efforts, including numerous CDBG projects funded by the Iowa 
Economic Development Authority (IEDA).  Schoon oversaw the Iowa Northland Regional 
Housing Council and its local Housing Trust Funds and staffed the Waterloo Housing 
Trust Fund and its financial programs. He is currently providing planning services to the 
City, including updating the Consolidated and Annual Action Plans related to its current 
HUD CDBG Entitlement Program. Schoon has a bachelor’s degree in landscape design 
from South Dakota State University and a Masters’ degree in Community and Regional 
Planning from Iowa State University. 
 
 

169

Item 19.

mailto:bschoon@inrcog.org
mailto:icorbin@inrcog.org
mailto:cknox@inrcog.org


 
  HOME Program Services 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
   
 
Isaiah Corbin became employed with INRCOG in January of 2021 as Community 
Planner II. He has a Bachelor of Arts degree in Political Science from Wartburg College 
as well as a Master of Public Policy degree from the University of Northern Iowa. In his 
role as planner, he has been responsible for a wide range of federal and state grants 
including CDBG, BRIC, and EDA awards. Isaiah has been responsible for the 
development of several plans, including the recent CEDS Plan for INREDC. Since 2023, 
he has taken the role of Director of Development which includes project administration 
and planning efforts for community and economic development, housing, and waste 
management. Prior to his role at INRCOG, he worked in the nonprofit arena at a local 
hospital and University. 
 
Cindy Knox has worked as a housing program specialist for INRCOG for 17 years. 
Knox has administered nearly two dozen CDBG housing rehab programs, as well as 
other housing programs awarded to our member communities from the US Department 
of Agriculture, Federal Home Loan Bank, and Iowa Finance Authority. She has managed 
homebuyer and down-payment assistance programs; housing inspection programs; and 
emergency and rural repair programs for our regional Housing Council. Knox is a 
Certified Lead-Based Paint Sampling Technician and has knowledge of Iowa Minimum 
Housing and Housing Quality Standards. Knox has a bachelor’s degree in design and 
the Human Environment from the University of Northern Iowa. 
 
Description of Technical Services, Grant Administration, and Organizational 
Capacity 
 
INRCOG, through its existing staff, will complete project delivery to meet the HOME 
Program requirements to spend funds allocated to the City.  
 
INRCOG will provide general and technical administrative services, as well as expense 
and monitoring services associated with the contracted programs. 
 
INRCOG will present any necessary approvals or reports to City staff.  Further, as the 
HOME subrecipient, the City will be responsible for obtaining reimbursement for all 
expenses under this proposal with INRCOG assisting with obtaining said 
reimbursements. Likewise, INRCOG will assist the City with any necessary HOME 
reports, as requested. 
 
  

170

Item 19.



 
  HOME Program Services 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
   
 
Budget 
 
INRCOG is prepared to offer the project delivery services for a not-to-exceed price for 
each unit or task completed during the City fiscal year, as outlined below.  Said project 
delivery expenses will be billed on an hourly basis, using rates that will be defined in the 
contract between the City and INRCOG. 
 

o General Administration of INRCOG HOME Projects (1 unit) 
o INRCOG: $5,500 

o Environmental Record Review for Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity 
HOME Project (As outlined in the City of Cedar Fall’s Community Housing 
Development Organization (CHDO) Contract with the City of Waterloo and 
Iowa Heartland Habitat for Humanity (1 unit) 

o INRCOG Expense: $4,500 

 
If accepted by the City, INRCOG is willing to negotiate a contract utilizing the City’s 
standard agreement.  INRCOG currently meets the City’s insurance requirements and 
has attached a certificate as evidence.   
 
As with prior contracts, INRCOG will provide monthly invoices to the City for services 
provided by our staff.  Services covered by the agreement will be assigned an individual, 
unique program number through which expenses will be tracked and monitored within 
INRCOG’s monthly financial reports and annual independent audit.  INRCOG shall make 
all financial records available to the City upon request. 
 
Time of Performance 
Work under this proposal would begin upon execution of an agreement and completion 
would be no later than June 30, 2025.  INRCOG may propose an extension to the 
negotiated agreement, in the event it is unable to complete the services defined above.  
Accordingly, the completion date may be extended for a period of up to six (6) months 
upon written request of INRCOG documenting a good faith effort to complete 
performance in a timely manner. 
 
Project Review 
At least annually, but not later than May 1, 2025, during the contract timeframe, the City 
and INRCOG will meet to review INRCOG’s performance with regard to the services 
provided to the City.  Extending the existing agreement for future years(s) may also be 
discussed at that time. 
  

171

Item 19.



EXHIBIT “B” 

 
 

    
Exhibit B 

 
 

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) Funding Project Support for 
Federal Fiscal Year 2024 Services for Projects in Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
   

  
01-19-2022 

 
 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 
FOR GOODS & SERVICES 

FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 

 
This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who perform work 
for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “Contractor” as used in this document shall be 
defined as the general contractor, artisan contractor, or design contractor that will be 
performing work for the City of Cedar Falls under contract.  The term “Agreement” herein 
shall mean the agreement of which this Exhibit forms a part.  
 
 

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized 
by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be issued by 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   

 
2. The Contractor shall obtain and maintain through the term of the Agreement, 

insurance with the terms set forth in this Exhibit and with limits of coverage equal 
to or in excess of those set forth on Pages 3-4 of this Exhibit.  By requiring the 
insurance as set forth in this Exhibit the City does not represent that coverage or 
limits will necessarily be adequate to protect Contractor’s interests and such 
coverage and limits shall not be deemed a limitation on Contractor’s liability 
under the Agreement or under the indemnity provisions of this Exhibit.  The City 
shall have the right at any time to require liability insurance with greater coverage 
than that otherwise specified herein.   

 
3. Coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form. All deviations 

or exclusions from the standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 
shall be clearly identified and shall be subject to the review and approval of the 
City. 

 
 

4. Contractor shall maintain ongoing Commercial General Liability coverage for at 
least 2 years following substantial completion of the work, under the Agreement, 

172

Item 19.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
to cover liability arising from the products-completed operations hazard and 
liability assumed under an insured contract. 

 
5. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not contain 

the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially similar 
clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 

6. Certificate of Insurance: Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of 
Insurance, with accompanying endorsements, to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa for 
the coverage required herein. See Pages 6-12 of this Exhibit.  

 
A. Upon request by the City, Contractor shall provide Certificates of 

Insurance for all subcontractors and sub-sub-contractors who perform 
work or services pursuant to the provisions of the Agreement. 

 
B. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 

Cancellation & Material Changes Endorsement.   
 

7. Termination: Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver 
of these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure of the Contractor to 
obtain or maintain the required insurance shall be considered a material breach 
of the Agreement, and at City’s option, shall allow City to terminate the 
Agreement for cause and/or purchase said insurance at Contractor’s expense. 

 
 

  

173

Item 19.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
8. Insurance Limits 

 
A. Commercial General Liability 
 
The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a primary and non-
contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of subrogation endorsement 
in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
Fire Damage (any one occurrence) $100,000  
Medical Payments $5,000  
Personal & Advertising Injury $1,000,000  
General Aggregate $2,000,000  
Products-Completed Operations Aggregate $2,000,000  

 
Required Endorsements - sample endorsements Pages 7-11 of this Exhibit 
Blanket or Scheduled Additional Insured  
Owners, Lessees or Contractors - Scheduled Person or 
Organization 

CG 20 10 12 19         
or Equivalent 

Additional Insured - Owners, Lessees or Contractors - 
Completed Operations 

CG 20 37 12 19           
or Equivalent 

Governmental Immunity                                     
(Nonwaiver of Government Immunity -                    
Code of Iowa §670.4) 

Equivalent to sample 
on Page 7 of this 
Exhibit. 

Designated Construction Project(S) General Aggregate 
Limit (if applicable) 

CG 25 03 05 09         
or Equivalent 

 
 
B. Automobile Liability 
 
Coverage is required for non-owned and hired vehicles, if the Contractor does 
not own any vehicles.  The City shall be named as Additional Insured on a 
primary and non-contributory basis.  The policy will include waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Bodily Injury & Property Damage (each accident) $1,000,000  (CSL) 
Hired & Non-Owned Autos  If required 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

174

Item 19.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
C. Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability  
 
As required by any applicable law or regulation.  The policy will include waiver 
of subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls. 
 

Workers' Compensation Statutory Limits 
Bodily Injury Each Accident $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Policy Limit $500,000  
Bodily Injury by Disease Each Employee $500,000  

 
 
D. Umbrella/Excess Liability 
 
If the umbrella/excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the 
same endorsement as required of the primary policies including but not 
limited to additional insured on a primary and non-contributory, and waiver of 
subrogation endorsement in favor of the City of Cedar Falls.   
 

Each Occurrence $3,000,000  
Aggregate $3,000,000  

 
 
E. Errors & Omissions/Professional Liability 
 
If the Agreement’s scope of services includes design work or other 
professional consultation services, then Contractor shall maintain insurance 
coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions (except 
for intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services 
performed by Contractor. Contractor shall maintain continuous Errors & 
Omissions coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of the 
Agreement, and continuing for a period of no less than 2 years from the date 
of completion of all work completed or services performed under the 
Agreement. 
 

Each Occurrence $1,000,000  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

175

Item 19.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
ENDORSEMENTS 

 
 

ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 
 
The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its 
employees, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and their board members, are 
included as Additional Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 20 10 12 19 or 
equivalent, and completed operations CG 20 37 12 19 or equivalent. See specimens on 
Pages 9-10 of this Exhibit. 
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing with any 
other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, whether other 
available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
_______________________________ 

 
GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 

(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 
 
1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees and 
states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of governmental immunity 
available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now 
exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of governmental 
immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be 
amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so at any 
time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance carrier. Nothing 
contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from asserting the defense of 
governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under 
this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits 
accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of governmental 
immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the 
defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall not otherwise 
change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 
 

176

Item 19.



CDBG Entitlement Housing Services 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

 
CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, Reduction in 
coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-payment of premium shall 
be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement supersedes the standard cancellation 
statement on the Certificate of Insurance to which this endorsement is attached.  
Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 days advance written notice of 
cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance 
written notice of non-payment of premium. 

 
 

________________________________ 
 
 
 

WAIVER OF TRANSFER OF RIGHTS 
OF RECOVERY AGAINST OTHERS TO US  

(Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement) 
 
To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby releases the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its directors, employees, and agents working 
on behalf of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or 
responsibility to the Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by 
way of subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s employees. This 
provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with respect to loss or 
damage occurring during the time of the Agreement or arising out of the work performed 
under the Agreement. The Contractor’s policies of insurance (except for Professional 
Liability) shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 

177

Item 19.



   
Exhibit C 

Required Federal Contract Language 

All project contracts shall contain at a minimum the following provisions, as appropriate. 
    
ALL CONTRACTS 

1. Access and Maintenance of Records 

The contractor must maintain all required records for five years after final payments are made and 
all other pending matters are closed. 

At any time during normal business hours and as frequently as is deemed necessary, the contractor 
shall make available to the Iowa Economic Development Authority, the State Auditor, the General 
Accounting Office, and the Department of Housing and Urban Development, for their examination, all 
of its records pertaining to all matters covered by this contract and permit these agencies to audit, 
examine, make excerpts or transcripts from such records, contract, invoices, payrolls, personnel 
records, conditions of employment, and all other matters covered by this contract. 

2. Civil Rights 

The Contractor must comply with the following laws and regulations: 
• Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 (P.L. 88-352). 

States that no person may be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 
subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal financial 
assistance on the basis of race, color, or national origin. 

 
• Title VIII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968 (Fair Housing Act), as amended. 

 
• Federal Executive Order 11063, as amended by Executive Order 12259 

Equal Opportunity Housing 
 
• Iowa Civil Rights Act of 1965. 

This Act mirrors the Federal Civil Rights Act. 
 
• Section 109 of Title I of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1974, as amended (42 

U.S.C. 5309). 
Provides that no person shall be excluded from participation in, denied the benefits of, or 
subjected to discrimination on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, or handicap 
under any program or activity funded in part or in whole under Title I of the Act. 

 
• The Age Discrimination Act of 1975, as amended (42 U.S.C. 1601 et seq.) 

Provides that no person on the basis of age, be excluded from participation in, be denied the 
benefits of or be subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving Federal 
financial assistance. 

 
  

178

Item 19.



Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 2 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

• Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, as amended (P.L. 93-112, 29 U.S.C. 794). 
Provides that no otherwise qualified individual shall solely by reason of his/her handicap be 
excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be discriminated against under 
any program or activity receiving Federal financial assistance. 

 
• Americans with Disabilities Act (P.L. 101-336, 42 U.S.C. 12101-12213) 

Provides comprehensive civil rights to individuals with disabilities in the areas of 
employment, public accommodations, state and local government services, and 
telecommunications. 

• Section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968, as amended (12 U.S.C. 1701u). 
 

The purpose of section 3 of the Housing and Urban Development Act of 1968 ( 12 U.S.C. 
1701u) (section 3) is to ensure that employment and other economic opportunities generated 
by certain HUD financial assistance shall, to the greatest extent feasible, and consistent with 
existing Federal, State and local laws and regulations, be directed to low- and very low-
income persons, particularly those who are recipients of government assistance for housing, 
and to business concerns which provide economic opportunities to low- and very low-income 
persons. 

 
3. Termination Clause 

All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain a termination clause that specifies the following: 
• Under what conditions the clause may be imposed. 
• The form the termination notice must take (e.g., certified letter). 
• The time frame required between the notice of termination and its effective date. 
• The method used to compute the final payment(s) to the contractor. 

 
4. Certification regarding government-wide restriction on lobbying. 

All contracts utilizing CDBG funds must contain the following certification concerning restriction of 
lobbying: 

"The Recipient certifies, to the best of his or her knowledge and belief, that: 
i. No Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid, by or on behalf of the 

Recipient, to any person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of 
any agency, a Member of Congress, an officer or employee of Congress, or an employee of a 
Member of Congress in connection with the awarding of any Federal contract, the making of 
any Federal grant, the making of any Federal loan, the entering into of any cooperative 
agreement, and the extension, continuation, renewal, amendment, or modification of any 
Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement. 

ii. If any funds other than Federal appropriated funds have been paid or will be paid to any 
person for influencing or attempting to influence an officer or employee of any agency, a 
Member of Congress, an officer or employee, or an employee of a Member of congress in 
connection with this Federal contract, grant, loan, or cooperative agreement, the Recipient 
shall complete and submit Standard Form-LLL, "Disclosure Form to Report Federal 
Lobbying" in accordance with its instruction. 

iii. The Recipient shall require that the language of this certification be included in the award 
documents for all subawards at all tiers (including subcontracts, subgrants, and contracts 
under grants, loans, and cooperative agreements) and that all subrecipients shall certify and 
disclose accordingly. 

 
This certification is a material representation of fact upon which reliance was placed when this 
transaction was made or entered into.  Submission of this certification is a prerequisite for making or 

179

Item 19.

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=5b93c604f1f17967087eac820a6d3ba3&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/1701u
https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/12/1701u
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=b53c4a715f555ddaf4130860d7e71119&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=5aee72c6cc23ba8dd9abbd1a7d08a45d&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/index.php?width=840&amp;height=800&amp;iframe=true&amp;def_id=bea258cd28a425ab5cd326b7daa383e8&amp;term_occur=1&amp;term_src=Title%3A24%3ASubtitle%3AB%3AChapter%3AI%3ASubchapter%3AB%3APart%3A135%3ASubpart%3AA%3A135.1


Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 3 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

entering into this transaction imposed by section 1352, title 31, U.S. Code. Any person who fails to 
file the required certification shall be subject to a civil penalty of not less than $10,000 and not more 
than $100,000 for each such failure." 
 

 
5. Lead-Safe Housing Regulations (As applicable) 

24 CFR Part 35 et. al. 
Requirements for Notification, Evaluation and Reduction of Lead-Based Paint Hazards in Federally 
Owned Residential Properties and Housing Receiving Federal Assistance, Final Rule 

 
 
6. Recycled Materials 

The contractor agrees to comply with all the requirements of Code of Iowa chapter 8A.315-317 and 
Iowa Administrative Code chapter 11-117.6(5) — Recycled Product and Content. 

 
 
ALL CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $10,000 

Federal Executive Orders 11246 and 11375: 
Provides that no one be discriminated in employment. 

 
"During the performance of this contract, the contractor agrees as follows: 
(1) The contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment 

because of race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. The contractor will take affirmative 
action to ensure that applicants are employed, and that employees are treated during 
employment, without regard to their race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. Such action 
shall include, but not be limited to the following: employment, upgrading, demotion, or 
transfer; recruitment or recruitment advertising; layoff or termination; rates of pay or other 
forms of compensation; and selection for training, including apprenticeship. The contractor 
agrees to post in conspicuous places, available to employees and applicants for 
employment, notices to be provided by the contracting officer setting forth the provisions of 
this nondiscrimination clause. 

(2) The contractor will, in all solicitations or advertisements for employees placed by or on 
behalf of the contractor, state that all qualified applicants will receive consideration for 
employment without regard to race, color, religion, sex, or national origin. 

(3) The contractor will send to each labor union or representative of workers with which he has a 
collective bargaining agreement or other contract or understanding, a notice, to be provided by 
the agency contracting officer, advising the labor union or workers' representative of the 
contractor's commitments under Section 202 of the Executive Order No. 11246 of September 
24, 1965, and shall post copies of the notice in conspicuous places available to employees 
and applicants for employment. 

(4) The contractor will comply with all provisions of Executive Order No. 11246 of September 
24, 1965, and of the rules, regulations, and relevant orders of the Secretary of Labor. 

(5) The contractor will furnish all information and reports required by Executive Order No. 11246 
of September 24, 1965, and by the rules, regulations, and orders of the Secretary of Labor, or 
pursuant thereto, and will permit access to his books, records, and accounts by the 
contracting agency and the Secretary of Labor for purposes of investigation to ascertain 
compliance with such rules, regulations, and orders. 

(6) In the event of the contractor's non-compliance with the nondiscrimination clause of this 
contract or with any of such rules, regulations, or orders, this contract may be canceled, 

180

Item 19.



Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 4 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

terminated or suspended in whole or in part and the contractor may be declared ineligible for 
further Government contracts in accordance with procedures authorized in Executive Order 
No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, and such other sanctions may be imposed and remedies 
invoked as provided in Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, or by rule, 
regulation, or order of the Secretary of Labor, or as otherwise provided by law. 

(7) The contractor will include the provisions of Paragraphs (1) through (7) in every subcontract 
or purchase order unless exempted by rules, regulations, or orders of the Secretary of Labor 
issued pursuant to Section 204 of Executive Order No. 11246 of September 24, 1965, so that 
such provisions will be binding upon each subcontractor or vendor.  The contractor will 
take such action with respect to any subcontract or purchase order as the contracting agency 
may direct as a means of enforcing such provisions including sanctions for noncompliance: 
Provided, however, that in the event the contractor becomes involved in, or is threatened 
with, litigation with a subcontractor or vendor as a result of such direction by the contracting 
agency, the contractor may request the United States to enter into such litigation to protect 
the interests of the United States. 

 
 
ALL CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $100,000 

 

Clean Air and Water Acts: 
 
• Section 306 of the Clean Air Acts (42 U.S.C. 1857(h)). 
• Section 508 of the Clean Water Act (33 U.S.C. 1368). 
• Executive Order 11738. Providing administration of the Clean Air and Water Acts 

 
Clean Air and Water Acts - required clauses: 
This clause is required in all third party contracts involving projects subject to the Clean Air Act (42 
U.S.C. 1857 et seq.), the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 1251 et seq.), and the 
regulations of the Environmental Protection Agency with respect to 40 CFR Part 15, as amended. It 
should also be mentioned in the bid document. 

During the performance of this contract, the CONTRACTOR agrees as follows: 
(1) The CONTRACTOR will certify that any facility to be utilized in the performance of any 

nonexempt contract or subcontract is not listed on the Excluded Party Listing System 
pursuant to 40 CFR 32. 

(2) The CONTRACTOR agrees to comply with all the requirements of Section 114 of the Clean 
Air Act, as amended, (42 U.S.C. 1857c-8) and Section 308 of the Federal Water Pollution 
Control Act, as amended (33 U.S.C. 1318) relating to inspection, monitoring, entry, reports, 
and information, as well as all other requirements specified in said Section 114 and Section 
308, and all regulations and guidelines issued thereunder. 

(3) The CONTRACTOR agrees that as a condition for the award of the contract, prompt notice 
will be given of any notification received from the Director, Office of Federal Activities, 
Environmental Protection Agency, indicating that a facility utilized or to be utilized for the 
contract is under consideration to be listed on the Excluded Party Listing System. 

(4) The CONTRACTOR agrees that it will include or cause to be included the criteria and 
requirements in Paragraph (1) through (4) of this section in every nonexempt subcontract 
and require every subcontractor to take such action as the Government may direct as a 
means of enforcing such provisions. 

 
  

181

Item 19.



Source: IOWA 2018 CDBG MANAGEMENT GUIDE – APPENDIX 2 PAGE: 5 

 
CDBG Entitlement Housing Services  

Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 

 

ALL CONSTRUCTION CONTRACTS IN EXCESS OF $2,000 

Federal Labor Standards 

In addition to the preceding provisions, all construction contracts in excess of $2,000 must include 
the Federal Labor Standards Provisions (verbatim) found in Appendix 2 under Required Contract 
Provisions. (Housing rehabilitation contracts of less than 8 units are excluded from this 
requirement.) 

Federal Labor Standards Provisions (verbatim) found in Appendix 2, including: 
• Davis-Bacon and Related Acts 
• Contract Work Hours and Safety Standard Act 
• Copeland Anti-kickback Act  

182

Item 19.



The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

© 1988-2014 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.
ACORD 25 (2014/01)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

CANCELLATION

DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

LOCJECT
PRO-POLICY

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

OCCURCLAIMS-MADE

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

PREMISES (Ea occurrence) $
DAMAGE TO RENTED
EACH OCCURRENCE $

MED EXP (Any one person) $

PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $

GENERAL AGGREGATE $

PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $

$RETENTIONDED

CLAIMS-MADE

OCCUR

$

AGGREGATE $

EACH OCCURRENCE $UMBRELLA LIAB

EXCESS LIAB

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

INSR
LTR TYPE OF INSURANCE POLICY NUMBER

POLICY EFF
(MM/DD/YYYY)

POLICY EXP
(MM/DD/YYYY) LIMITS

PER
STATUTE

OTH-
ER

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

$

$

$

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below

(Mandatory in NH)
OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?

WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY Y / N

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

ANY AUTO
ALL OWNED SCHEDULED

HIRED AUTOS
NON-OWNED

AUTOS AUTOS

AUTOS

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

BODILY INJURY (Per accident)
PROPERTY DAMAGE $

$

$

$

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

INSD
ADDL

WVD
SUBR

N / A

$

$

(Ea accident)

(Per accident)

OTHER:

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.
IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must be endorsed.  If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to
the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on this certificate does not confer rights to the
certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:

INSURED

PHONE
(A/C, No, Ext):

PRODUCER

ADDRESS:
E-MAIL

FAX
(A/C, No):

CONTACT
NAME:

NAIC #

INSURER A :

INSURER B :

INSURER C :

INSURER D :

INSURER E :

INSURER F :

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

6/24/2024

PDCM Insurance
P.O. Box 2597
Waterloo IA 50704

Paige Shanks
319-234-8888 319-234-7702

pshanks@pdcm.com

Philadelphia Ins. Companies
IOWANOR-02 IMWCA

Iowa Northland Regional Council of Governments
229 E. Park Avenue
Waterloo IA 50703

* XL Insurance

273218342

A X 1,000,000
X 100,000

5,000

1,000,000

2,000,000

X

Y Y PHPK2561686 7/1/2024 7/1/2025

2,000,000

A 1,000,000
X

XX

Y Y PHPK2561686 7/1/2024 7/1/2025

A X X 4,000,000

10,000

Y PHUB866689

X
4,000,000

7/1/2024 7/1/2025

B 0640 7/1/2024 7/1/2025 X
5,000,000

5,000,000

5,000,000
A
C

Professional Liability
Public Officials E&O/EPL

PHPK2561686
POL0950362

7/1/2024
7/1/2024

7/1/2025
7/1/2025

Ea Incident/Aggregate
Ea Claim/Aggregate

1000000/2000000
3000000/3000000

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and
their board members, employees and volunteers are an Additional insured on the general liability policy on a primary and non-contributory basis. Governmental
Immunities Endorsement and 30 Day Notice of Cancellation Endorsement are included. Waiver of Subrogation applies under General Liability.

City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls IA 50613

183

Item 19.



PI-MANU-1 (01/00) 
 

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY.  PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY

 
 

All other terms and conditions of this Policy remain unchanged.  

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT

(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured)

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly agrees

and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of

Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the

defenses of governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

under Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended

from time to time.

2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of

insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of

governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists

and as it may be amended from time to time.

3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be

responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do

so at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the

insurance carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the

carrier from asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.

4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage

under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights

and benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for

reasons of governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent

jurisdiction has ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity

asserted by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.

Page 1 of 1

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT

184

Item 19.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

TOURISM AND CULTURAL PROGRAMS 
6510 HUDSON ROAD 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PH: 319-268-4266 

MEMORANDUM 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 FROM: Jennifer Pickar 

 DATE: August 7, 2024 

 SUBJECT: Agreement with Scott Easton Design for 2025 Visitor Guide Design 
  
Attached please find a contract to work with Scott Easton Design to provide graphic 
design services for the 2025 Cedar Falls Visitor Guide. 
 
The contract is for $5,000 to design and layout a 48 page, plus 4 page cover 
publication. Scott Easton design was selected due to the quality of portfolio and 
competitive pricing. He successfully worked with tourism staff on the 2024 Cedar Falls 
Visitor Guide. 
 
 
Staff recommends approval. 
Best regards.  
 
 
Cc: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Community Development Director 
 

185

Item 20.



 
 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

City of Cedar Falls & Scott Easton Design / Graphic Design Services 

 

This Agreement is by and between Scott Easton Design (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“City”), and 

is to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of the services and/or products provided or supplied by Contractor as 

defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 

authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 

Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 

presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 

work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 

not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 

warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 

required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 

Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 

Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 

approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 

under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 

third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 

the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 

provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 

full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 

Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor 50% of 

contracted amount upon signing and 50% of contracted amount upon project completion.  The maximum amount of 

all payments for Services shall be the amount of $5,000, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in 

Section 1.2, in which case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum. The name and address of the Contractor, the 

186

Item 20.



 
 
 

invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 

or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “A”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 

provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 

on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving seven (7) days 

written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 

faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 

services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 

(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 

Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 

property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 

and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 

City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 

rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 

other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 

of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 

and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 

providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 

information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 

years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 

Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 

inspection by the City or designee.  

5.0.       Term and Termination. 

5.1.       The term of this Agreement shall commence on the effective date and end on June 30, 2025 unless earlier 

terminated under the terms of this Agreement. 

187

Item 20.



 
 
 

5.2        The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 

Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 

before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 

prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 

is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 

approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 

from the Contractor. 

5.3.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 

other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 

initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 

standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 

component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 

meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 

the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 

days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 

satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 

Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 

as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 

acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 

remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 

availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 

Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 

any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 

entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 

City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 

privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 

Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 

dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

188

Item 20.



 
 
 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 

all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 

payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 

continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 

incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 

mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 

mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification and Hold Harmless. 

9.1.       To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor (for purposes of this Section 9.0, includes employees, 

subcontractors, agents and others working on behalf of Contractor under this Agreement) agrees to defend (for all 

non-professional claims), indemnify, and hold harmless the City (for purposes of this Section 9.0 includes elected and 

appointed officials, employees, and agents working on behalf of the City) against any and all claims, demands, suits 

or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for damages, which may be asserted, 

claimed or recovered against or from the City, including, but not limited to, damages arising by reason of personal 

injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damage, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 

associated with the work and/or services provided by the Contractor to the City under this Agreement, to the extent 

caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the Contractor.  

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 

or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement.  Such duty also includes damage, loss or injury to the City or City property. 

9.3.       Contractor expressly assumes full responsibility for loss, expense, damages or injuries which may result to 

the Contractor by reason of or in connection with the work and/or services provided by Contractor under this 

Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of the errors, omissions, negligent or intentional acts of the 

Contractor. 

9.4.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 

member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 

suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “B” 

unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived:  None, per Risk Management Committee policy on virtual or remote consultant 

services _ , Director of Community Development (Signature and title of authorized City 

employee or officer) 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations and shall make reasonable efforts to ensure that its 

189

Item 20.



 
 
 

employees, agents, subcontractors and others working on behalf of the Contractor under this Agreement do the 

same. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 

employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 

deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 

procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 

connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 

contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 

such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 

into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex, 

color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where 

age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational 

disqualification.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 

the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 

Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 

participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  

Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 

Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 

excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums yet 

due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 

order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 

such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 

labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to in this 

Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of performance by 

either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if 

and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

190

Item 20.



 
 
 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 

exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 

party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 

such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 

Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 

City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 

approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 

bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 

quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 

Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 

shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 

bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 

and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 

agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 

information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 

submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 

designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 

to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 

endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 

asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 

the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 

employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 

disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 

occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

  

191

Item 20.



 
 
 

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 

confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 

for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 

party, or as required by law, or by an order of a court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 

confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 

until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 

entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 

representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 

be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 

and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 

provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name:   Jennifer Pickar Name:  Scott Easton Design 
Title:   Tourism & Cultural Programs Manager Title:   Owner 
Address:  6510 Hudson Rd Address: 1221 Main Street 
 Cedar Falls, IA 50613  Center Point, IA 52213 
Telephone: 319-268-4266                                              Telephone: 319-551-6420 
Email: Jennifer.pickar@cedarfalls.com                                        Email: scott.easton.design@gmail.com 
 

 

192

Item 20.



In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 

below. 

CONTRACTOR 

Scott Easton Design 

By: __________________________________________ 

Its: __________________________________________    Date: ___________________ 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By: __________________________________ 
        Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

Attest: ________________________________    Date: _____________________ 
    Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

Graphic Designer 8/7/24

193

Item 20.

scotteaston
Stamp



 
 
 

Exhibit A 
Scope of Services & Compensation 

 

 

 

194

Item 20.



195

Item 21.



196

Item 21.



197

Item 21.



198

Item 21.



199

Item 21.



200

Item 21.



201

Item 21.



202

Item 21.



203

Item 21.



204

Item 21.



205

Item 21.



206

Item 21.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Inspection Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor and Council 

 FROM: Jamie Castle; AIA, CBO 
  Building Official  

 DATE: August 12, 2024 

SUBJECT: Falls Aquatic Center Water Heater Replacement 
 
On August 9, 2024, three bids were submitted for the replacement of the Falls Aquatic 
Center Water Heaters.  The low bid was submitted by Plumb Tech Inc. for $29,138.00. 
The work is to be completed during the pool off-season with a completion date of no 
later than March 14, 2025.  We are asking for approval to move forward with a fully 
executed contract. 
 
xc: Stephanie Sheetz, Community Development Director 

207

Item 22.



208

Item 22.



209

Item 22.



210

Item 22.



211

Item 22.



212

Item 22.



213

Item 22.



214

Item 22.



215

Item 22.



Exhibit A 

Scope of Services & Payment Terms 

 

Furnish materials and labor to replace 4 Rinnai boilers with 2 Navien NFB-399C boilers at 
the Falls Aquatic Center.  This work will include a new boiler loop, spiral vent, water 
sensors, isolation valves, and fresh air and exhaust venting.  The contractor will submit the 
“advance notice of boiler installation” to the state.  The Contractor will obtain a mechanical 
permit from the City of Cedar Falls and have the required inspections. 

 

The cost to complete this work is $29,138.00, payable upon completion & passed 
inspection. 

216

Item 22.



217

Item 23.



218

Item 23.



219

Item 23.



220

Item 23.



221

Item 23.



222

Item 23.



223

Item 23.



224

Item 23.



225

Item 23.



226

Item 23.



227

Item 23.



228

Item 23.



229

Item 23.



230

Item 23.



231

Item 23.



232

Item 23.



233

Item 23.



234

Item 23.



235

Item 23.



236

Item 23.



237

Item 23.



238

Item 23.



239

Item 23.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 
 DATE: August 12, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: 2025-2026 Sturgis Falls Agreement 
   
 
Over the past several months City Staff has been talking with new group and formulating a new 
agreement for future years of Sturgis Falls. Staff has been working directly with Sturgis Falls 
Entertainment Group on the logistics. 
 
This agreement has minor changes from past agreements. These changes were intended to 
provide clear understanding to both parties. The attached proposed agreement includes a 
two(2) year term that outlines the specific areas in the parks that will be used by the Sturgis 
Falls Entertainment group; these include Overman Park, Tourist Park, Island Park, Gateway 
Park, Police Officer’s Memorial Park, and a portion of Sturgis Park. The agreement outlines the 
sole use for the listed parks above to be only the last weekend in June each year. This 
agreement will run for two(2) years beginning April 2, 2025 and ending August 15, 2026.   
 
The City at its sole discretion may terminate the agreement at anytime without cause by 
providing nine (9) months advance notice. 
 
I have attached the Sturgis Falls Entertainment Group proposed agreement for review and 
consideration.  
 
The existing contract with Sturgis Fall Inc. is set to expire on April 1, 2025. In order for the 
Sturgis Falls Entertainment Group to have enough time for booking entertainment, vendors, etc, 
City staff recommends approval of the attached agreement. 
  
 

  

240

Item 24.



STURGIS FALLS ENTERTAINMENT GROUP, INC.  
AGREEMENT FOR USE OF CITY PARKS AND SERVICES 

 
 This Agreement is made and entered into this _____ day of ________________, 
2024, by and between the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (hereinafter called “CITY,”) and 
Sturgis Falls Entertainment Group, Inc., an Iowa non-profit corporation, (hereinafter 
called “SFEG”). 
 
 WHEREAS, SFEG is engaged in providing a variety of events, activities, and 
entertainment in Cedar Falls, Iowa, called the Sturgis Falls Celebration (hereinafter 
called the "Celebration"), during the last Thursday, Friday, Saturday and Sunday of 
June (hereinafter the “Celebration Weekend”) each year, requiring the use of various 
City Parks, public properties, and public services, and the CITY and SFEG desire to 
identify and establish the various responsibilities of SFEG and the CITY, and the terms 
and conditions under which the Celebration shall take place each year, and  
 
 WHEREAS, the public interest and welfare will be served by identifying the 
responsibilities of both parties. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants, promises and 
agreements hereinafter set forth, it is agreed by and between the parties hereto as 
follows: 
 

1. SFEG will have exclusive use of the following CITY parks during the 
Celebration Weekend for each year of this Agreement: Overman Park, Tourist 
Park, Island Park, Gateway Park, Police Officer’s Memorial Park, Sturgis 
Park, including the portion of Sturgis Park located south of the railroad tracks.  
This includes the park shelters and Beach House, together with the grounds 
located inside of the fence (if present), the Gateway Celebration Shelter and 
the Overman Park Bandshell, all for the Celebration Weekend. 

 
2. SFEG shall have exclusive use of these parks and their respective facilities 

and structures with the exception of the following: Bennington Little Red 
Schoolhouse, Behrens-Rapp Gas Station. 

 
3.  SFEG may begin setting up facilities and fencing on Thursday, a week prior 

to the Celebration Weekend, in Overman Park, Police Officers Memorial and 
portions of Sturgis Park with the prior approval of the Director of Public 
Works.  SFEG may begin setting up trailers in Gateway Park thirty (30) days 
prior to Celebration Weekend and fencing fourteen (14) days prior to 
Celebration Weekend, with the prior approval of the Director of Public Works. 
The carnival in Gateway Park may begin setting up facilities and equipment 
on the Monday prior to the Celebration Weekend. All street closures shall be 
cleaned up and open to traffic by 5:00 pm on Monday following the 
Celebration Weekend. All equipment, vehicles, structures, and other property 
must be removed from Gateway Park, Overman Park, Island Park, Police 
Officer’s Memorial Park, and Sturgis Park within fourteen (14) days following 
the Celebration Weekend unless an extension is approved by the Director of 
Public Works. If all such removal has not been completed by the stated 
deadline, or by the deadline as extended, the CITY will remove or cause to 

241

Item 24.



be removed any of the above aforementioned items still remaining, including, 
but not limited to, equipment, vehicles and structures, and assess the cost 
thereof to SFEG, to be paid by SFEG to the City or to the City’s designee 
within thirty (30) days of the date of billing. SFEG shall return all items 
borrowed from all City Parks and Shelters no later than 9:00 pm on the 
Tuesday following the Celebration Weekend.    

 
                4.   The CITY grants SFEG the privileges included in this agreement, subject to 

performance by SFEG of its obligations as provided herein, beginning April 
2, 2025, and ending August 15, 2026, which includes the following rights and 
privileges: 

 
   A. The use of City parks and facilities as described in paragraphs 1 and 

2 of this Agreement. 
 

   B. The use of other public property and the streets of the City for 
Celebration activities only by prior written approval of the Police 
Chief, in the sole discretion of the Police Chief.   

 
   C. The use of City dumpsters located in the City parks and facilities 

described in paragraphs 1 and 2, with all trash to be removed by 
CITY Staff, and with all overtime costs incurred by and tipping fees 
charged to the CITY to be reimbursed to the CITY by SFEG.  All 
arrangements for garbage removal must be approved in advance by 
the Director of Public Works.  SFC may contract refuse removal 
with a reputable private contractor reasonably acceptable to the 
CITY, at SFEG’s sole cost and expense. 

 
   D. SFEG will continue to coordinate with the Director of Public Works 

for the use of street barricades and picnic tables annually during the 
Celebration Weekend. 

 
   E. The CITY agrees not to issue any beer or wine permits or liquor 

control licenses to any other groups or individuals for the parks or 
public properties specified in paragraphs 1 and 2 of this Agreement 
during the Celebration Weekend. 

 
5.   CITY and SFEG acknowledge that a key component of the concept of the 

Sturgis Falls Celebration is that it is a community-wide event that is free and 
open to the members of the general public without admission charge.  CITY 
and SFEG agree to cooperate with the goal of keeping the Celebration 
Weekend open to all members of the general public at no charge, for as long 
as that is possible.  CITY agrees to allow SFEG to use the CITY's public 
parks, grounds, and other public areas and facilities without charge as 
provided in this Agreement, for as long as SFEG does not impose any 
charge upon members of the general public for admission to the events of 
the Celebration.  The term, "admission charge," as used in this Agreement, 
shall not include charges for purchase of food, drink, or other items that are 
offered for sale to members of the general public by SFEG, or any vendors 
operating with the approval of SFEG, and which do not constitute a charge 

242

Item 24.



for admission to the events of the Celebration.  
 
6.    The duties of the SFEG shall also include: 
 

   A. Clean-up of all trash, debris, and garbage in all streets, parks, and 
public properties of the CITY that are used for the Celebration.  
Trash, garbage, and debris removal shall be at the expense of 
SFEG and shall be completed daily throughout the Celebration 
Weekend. Cleaning of all areas will begin Monday morning following 
the Celebration Weekend, and all areas will be cleaned by no later 
than the Wednesday evening following the Celebration Weekend.  
Should flooding or storms be present that impact how quickly 
clean-up can occur, the deadlines for clean-up may be extended 
with the approval of the Director of Public Works.  If all such work 
has not been completed by the stated deadline, or by the deadline 
as extended, CITY may perform the work and assess the cost 
thereof to SFEG, to be paid by SFEG to CITY within thirty (30) days 
of the date of billing. 

 
   B. Alcoholic Beverage Sales: 
 

1) SFEG must obtain at its cost all appropriate retail alcohol 
licenses if alcoholic beverages are served by SFC during the 
Celebration Weekend. 

 
2) No alcoholic beverage tickets shall be sold after 11:30 p.m. on 

Thursday of Celebration Weekend, and no alcoholic beverage 
tickets shall be sold before 11:30 a.m. or after 11:30 p.m. on 
Friday and Saturday of Celebration Weekend, and no alcoholic 
beverage tickets shall be sold before 11:30 a.m. or after 9:30 
p.m. on Sunday of the Celebration Weekend. 

 
3) No alcoholic beverages shall be served or poured before 4:00 

p.m. or after 12:00 a.m. (midnight) on Thursday of Celebration 
Weekend, and no alcoholic beverages shall be served or poured 
before 11:30 a.m. or after 12:00 a.m. (midnight) on Friday and 
Saturday of Celebration Weekend, and no alcoholic beverages 
shall be served or poured before 11:30 a.m. or after 10:00 p.m. 
on Sunday of the Celebration Weekend.   

 
4) SFEG shall be responsible to identify and not serve alcoholic 

beverages to any person who is intoxicated, or who is under the 
legal age to consume alcoholic beverages, anywhere in the 
parks and facilities of the CITY described in this Agreement.  
Alcoholic beverages are served by or under the authority of 
SFEG during the Celebration Weekend. 

 
5) SFEG shall be responsible for enforcing SFEG’s policy 

prohibiting the “carry-in” of any beer, wine or other alcoholic 
beverages into the parks and public properties of the City 

243

Item 24.



described in this Agreement anywhere in such parks and 
facilities of the CITY that alcoholic beverages are served by or 
under the authority of SFEG during the Celebration Weekend. 

 
C. SFEG shall be responsible for installing and maintaining adequate  

temporary fencing and barricades to control access into Gateway and 
Police Officer’s Memorial Park.  The fencing, posts and barricades will 
be provided to SFEG for its use (not ownership) at no cost. The 
location of fencing shall receive prior approval from the Director of 
Public Works and the Public Safety Director, in their sole discretion. 

 
D. SFEG is responsible for obtaining underground utility locates at SFEG’s 

cost, any time a post, stake, or other object is put or installed in the 
ground on any CITY property.  SFEG shall be responsible for any 
damages resulting from digging and/or installing objects into the 
ground anywhere within the City parks and facilities described in this 
Agreement, unless SFEG installs objects in strict conformity with the 
information furnished to SFEG in connection with the utility locates.  If 
SFEG’s installation is in accordance with the information furnished in 
the utility locates, SFEG shall not be responsible for any damages 
resulting therefrom. 

 
E. SFEG shall be responsible for restoring and repairing damages, (other 

than normal wear) to all parks, City facilities, and public property 
specified in this Agreement to the condition such facilities were in 
immediately prior to the commencement of the Celebration Weekend.  
If all such work has not been completed by the stated deadline, or the 
deadline as extended, CITY may perform the work and assess the cost 
thereof to SFEG, to be paid by SFEG to CITY within thirty (30) days of 
the date of billing. 

 
F. SFEG shall reimburse the CITY for all refuse tipping fees and overtime 

staff costs incurred by the CITY related to refuse pick-up from the 
parks and facilities described in this Agreement arising out of the 
Celebration.  SFEG may, at its sole cost, contract for refuse removal 
with a reputable private contractor with approval from the Director of 
Public Works.   

 

G. All security personnel, crowd control arrangements, and public safety 
decisions shall be subject to the approval of the Public Safety Director 
in his or her sole discretion.   As long as the Cedar Falls Police 
Division (CFPD) is using the 6-3 work schedule, the utilization of 
"payback days" will continue to be utilized by the CFPD in order to 
minimize personnel costs to the SFEG.  If the Public Safety Director 
determines in his or her sole discretion that anticipated security needs 
for the Celebration Weekend require additional staff, and if this 
decision will result in overtime being paid if regulars from the CITY 
police force are utilized, SFEG shall be permitted to hire outside 
security personnel reasonably acceptable to CITY’s Public Safety 
Director, at SFEG’s cost to meet the additional staffing needs.  In the 

244

Item 24.



event unanticipated security needs arise during Celebration Weekend 
which cannot be met by SFEG security personnel, SFEG shall 
reimburse the CITY for up to 100% of any overtime pay expense 
incurred in staffing the Parks and facilities described in paragraphs 1 
and 2 of this Agreement. The CITY Public Safety Director shall 
coordinate scheduling to minimize any overtime impacts that may be 
necessary for the Celebration Weekend. 

 
SFEG will hire a minimum of two uniformed, off-duty Cedar Falls Police 
Officers (or Black Hawk County Sheriff’s Deputies) to conduct foot 
patrol in the carnival area to deter and prevent disorderly behavior any 
evening that the carnival is open from 6PM to close. 

 
SFEG will supplement the CFPD with adequate private security 
personnel reasonably acceptable to the CITY Police Chief, to ensure 
the safety of the participants.  All security, crowd control, and safety 
issues shall be approved in advance by the Police Chief, in his or her 
sole discretion.  

 
H. SFEG shall obtain prior approval of the Director of Public Works before 

any washable paint, tape, or chalk marking is done on street or public 
property.  SFEG is responsible for cleaning of any approved marking 
of public property within 30 days after the Celebration Weekend.  The 
approval of the Director of Public Works..  If all such work has not 
been completed by the stated deadline, or by the deadline as 
extended, CITY may perform the work and assess the cost thereof to 
SFEG, to be paid by SFEG to CITY within thirty (30) days of the date 
of billing. 

 
I.  SFEG shall obtain permission from the Director of Public Works in 

conjunction with the Community Development Department for any 
temporary signage that is to be placed on public property. Any damage 
to CITY property caused by such temporary signage shall be repaired 
by SFEG at its sole cost within thirty (30) days after the Celebration 
Weekend.  If all such work has not been completed by the stated 
deadline, or by the deadline as extended, CITY may perform the work 
and assess the cost thereof to SFEG, to be paid by SFEG to CITY 
within thirty (30) days of the date of billing.   

 
J.  SFEG shall obtain prior permission from the Director of Public Works, 

for any permanent facilities or signage to be placed or removed from 
any parks or public property.  Such approval shall be in the sole 
discretion of such Director.  Any damage to CITY property caused by 
removal of such permanent facilities or signage shall be the 
responsibility of SFEG and shall be repaired by SFEG at its sole cost 
within thirty (30) days after the Celebration Weekend.  If all such work 
has not been completed by the stated deadline, or by the deadline as 
extended, CITY may perform the work and assess the cost thereof to 
SFEG, to be paid by SFEG to CITY within thirty (30) days of the date 
of billing. 

245

Item 24.



 
K.SFEG shall give the CITY prior written notification of any major event 

changes by April 30 of each year of this Agreement. 
 
L.  A description of all planned events and entertainment shall be 

submitted to the Director of Public Works for approval by no later than 
April 30 of each year of this Agreement.  This includes locations and 
detailed descriptions of events and activities for the Celebration 
Weekend.   

 
M. SFEG shall be responsible to make arrangements to ensure 

appropriate emergency, first aid, and medical services are available.  
The emergency and medical services plan shall be submitted in 
advance to the Director of Public Works, for approval.  Such approval 
shall be at the sole discretion of said Director.  SFEG shall pay the 
cost of all such services. 

 
N. SFEG shall be responsible to follow, and to require that all vendors 

follow, all City ordinances, and Black Hawk County and State Health 
Department regulations related to food and beverage distribution, 
handling, and sale. 

 
O. SFEG shall be responsible for providing adequate sanitation facilities at 

the sole cost of SFEG.  
 
P. SFEG shall adhere strictly to all City, State and federal laws and 

regulations in connection with all events held under the authority of 
SFEG during the Celebration Weekend and require all vendors to do 
so.  SFEG shall be responsible to ensure that participation in all 
events sponsored by or held under the authority of the SFEG during 
Celebration Weekend is open to all individuals and groups on an 
equal, non-discriminatory basis.  However, SFEG shall have the right 
to limit the number of, and to select the identity of, parade entries, and 
street fair and food vendors, in a manner consistent with SFEG’s 
published policies and guidelines, and in a manner consistent with the 
family-oriented theme of the Celebration Weekend.  SFEG shall also 
be entitled to select and review such entertainment at the appropriate 
venues of the Celebration Weekend which properly reflect that year's 
Celebration theme, and which also complements the appropriate taste 
and family-oriented element that the SFEG Celebration Weekend 
seeks to foster.  SFEG shall not discriminate against any individual or 
group, in terms of participation in any of the Celebration Weekend 
events and activities, solely on the basis of the content or subject 
matter of the speech, expression or point of view that a particular 
individual or group holds or desires to communicate by its participation 
in such events or activities. 

 
Q. SFEG shall obtain and retain non-profit tax-exempt status and provide 

proof thereof to CITY from time to time upon request, which request 
shall be made no more frequently than annually. 

246

Item 24.



 
 
R. SFEG shall obtain insurance coverage which shall in all respects 

comply with current City of Cedar Falls Public Event Special Insurance 
Requirements, a copy of which is attached hereto, marked Exhibit “A,” 
and by this reference incorporated herein.  SFEG shall provide 
certificates of such insurance to the CITY 14 days prior to the 
commencement of the Celebration Weekend.  Those vendors serving 
alcoholic beverages shall comply with the provisions of Section 123.92 
of the Code of Iowa and all regulations of the Alcoholic Beverages 
Division promulgated thereunder and shall also obtain dram shop 
insurance coverage with a limit of no less than $1,000,000 coverage 
per occurrence and shall furnish proof of such coverage to the CITY. 

 
S. SFEG shall be responsible for installing and maintaining at its sole cost 

adequate temporary lighting with the prior approval of the Public Safety 
Director.   

 
T. SFEG shall obtain the prior written approval of the Director of Public 

Works, prior to implementing any insect/mosquito control program in or 
around any of the CITY parks or facilities described in this Agreement, 
for the Celebration Weekend.  In addition to using EPA-approved 
products to be applied by a licensed professional company, proper 
signage shall be erected in advance of application in all such areas, 
and SFEG shall cause such spraying to be applied in compliance with 
any and all County, State and federal regulations. 

 
7.   The Public Safety Director may close down the Celebration activities at any 

time, if in his or her opinion, the health, safety, or welfare of the public may 
be in jeopardy.  The decision of the Public Safety Director shall be made in 
his or her sole discretion. 

 
8.   If CITY parks or other public properties described in this Agreement are 

flooded or damaged by flooding or other natural disasters, the Director of 
Public Works and Public Safety Director shall determine if other public 
property and parks shall be used for the Celebration events and activities.  
This determination shall be in their sole discretion.  Their decision shall be 
final. 

 
9.   Neither party may financially obligate the other.  SFEG agrees not to 

transfer or assign this Agreement or sublet its privileges under this 
Agreement, in whole or in part, without the prior written consent of the CITY, 
which consent may be withheld in the sole discretion of the CITY.  Any 
transfer, assignment or subletting of this Agreement without prior approval 
of the CITY shall cause an immediate termination of this Agreement. 

 
 
10.  SFEG agrees to provide financial information in the form of IRS Form 990 

and all supporting documentation, to the CITY, annually upon request.  
This form includes summary of income, expenditures, and financial 

247

Item 24.



balances.  SFEG also agrees to furnish to the CITY upon request, but no 
more frequently than annually, any information and documentation that may 
be requested by the CITY to reasonably determine SFEG’s compliance with 
the terms, conditions and provisions of this Agreement. 

 
11.  Indemnification.  SFEG agrees to indemnify, hold harmless and defend the 

CITY, and its officers, agents, employees and insurers, from any claim, 
demand or cause of action in any manner arising out of the events and 
activities conducted by or under the authority of SFEG during each 
Celebration Weekend, including reasonable expenses and attorneys' fees, 
all on the terms set forth in paragraph (7), Hold Harmless/Indemnity 
Agreement, of City of Cedar Falls Insurance Requirements for Community 
Events, a copy of which is attached hereto, marked Exhibit “A.” 

 
12.  The parties agree that by entering into this agreement SFEG has been 
determined to have complied with the requirement to obtain a public event permit 
or a special event permit pursuant to Cedar Falls Code of Ordinances Sections 
9-19, 9-20 and 17-210. 

 
13.  Any misunderstanding or concerns related to this agreement may be 
appealed to the City Council by SFEG and CITY.  The decision of the City 
Council shall be final and shall be made in the sole discretion of the City Council. 
 
14. Termination: The CITY at its sole discretion may terminate this agreement at 
anytime without cause. The CITY must provide written notice of termination to 
SFEG at least nine (9) months prior to the termination date. 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the day and 
year first above written. 
 
THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA STURGIS FALLS ENTERTAINMENT GROUP, 
INC. 
      An Iowa non-profit corporation 
 
 
By:  By:  
  Danny Laudick, Mayor Pete Downs, President 
 
  By:  
                      Bob Seymour, Vice President 
ATTEST: 
 
  
Kim Kerr, MMC, City Clerk 
 
    
                      Date                         Date 
 
 
 

248

Item 24.



STATE OF IOWA, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, ss: 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of 
____________, 20____, by Pete Downs, President, and Bob Seymour, Vice President, 
of Sturgis Falls Entertainment Group, Inc. 
 
   

____________________, Notary Public   
in and for the State of Iowa 

 
 
 
 
STATE OF IOWA, BLACK HAWK COUNTY, ss: 
 
 This instrument was acknowledged before me on the ______ day of 
____________, 20____, by Danny Laudick, Mayor, and Kim Kerr, MMC,  City Clerk, of 
the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
   

____________________, Notary Public   
in and for the State of Iowa 

 
 

249

Item 24.



1 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 

 

PUBLIC EVENT 

SPECIAL INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
 

1. All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer authorized by law 
to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be issued by companies 
satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the current A.M. Best 
Rating Guide. 

 
2. SFEG shall be required to carry the following minimum coverage/limits unless greater 

limits are required by law or other legal agreement, in which case such greater limits 
shall be required: 

 
a. A Commercial General Liability Insurance Policy or Personal Liability 

Insurance Policy shall be obtained, which provides coverage for the City of 
Cedar Falls, its agents, officials and employees. The policy shall be written on 
an “occurrence” (not “claims made”) basis and shall include Products Hazard 
coverage and a Broad Form General Liability inclusion or equivalent.  The 
policy shall have a minimum coverage of $1,000,000 million per occurrence and 
$2,000,000 million aggregate (for bodily injury and/or property damage). 

 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 

General Aggregate $2,000,000 
Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
Each Occurrence Limit $1,000,000 
Damage to Rented Premises (each occurrence) $     50,000 
Medical Payments $       5,000 

 
b. Additional Insured Endorsement is required, identical or equivalent to: 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities 
and their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as 
Additional Insureds.   
 
This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional 
Insureds, whether other available coverage is primary, contributing or excess. 
 
 
 

250

Item 24.



2 
 

c. Non-Waiver of Governmental Immunity Endorsement is required, to include 
Iowa language identical or equivalent to:  

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 

Nonwaiver of Government Immunity.  The insurance carrier expressly agrees 
and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to 
time. 
Claims Coverage.  The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
Assertion of Government Immunity.  The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do 
so at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
Non-Denial of Coverage.  The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage under 
this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and benefits 
accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City 
of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
No Other Change in Policy.  The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar Falls, 
Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall not 
otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

 
d. Cancellation and Material Changes Endorsement is required, identical or 

equivalent to: 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 

 

Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance 
to which this endorsement is attached.  SFEG agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advanced written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in 
coverage and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of 
premium. 

 

251

Item 24.



3 
 

e. Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement:  SFEG hereby releases and waives 
recovery from the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, 
its employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility SFEG or 
anyone claiming through or under SFEG by way of subrogation.  This provision 
shall be applicable and in full force and effect with respect to loss or damage 
occurring during the time of the public event.  SFEG’s policies of insurance shall 
contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of SFEG to 
recover thereunder. 

 
f. If alcoholic beverages are sold, Dram Shop protection containing coverage to 

comply with the provisions of Section 123.92 of the Code of Iowa and all 
regulations of the Alcoholic Beverage Division promulgated thereunder with a 
limit of no less than $1,000,000 coverage per occurrence. 

 
3. By requiring the insurance as set forth in this application the City of Cedar Falls does 

not represent that coverage, and limits set forth herein will necessarily be adequate to 
protect SFEG and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed a limitation on 
SFEG’s liability under the indemnities provided to the City of Cedar Falls in this 
application.  The City of Cedar Falls shall have the right at any time to require liability 
insurance greater than that otherwise specified herein. 

 
4. SFEG shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 

for the coverage required herein.  Such Certificates shall include copies of the 
following coverages and endorsements, and copies must be provided 14 days prior to 
the commencement of the public event: 

 
a. General Liability Policy is primary and non-contributing 
b. General Liability Additional Insured Endorsement 
c. Non-Waiver of Governmental Immunities Endorsement 
d. Waiver of Subrogation Endorsement 
e. Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement 
f. Dram Shop 

 
5. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
Certificate Holder: City of Cedar Falls 

220 Clay Street 

Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 
6. Failure to provide or maintain minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 

these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be grounds to cancel or terminate the public event. 

  

252

Item 24.



4 
 

7. Indemnification and Hold Harmless Provision:  In consideration for the use of City 
owned, occupied or controlled areas and/or facilities for the public event, SFEG, to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, agrees to defend, pay on behalf of, indemnify, and hold 
harmless the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, employees, 
agents and volunteers (collectively, the “City”), against any and all claims, demands, 
suits or loss, including any and all outlay and expense connected therewith, and for 
any damages which may be asserted, claimed or recovered against or from the City 
by reason of personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damages, 
including loss or use thereof, which arises out of or is in any way connected or 
associated with the public event. It is the intention of SFEG that the City shall not be 
liable or in any way responsible for the injury, damage, liability, loss or expense for 
injuries to or the death of any person or persons, or damage to or loss of property 
alleged or claimed to have been caused by, or to have arisen out of, or in connection 
with or to the public event, except for and to the extent caused by the fault of the City. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

253

Item 24.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 
 DATE: August 19, 2024 
 
SUBJECT: USGS Streamgaging Station for the Cedar River in Cedar Falls 
  City Project Number: MC-039-1653 
 
Attached is the Joint Funding Agreement with the U.S. Geological Survey for the federal 
fiscal year 2025 for the continuing support, operation, and maintenance of the 
streamgage site on the Cedar River in Cedar Falls. The agreement also includes the 
continued development of real–time stream flow data at the streamgage site. This is a 
cooperative agreement whereby the U.S. Geological Survey and the City of Cedar Falls 
cost share the operation and maintenance of the streamgage site. 
 
The streamgage is known locally as the “river gauge” and provides the stage readings 
that are the basis for the public alerts given during high water events on the Cedar River. 
The stage readings enable flood forecasts to be generated for Cedar Falls by the River 
Forecast Center of the National Weather Service. The streamgage is located on south 
side of the Highway 57/1st Street Bridge over the Cedar River. 
 
Funding for the continued operation of the streamgage was budgeted for in the 
Engineering Services Budget. This agreement is for the period October 1, 2024 through 
September 30, 2025 in the amount of $13,360.00. 
 
It is recommended that this agreement be approved and returned to me for further 
processing.  If you have any questions or comments regarding this matter, feel free to 
contact me. 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
  
 

254

Item 25.



United States Department of the Interior
U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY 

CENTRAL MIDWEST WATER SCIENCE CENTER 
MISSOURI 

1400 Independence Rd. MS100 
Rolla, MO 65401

ILLINOIS 
405 N. Goodwin Ave. 

Urbana, IL 61801

IOWA 
400 S. Clinton St. Rm 269 

Iowa City, IA 52240

August 1, 2024 

David Wicke 
City Engineer 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street Engineering Division 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Dear David Wicke: 

Enclosed is our standard joint-funding agreement 25NEJFA103 between the U.S. Geological Survey Central Midwest 
Water Science Center and City of Cedar Falls for the operation and maintenance of one streamgaging station 
and one waste-water survey on the Cedar River in Cedar Falls, IA, during the period October 1, 2024 through 
September 30, 2025 in the amount of $13,360 from your agency. U.S. Geological Survey contributions for this 
agreement are $5,760 for a combined total of $19,120. Please sign and return one fully-executed original to Amy 
Williams at akwilliams@usgs.gov. 

Federal law requires that we have a signed agreement before we start or continue work. Please return the signed 
agreement by October 1, 2024. If, for any reason, the agreement cannot be signed and returned by the date shown 
above, please contact Jon Nania at (319) 430-6974 or email jfnania@usgs.gov to make alternative arrangements. 

This is a fixed cost agreement to be billed annually via Down Payment Request (automated Form DI-1040). Please 
allow 30-days from the end of the billing period for issuance of the bill. If you experience any problems with your 
invoice(s), please contact Amy Williams at phone number (217) 328-9748 or akwilliams@usgs.gov.  

The results of all work performed under this agreement will be available for publication by the U.S. Geological 
Survey. We look forward to continuing this and future cooperative efforts in these mutually beneficial water 
resources studies. 

Sincerely,  

Jon Nania 
Deputy Director, Central Midwest WSC 

Enclosure  
 25NEJFA103 

255

Item 25.



 

Form 9-1366 
(May 2018) 

U.S. Department of the Interior 
U.S. Geological Survey 

Joint Funding Agreement 
FOR 

Water Resource Investigations 

Customer #: 6000001608 
Agreement #: 25NEJFA103 
Project #: NE009KT 
TIN #: 42-60038591 
 

   

 Fixed Cost Agreement  YES[ X ] NO[   ] 
 
THIS AGREEMENT is entered into as of the October 1, 2024, by the U.S. GEOLOGICAL SURVEY, Central Midwest 
Water Science Center, UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR, party of the first part, and the City of 
Cedar Falls party of the second part. 
 
1. The parties hereto agree that subject to the availability of appropriations and in accordance with their respective 
authorities there shall be maintained in cooperation for the operation and maintenance of one streamgaging 
station and one waste-water survey on the Cedar River in Cedar Falls, IA, herein called the program. The USGS 
legal authority is 43 USC 36C; 43 USC 50, and 43 USC 50b. 
 
2. The following amounts shall be contributed to cover all of the cost of the necessary field and analytical work 
directly related to this program. 2(b) include In-Kind-Services in the amount of $0.00 
 

(a) $5,760 by the party of the first part during the period 
October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025 
 

(b) $13,360 by the party of the second part during the period 
October 1, 2024 to September 30, 2025 
 

(c) Contributions are provided by the party of the first part through other USGS regional or national programs, 
in the amount of: $0 
 
Description of the USGS regional/national program:  
 
 

(d) Additional or reduced amounts by each party during the above period or succeeding periods as may be 
determined by mutual agreement and set forth in an exchange of letters between the parties. 
 

(e) The performance period may be changed by mutual agreement and set forth in an exchange of letters 
between the parties. 
 

3. The costs of this program may be paid by either party in conformity with the laws and regulations respectively 
governing each party. 
 
4. The field and analytical work pertaining to this program shall be under the direction of or subject to periodic review 
by an authorized representative of the party of the first part. 
 
5. The areas to be included in the program shall be determined by mutual agreement between the parties hereto or 
their authorized representatives. The methods employed in the field and office shall be those adopted by the party of 
the first part to insure the required standards of accuracy subject to modification by mutual agreement. 
 
6. During the course of this program, all field and analytical work of either party pertaining to this program shall be 
open to the inspection of the other party, and if the work is not being carried on in a mutually satisfactory manner, 
either party may terminate this agreement upon 60 days written notice to the other party.  
 
7. The original records resulting from this program will be deposited in the office of origin of those records. Upon 
request, copies of the original records will be provided to the office of the other party. 
 
8. The maps, records or reports resulting from this program shall be made available to the public as promptly as 
possible. The maps, records or reports normally will be published by the party of the first part. However, the party of 
the second part reserves the right to publish the results of this program, and if already published by the party of the 
first part shall, upon request, be furnished by the party of the first part, at cost, impressions suitable for purposes of 
reproduction similar to that for which the original copy was prepared. The maps, records or reports published by 
either party shall contain a statement of the cooperative relations between the parties. The Parties acknowledge that 
scientific information and data developed as a result of the Scope of Work (SOW) are subject to applicable USGS 
review, approval, and release requirements, which are available on the USGS Fundamental Science Practices 
website (https://www.usgs.gov/office-of-science-quality-and-integrity/fundamental-science-practices). 
 
 

256

Item 25.



9. Billing for this agreement will be rendered annually.  Invoices not paid within 60 days from the billing date will bear
Interest, Penalties, and Administrative cost at the annual rate pursuant the Debt Collection Act of 1982, (codified at
31 U.S.C. § 3717) established by the U.S. Treasury.

USGS Technical Point of Contact 

Name: Jon Nania 
Deputy Director for Operations - Central 
Midwest Water Science Center 

Address: 400 S Clinton St Rm 269 
Iowa City, IA 52240 

Telephone: (319) 430-6974
Fax: (217) 328-9770
Email: jfnania@usgs.gov

Customer Technical Point of Contact 

Name: David Wicke 

City Engineer 
Address: 220 Clay Street Engineering Division 

Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Telephone: (319) 268-5161
Fax: (319) 268-5197
Email: david.wicke@cedarfalls.com

USGS Billing Point of Contact 

Name: Amy Williams 
Budget Analyst

Address: 405 N. Goodwin Avenue 
Urbana, IL 61801 

Telephone: (217) 328-9748
Fax: (217) 328-9770
Email: akwilliams@usgs.gov

Customer Billing Point of Contact 

Name: David Wicke 
City Engineer

Address: 220 Clay Street Engineering Division 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 

Telephone: (319) 268-5161
Fax: (319) 268-5197
Email: david.wicke@cedarfalls.com

U.S. Geological Survey 
United States 

Department of Interior 

Signature 

By_______________________ Date:  

Name: Jon Nania acting for Amy Beussink 

Title: Deputy Director, Central Midwest WSC 

City of Cedar Falls 

Signatures 

By_______________________ Date: _________ 

Name: 

Title: 

By_______________________ Date: _________ 

Name: 

Title: 

By_______________________ Date: _________ 

Name: 

Title: 

Form 9-1366 
(May 2018) 

U.S. Department of the Interior 
U.S. Geological Survey 

Joint Funding Agreement 
FOR 

Water Resource Investigations 

Customer #: 6000001608 
Agreement #: 25NEJFA103 
Project #: NE009KT 
TIN #:  42-60038591 

Digitally signed by JON 
NANIA 
Date: 2024.08.06 
16:31:03 -05'00'

8/6/24

257

Item 25.



258

Item 25.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Benjamin Claypool, Principal Engineer, PE, PhD 
 
 DATE: August 19th, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project  
  Project No. RC-232-3308 
  Bid Opening 
 
On Friday, August 9th, 2024, at 2:00 p.m., bids were received and opened for the Viking 
Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project. A total of six (6) bids were 
received, with Owen Contracting, Inc. the low bidder: 
 

 Base Bid 

Engineering Estimate $2,324,853.10 

Owen Contracting, Inc. $2,217,802.80 

Midwest Concrete Inc $2,337,508.04 

Boomerang $2,347,327.35 

Peterson Contractors, Inc. $2,393,316.33 

Vieth Construction Corporation $2,428,523.57 

Eastern Iowa Excavating $2,435,435.40 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $2,324,853.10. Owen Contracting, Inc. of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa submitted the low bid in the amount of $2,217,802.80. Attached is a bid 
tab for your reference. 
 
We recommend acceptance of the lowest bid from Owen Contracting, Inc. in the amount 
of $2,217,802.80. On September 3rd, 2024, the Contract, Bonds, and Insurance 
Certificate will be submitted for City Council approval. 
  
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, City Engineer 
  
  

259

Item 26.



TABULATION OF BIDS Viking Rd and Prairie Pkwy Intersection Improvements Project (#9190243) City of Cedar Falls - Project Number RC-232-3308

BASE BID

ITEM ITEM CODE DESCRIPTION UNIT QUANTITY UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE UNIT PRICE TOTAL PRICE

1 2010-C Clearing and Grubbing LS 1 12,000.00$    12,000.00$       6,000.00$      6,000.00$           7,000.00$      7,000.00$         10,000.00$    10,000.00$       7,000.00$      7,000.00$         5,500.00$      5,500.00$         4,355.00$      4,355.00$         6,642.50$      6,642.50$         
2 2010-D-1 Topsoil, On-site CY 3400 5.00$             17,000.00$       6.00$             20,400.00$         11.00$           37,400.00$       10.00$           34,000.00$       15.00$           51,000.00$       5.75$             19,550.00$       12.35$           41,990.00$       10.02$           34,056.67$       
3 2010-E Excavation Class 10 CY 5435 8.00$             43,480.00$       8.00$             43,480.00$         9.00$             48,915.00$       15.00$           81,525.00$       12.50$           67,937.50$       13.00$           70,655.00$       16.50$           89,677.50$       12.33$           67,031.67$       
4 2010-G Subgrade Preparation, 6" SY 2792 1.00$             2,792.00$         1.00$             2,792.00$           1.50$             4,188.00$         1.00$             2,792.00$         1.50$             4,188.00$         2.75$             7,678.00$         1.35$             3,769.20$         1.52$             4,234.53$         
5 2010-G Subgrade Preparation, 12" SY 9537 2.00$             19,074.00$       1.50$             14,305.50$         1.50$             14,305.50$       1.00$             9,537.00$         1.25$             11,921.25$       2.50$             23,842.50$       0.75$             7,152.75$         1.42$             13,510.75$       
6 2010-H Granular Stabilization TON 558 27.00$           15,066.00$       30.00$           16,740.00$         40.00$           22,320.00$       30.00$           16,740.00$       30.00$           16,740.00$       38.00$           21,204.00$       34.75$           19,390.50$       33.79$           18,855.75$       
7 2010-J Subbase, Modified, 12" SY 9537 16.50$           157,360.50$     18.00$           171,666.00$       18.25$           174,050.25$     20.00$           190,740.00$     15.00$           143,055.00$     19.00$           181,203.00$     21.00$           200,277.00$     18.54$           176,831.88$     
8 2010-M Compaction Testing LS 1 3,500.00$      3,500.00$         4,500.00$      4,500.00$           5,000.00$      5,000.00$         3,500.00$      3,500.00$         8,000.00$      8,000.00$         5,500.00$      5,500.00$         2,650.00$      2,650.00$         4,858.33$      4,858.33$         
9 3010-C Trench Foundation TON 20 50.00$           1,000.00$         50.00$           1,000.00$           41.50$           830.00$            35.00$           700.00$            50.00$           1,000.00$         57.00$           1,140.00$         53.25$           1,065.00$         47.79$           955.83$            

10 3010-D Replacement of Unsuitable Backfill Material CY 100 60.00$           6,000.00$         40.00$           4,000.00$           57.00$           5,700.00$         40.00$           4,000.00$         46.00$           4,600.00$         75.00$           7,500.00$         63.75$           6,375.00$         53.63$           5,362.50$         
11 3010-F Trench Compaction Testing LS 1 2,000.00$      2,000.00$         3,000.00$      3,000.00$           1,650.00$      1,650.00$         3,500.00$      3,500.00$         5,000.00$      5,000.00$         2,750.00$      2,750.00$         2,650.00$      2,650.00$         3,091.67$      3,091.67$         
12 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 15" LF 280 45.00$           12,600.00$       49.00$           13,720.00$         90.00$           25,200.00$       50.00$           14,000.00$       50.00$           14,000.00$       66.00$           18,480.00$       64.00$           17,920.00$       61.50$           17,220.00$       
13 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 18" LF 297 50.00$           14,850.00$       50.00$           14,850.00$         108.00$         32,076.00$       55.00$           16,335.00$       52.50$           15,592.50$       78.00$           23,166.00$       78.25$           23,240.25$       70.29$           20,876.63$       
14 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE, 24" LF 27 75.00$           2,025.00$         70.00$           1,890.00$           96.00$           2,592.00$         110.00$         2,970.00$         70.00$           1,890.00$         88.00$           2,376.00$         104.50$         2,821.50$         89.75$           2,423.25$         
15 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE PERFORATED, 15" LF 92 70.00$           6,440.00$         52.00$           4,784.00$           73.00$           6,716.00$         60.00$           5,520.00$         52.50$           4,830.00$         150.00$         13,800.00$       74.25$           6,831.00$         76.96$           7,080.17$         
16 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  HDPE PERFORATED, 24" LF 204 85.00$           17,340.00$       68.00$           13,872.00$         113.00$         23,052.00$       70.00$           14,280.00$       70.00$           14,280.00$       120.00$         24,480.00$       80.50$           16,422.00$       86.92$           17,731.00$       
17 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 15" LF 196 50.00$           9,800.00$         51.00$           9,996.00$           82.00$           16,072.00$       70.00$           13,720.00$       52.50$           10,290.00$       99.00$           19,404.00$       105.65$         20,707.40$       76.69$           15,031.57$       
18 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched,  RCP, 24" LF 70 95.00$           6,650.00$         72.00$           5,040.00$           95.50$           6,685.00$         100.00$         7,000.00$         72.50$           5,075.00$         95.00$           6,650.00$         108.25$         7,577.50$         90.54$           6,337.92$         
19 4020-D Removal of Storm Sewer, RCP, 15" LF 823 20.00$           16,460.00$       9.00$             7,407.00$           11.50$           9,464.50$         20.00$           16,460.00$       10.00$           8,230.00$         12.50$           10,287.50$       29.00$           23,867.00$       15.33$           12,619.33$       
20 4040-A Subdrain, Type 1, PE, 6" LF 2812 10.00$           28,120.00$       9.00$             25,308.00$         15.50$           43,586.00$       15.00$           42,180.00$       15.00$           42,180.00$       18.00$           50,616.00$       15.85$           44,570.20$       14.73$           41,406.70$       
21 4040-C-1 Subdrain Cleanout, Type A-1, 6" EA 11 250.00$         2,750.00$         400.00$         4,400.00$           1,000.00$      11,000.00$       1,000.00$      11,000.00$       1,000.00$      11,000.00$       675.00$         7,425.00$         835.00$         9,185.00$         818.33$         9,001.67$         
22 4040-D-1 Subdrain Outlets and Connections, CMP, 6" EA 25 160.00$         4,000.00$         100.00$         2,500.00$           300.00$         7,500.00$         300.00$         7,500.00$         425.00$         10,625.00$       225.00$         5,625.00$         164.50$         4,112.50$         252.42$         6,310.42$         
23 5010-A Water Main, Trenched, DIP, 12" LF 10 300.00$         3,000.00$         275.00$         2,750.00$           277.50$         2,775.00$         400.00$         4,000.00$         275.00$         2,750.00$         450.00$         4,500.00$         473.25$         4,732.50$         358.46$         3,584.58$         
24 5010-C-2 Fitting, DI MJ, 12" LB 156 20.00$           3,120.00$         27.00$           4,212.00$           20.00$           3,120.00$         15.00$           2,340.00$         27.00$           4,212.00$         11.00$           1,716.00$         13.85$           2,160.60$         18.98$           2,960.10$         
25 5020-A Valve, Gate, 12" EA 1 2,500.00$      2,500.00$         5,000.00$      5,000.00$           4,600.00$      4,600.00$         4,500.00$      4,500.00$         5,000.00$      5,000.00$         5,650.00$      5,650.00$         5,165.00$      5,165.00$         4,985.83$      4,985.83$         
26 5020-C Fire Hydrant Assembly EA 1 6,800.00$      6,800.00$         7,700.00$      7,700.00$           8,600.00$      8,600.00$         8,000.00$      8,000.00$         7,700.00$      7,700.00$         8,500.00$      8,500.00$         7,550.00$      7,550.00$         8,008.33$      8,008.33$         
27 5020-G Valve Box Extension EA 1 2,000.00$      2,000.00$         550.00$         550.00$              650.00$         650.00$            500.00$         500.00$            550.00$         550.00$            250.00$         250.00$            835.00$         835.00$            555.83$         555.83$            
28 5020-I Fire Hydrant Adjustment EA 1 1,500.00$      1,500.00$         2,750.00$      2,750.00$           1,800.00$      1,800.00$         1,000.00$      1,000.00$         2,750.00$      2,750.00$         1,550.00$      1,550.00$         2,600.00$      2,600.00$         2,075.00$      2,075.00$         
29 5020-J Fire Hydrant Assembly Removal EA 1 1,200.00$      1,200.00$         1,650.00$      1,650.00$           1,100.00$      1,100.00$         1,000.00$      1,000.00$         1,650.00$      1,650.00$         1,150.00$      1,150.00$         955.00$         955.00$            1,250.83$      1,250.83$         
30 6010-A Manhole, SW-401, 48" EA 2 5,200.00$      10,400.00$       4,000.00$      8,000.00$           6,000.00$      12,000.00$       4,500.00$      9,000.00$         4,000.00$      8,000.00$         4,000.00$      8,000.00$         5,800.00$      11,600.00$       4,716.67$      9,433.33$         
31 6010-A Manhole, SW-403, (Inside Dimensions 4'-0" X 9'-0") EA 1 11,000.00$    11,000.00$       14,000.00$    14,000.00$         7,542.22$      7,542.22$         13,000.00$    13,000.00$       14,000.00$    14,000.00$       11,750.00$    11,750.00$       5,700.00$      5,700.00$         10,998.70$    10,998.70$       
32 6010-B Intake, SW-501 EA 1 4,000.00$      4,000.00$         4,000.00$      4,000.00$           4,500.00$      4,500.00$         4,500.00$      4,500.00$         4,000.00$      4,000.00$         4,000.00$      4,000.00$         4,300.00$      4,300.00$         4,216.67$      4,216.67$         
33 6010-B Intake, SW-507, Small Box EA 2 6,000.00$      12,000.00$       6,000.00$      12,000.00$         5,000.00$      10,000.00$       5,500.00$      11,000.00$       6,000.00$      12,000.00$       7,925.00$      15,850.00$       5,625.00$      11,250.00$       6,008.33$      12,016.67$       
34 6010-B Intake, SW-509, Small Box EA 4 9,000.00$      36,000.00$       6,000.00$      24,000.00$         6,250.00$      25,000.00$       8,500.00$      34,000.00$       6,000.00$      24,000.00$       10,500.00$    42,000.00$       6,300.00$      25,200.00$       7,258.33$      29,033.33$       
35 6010-B Intake, SW-512, 24" EA 1 3,000.00$      3,000.00$         3,000.00$      3,000.00$           2,150.00$      2,150.00$         2,000.00$      2,000.00$         3,000.00$      3,000.00$         2,500.00$      2,500.00$         2,100.00$      2,100.00$         2,458.33$      2,458.33$         
36 6010-B Intake, SW-545, Extended Opening (7'-10") EA 3 9,500.00$      28,500.00$       8,000.00$      24,000.00$         7,500.00$      22,500.00$       11,000.00$    33,000.00$       8,000.00$      24,000.00$       12,000.00$    36,000.00$       7,900.00$      23,700.00$       9,066.67$      27,200.00$       
37 6010-B Intake, SW-545, Extended Opening (11'-10") EA 1 10,500.00$    10,500.00$       12,000.00$    12,000.00$         8,000.00$      8,000.00$         12,000.00$    12,000.00$       12,000.00$    12,000.00$       11,750.00$    11,750.00$       9,950.00$      9,950.00$         10,950.00$    10,950.00$       
38 6010-G-2 Connection to Existing Intake EA 1 2,500.00$      2,500.00$         2,500.00$      2,500.00$           1,000.00$      1,000.00$         2,000.00$      2,000.00$         2,500.00$      2,500.00$         2,000.00$      2,000.00$         700.00$         700.00$            1,783.33$      1,783.33$         
39 6010-H-2 Remove Intake EA 6 750.00$         4,500.00$         500.00$         3,000.00$           500.00$         3,000.00$         1,000.00$      6,000.00$         500.00$         3,000.00$         900.00$         5,400.00$         550.00$         3,300.00$         658.33$         3,950.00$         
40 7010-A Pavement, PCC,  8", Class C SY 7078.2 52.00$           368,066.40$     65.25$           461,852.55$       59.00$           417,613.80$     58.00$           410,535.60$     65.00$           460,083.00$     65.00$           460,083.00$     63.25$           447,696.15$     62.58$           442,977.35$     
41 7010-E Curb and Gutter, PCC Sloped 6", 2.5' - 3' wide, 8" thick LF 2076 37.00$           76,812.00$       32.50$           67,470.00$         22.50$           46,710.00$       31.00$           64,356.00$       32.50$           67,470.00$       34.00$           70,584.00$       24.00$           49,824.00$       29.42$           61,069.00$       
42 7010-E Curb, PCC, 12" wide, 12.6" thick LF 289 40.00$           11,560.00$       30.00$           8,670.00$           31.00$           8,959.00$         35.00$           10,115.00$       30.00$           8,670.00$         24.00$           6,936.00$         31.00$           8,959.00$         30.17$           8,718.17$         
43 7010-G Concrete Median SY 427 125.00$         53,375.00$       115.00$         49,105.00$         146.20$         62,427.40$       50.00$           21,350.00$       130.00$         55,510.00$       125.00$         53,375.00$       64.75$           27,648.25$       105.16$         44,902.61$       
44 7010-I PCC Pavement Samples and Testing LS 1 3,000.00$      3,000.00$         5,000.00$      5,000.00$           7,000.00$      7,000.00$         2,000.00$      2,000.00$         5,000.00$      5,000.00$         5,250.00$      5,250.00$         2,650.00$      2,650.00$         4,483.33$      4,483.33$         
45 7010-999-A Truck Apron with 8" PCC Base for Pavers SY 435 85.00$           36,975.00$       112.00$         48,720.00$         115.00$         50,025.00$       70.00$           30,450.00$       112.00$         48,720.00$       106.00$         46,110.00$       117.00$         50,895.00$       105.33$         45,820.00$       
46 7010-999-B Splitter Island with 8" PCC Base for Pavers SY 230 125.00$         28,750.00$       112.00$         25,760.00$         115.00$         26,450.00$       70.00$           16,100.00$       112.00$         25,760.00$       106.00$         24,380.00$       117.00$         26,910.00$       105.33$         24,226.67$       
47 7030-A-1 Removal of Sidewalk SY 910.4 10.00$           9,104.00$         7.00$             6,372.80$           10.00$           9,104.00$         9.00$             8,193.60$         7.50$             6,828.00$         12.50$           11,380.00$       15.00$           13,656.00$       10.17$           9,255.73$         
48 7030-D Special Subgrade Preparation for 8' & 10' Sidewalk, 6" SY 4257 1.00$             4,257.00$         1.00$             4,257.00$           1.75$             7,449.75$         1.00$             4,257.00$         1.50$             6,385.50$         2.25$             9,578.25$         1.50$             6,385.50$         1.50$             6,385.50$         
49 7030-E Sidewalk, PCC, 6" SY 2878 37.00$           106,486.00$     44.65$           128,502.70$       50.00$           143,900.00$     50.00$           143,900.00$     45.00$           129,510.00$     44.70$           128,646.60$     33.00$           94,974.00$       44.56$           128,238.88$     
50 7030-F Brick/Paver, Granite SY 32 220.00$         7,040.00$         111.70$         3,574.40$           125.00$         4,000.00$         150.00$         4,800.00$         121.00$         3,872.00$         126.50$         4,048.00$         127.00$         4,064.00$         126.87$         4,059.73$         
51 7030-F Brick/Paver, Rustic Red SY 633 170.00$         107,610.00$     111.70$         70,706.10$         125.00$         79,125.00$       150.00$         94,950.00$       121.00$         76,593.00$       126.50$         80,074.50$       127.00$         80,391.00$       126.87$         80,306.60$       
52 7030-G Detectable Warning SF 320 55.00$           17,600.00$       41.00$           13,120.00$         45.00$           14,400.00$       40.00$           12,800.00$       42.50$           13,600.00$       43.00$           13,760.00$       36.85$           11,792.00$       41.39$           13,245.33$       
53 7030-H-1 Driveway, Paved, PCC, 7" SY 56 50.00$           2,800.00$         76.50$           4,284.00$           80.00$           4,480.00$         75.00$           4,200.00$         77.50$           4,340.00$         84.00$           4,704.00$         79.00$           4,424.00$         78.67$           4,405.33$         
54 7030-H-3 Driveway, Granular, 12" TON 11 35.00$           385.00$            38.00$           418.00$              52.60$           578.60$            42.00$           462.00$            40.00$           440.00$            75.00$           825.00$            39.15$           430.65$            47.79$           525.71$            
55 7040-B Subbase Over-excavation TON 215 45.00$           9,675.00$         33.00$           7,095.00$           40.50$           8,707.50$         28.00$           6,020.00$         25.00$           5,375.00$         46.00$           9,890.00$         36.00$           7,740.00$         34.75$           7,471.25$         
56 7040-H Pavement Removal SY 8374.3 6.00$             50,245.80$       7.50$             62,807.25$         7.88$             65,989.48$       8.00$             66,994.40$       11.25$           94,210.88$       10.75$           90,023.73$       12.00$           100,491.60$     9.56$             80,086.22$       
57 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System A LS 1 21,600.00$    21,600.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$         15,450.00$    15,450.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,241.67$    15,241.67$       
58 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System B LS 1 21,600.00$    21,600.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$         15,450.00$    15,450.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,241.67$    15,241.67$       
59 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System C LS 1 21,600.00$    21,600.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$         15,450.00$    15,450.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,241.67$    15,241.67$       
60 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System D LS 1 21,600.00$    21,600.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$         15,450.00$    15,450.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,241.67$    15,241.67$       
61 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System E LS 1 21,600.00$    21,600.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$         15,450.00$    15,450.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,241.67$    15,241.67$       
62 8010-999-A Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System F LS 1 21,600.00$    21,600.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$         15,450.00$    15,450.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,000.00$    15,000.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,500.00$    15,500.00$       15,241.67$    15,241.67$       
63 8010-999-B Remove & Salvage Rectangular Rapid Flashing Beacon (RRFB) System LS 1 7,000.00$      7,000.00$         1,500.00$      1,500.00$           1,545.00$      1,545.00$         1,500.00$      1,500.00$         15,000.00$    15,000.00$       1,575.00$      1,575.00$         1,550.00$      1,550.00$         3,778.33$      3,778.33$         
64 8020-B Painted Pavement Markings, Solvent/Waterborne STA 42.84 150.00$         6,426.00$         125.00$         5,355.00$           190.55$         8,163.16$         185.00$         7,925.40$         125.00$         5,355.00$         131.00$         5,612.04$         130.00$         5,569.20$         147.76$         6,329.97$         
65 8020-G Painted Symbols and Legends, Solvent/Waterborne EA 12 250.00$         3,000.00$         125.00$         1,500.00$           231.75$         2,781.00$         225.00$         2,700.00$         125.00$         1,500.00$         131.00$         1,572.00$         130.00$         1,560.00$         161.29$         1,935.50$         
66 8020-K Pavement Markings Removed STA 45.25 80.00$           3,620.00$         100.00$         4,525.00$           231.75$         10,486.69$       225.00$         10,181.25$       100.00$         4,525.00$         105.00$         4,751.25$         105.00$         4,751.25$         144.46$         6,536.74$         
67 8020-999-O Water Blasted Grooves for Pavement Markings STA 42.84 110.00$         4,712.40$         100.00$         4,284.00$           190.55$         8,163.16$         200.00$         8,568.00$         100.00$         4,284.00$         105.00$         4,498.20$         105.00$         4,498.20$         133.43$         5,715.93$         
68 8020-999-P Water Blasted Grooves for Symbols and Legends EA 12 180.00$         2,160.00$         150.00$         1,800.00$           231.75$         2,781.00$         250.00$         3,000.00$         150.00$         1,800.00$         157.00$         1,884.00$         160.00$         1,920.00$         183.13$         2,197.50$         
69 8030-A Temporary Traffic Control LS 1 25,000.00$    25,000.00$       32,500.00$    32,500.00$         41,200.00$    41,200.00$       40,000.00$    40,000.00$       32,500.00$    32,500.00$       34,000.00$    34,000.00$       34,000.00$    34,000.00$       35,700.00$    35,700.00$       
70 8040-B Traffic Signs by Area SF 143.5 28.00$           4,018.00$         23.00$           3,300.50$           36.05$           5,173.18$         35.00$           5,022.50$         55.00$           7,892.50$         24.00$           3,444.00$         58.00$           8,323.00$         38.51$           5,525.95$         
71 8040-D Perforated Square Steel Tube Posts LF 242 20.00$           4,840.00$         12.00$           2,904.00$           18.03$           4,363.26$         15.00$           3,630.00$         75.00$           18,150.00$       12.60$           3,049.20$         79.00$           19,118.00$       35.27$           8,535.74$         
72 8040-I Removal and Reinstallation of Sign EA 2 250.00$         500.00$            400.00$         800.00$              360.50$         721.00$            380.00$         760.00$            750.00$         1,500.00$         425.00$         850.00$            815.00$         1,630.00$         521.75$         1,043.50$         
73 8940-999-A Removal of Signs EA 13 150.00$         1,950.00$         60.00$           780.00$              154.50$         2,008.50$         150.00$         1,950.00$         325.00$         4,225.00$         65.00$           845.00$            350.00$         4,550.00$         184.08$         2,393.08$         
74 8999-A Lighting, Overhead LS 1 134,000.00$  134,000.00$     70,000.00$    70,000.00$         72,100.00$    72,100.00$       75,600.00$    75,600.00$       70,000.00$    70,000.00$       73,350.00$    73,350.00$       74,000.00$    74,000.00$       72,508.33$    72,508.33$       
75 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Type 5 AC 1.04 4,500.00$      4,680.00$         2,200.00$      2,288.00$           2,266.00$      2,356.64$         2,500.00$      2,600.00$         2,000.00$      2,080.00$         2,305.20$      2,397.41$         5,200.00$      5,408.00$         2,745.20$      2,855.01$         
76 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Type 6 (Salt-Resistant) AC 3.4 5,500.00$      18,700.00$       5,800.00$      19,720.00$         5,974.00$      20,311.60$       6,000.00$      20,400.00$       5,000.00$      17,000.00$       6,100.00$      20,740.00$       9,000.00$      30,600.00$       6,312.33$      21,461.93$       
77 9010-D Watering MGAL 340 95.00$           32,300.00$       50.00$           17,000.00$         51.50$           17,510.00$       54.00$           18,360.00$       50.00$           17,000.00$       52.50$           17,850.00$       52.00$           17,680.00$       51.67$           17,566.67$       
78 9030-D Plants with Warranty LS 1 37,800.00$    37,800.00$       28,875.00$    28,875.00$         22,732.10$    22,732.10$       22,000.00$    22,000.00$       34,000.00$    34,000.00$       30,250.00$    30,250.00$       30,000.00$    30,000.00$       27,976.18$    27,976.18$       
79 9040-A-2 SWPPP Management LS 1 2,500.00$      2,500.00$         4,000.00$      4,000.00$           2,575.00$      2,575.00$         2,700.00$      2,700.00$         6,500.00$      6,500.00$         2,750.00$      2,750.00$         2,850.00$      2,850.00$         3,562.50$      3,562.50$         
80 9040-D-1 Filter Sock, 8" LF 5812 2.00$             11,624.00$       2.25$             13,077.00$         2.32$             13,483.84$       2.50$             14,530.00$       1.50$             8,718.00$         2.40$             13,948.80$       2.35$             13,658.20$       2.22$             12,902.64$       
81 9040-D-2 Filter Socks, Removal LF 5812 1.00$             5,812.00$         0.35$             2,034.20$           0.37$             2,150.44$         0.40$             2,324.80$         0.20$             1,162.40$         0.40$             2,324.80$         0.50$             2,906.00$         0.37$             2,150.44$         
82 9040-O-1 Stabilized Construction Entrance TON 150 40.00$           6,000.00$         30.00$           4,500.00$           20.00$           3,000.00$         34.00$           5,100.00$         26.00$           3,900.00$         45.00$           6,750.00$         36.50$           5,475.00$         31.92$           4,787.50$         
83 9040-T-1 Inlet Protection Device, Surface Applied EA 12 100.00$         1,200.00$         75.00$           900.00$              77.25$           927.00$            81.00$           972.00$            150.00$         1,800.00$         78.00$           936.00$            82.00$           984.00$            90.54$           1,086.50$         
84 9040-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance EA 12 20.00$           240.00$            5.00$             60.00$                5.15$             61.80$              5.00$             60.00$              25.00$           300.00$            5.25$             63.00$              5.50$             66.00$              8.48$             101.80$            
85 9030-999-A Mulch, Shredded Bark CY 24 200.00$         4,800.00$         126.00$         3,024.00$           125.66$         3,015.84$         125.00$         3,000.00$         50.00$           1,200.00$         132.00$         3,168.00$         135.00$         3,240.00$         115.61$         2,774.64$         
86 9030-999-B Mulch, Rock CY 4 300.00$         1,200.00$         236.00$         944.00$              329.60$         1,318.40$         320.00$         1,280.00$         200.00$         800.00$            250.00$         1,000.00$         260.00$         1,040.00$         265.93$         1,063.73$         
87 9040-N-1 Silt Fence or Silt Fence Ditch Check LF 2184 4.00$             8,736.00$         1.60$             3,494.40$           1.65$             3,603.60$         1.60$             3,494.40$         1.60$             3,494.40$         1.75$             3,822.00$         1.75$             3,822.00$         1.66$             3,621.80$         
88 9040-N-2 Silt Fence or Silt Fence Ditch Check, Removal of Sediment EA 6 1,500.00$      9,000.00$         35.00$           210.00$              36.05$           216.30$            38.00$           228.00$            1.00$             6.00$                37.00$           222.00$            38.00$           228.00$            30.84$           185.05$            
89 9040-N-3 Silt Fence or Silt Fence Ditch Check, Removal of Device LF 2184 1.00$             2,184.00$         0.10$             218.40$              0.11$             240.24$            0.10$             218.40$            0.10$             218.40$            0.10$             218.40$            0.15$             327.60$            0.11$             240.24$            
90 9060-E Fence Removal LF 1464 8.00$             11,712.00$       3.00$             4,392.00$           3.00$             4,392.00$         5.00$             7,320.00$         3.00$             4,392.00$         6.60$             9,662.40$         4.85$             7,100.40$         4.24$             6,209.80$         
91 9080-C Safety Rail, 42" LF 30 175.00$         5,250.00$         425.00$         12,750.00$         300.00$         9,000.00$         160.00$         4,800.00$         650.00$         19,500.00$       157.00$         4,710.00$         230.00$         6,900.00$         320.33$         9,610.00$         
92 9920-999-A Mowing AC 33 300.00$         9,900.00$         150.00$         4,950.00$           154.50$         5,098.50$         160.00$         5,280.00$         200.00$         6,600.00$         158.00$         5,214.00$         165.00$         5,445.00$         164.58$         5,431.25$         
93 11,020-A Mobilization LS 1 190,000.00$  190,000.00$     106,000.00$  106,000.00$       117,152.27$  117,152.27$     136,000.00$  136,000.00$     125,000.00$  125,000.00$     74,000.00$    74,000.00$       140,000.00$  140,000.00$     116,358.71$  116,358.71$     
94 11,050-A Concrete Washout LS 1 1,500.00$      1,500.00$         3,000.00$      3,000.00$           1,000.00$      1,000.00$         500.00$         500.00$            3,000.00$      3,000.00$         3,150.00$      3,150.00$         1,850.00$      1,850.00$         2,083.33$      2,083.33$         
95 0000-999-A Monuments LS 1 155,000.00$  155,000.00$     242,800.00$  242,800.00$       246,000.00$  246,000.00$     260,000.00$  260,000.00$     250,000.00$  250,000.00$     250,000.00$  250,000.00$     248,000.00$  248,000.00$     249,466.67$  249,466.67$     
96 0000-999-B Limestone Edging, 6" Wide x 6" Tall TON 8 915.00$         7,320.00$         1,730.00$      13,840.00$         1,002.19$      8,017.52$         1,000.00$      8,000.00$         1,000.00$      8,000.00$         1,815.00$      14,520.00$       1,850.00$      14,800.00$       1,399.53$      11,196.25$       
97 0000-999-D Electrical & Lighting LS 1 11,000.00$    11,000.00$       8,000.00$      8,000.00$           8,240.00$      8,240.00$         8,000.00$      8,000.00$         8,000.00$      8,000.00$         8,350.00$      8,350.00$         8,500.00$      8,500.00$         8,181.67$      8,181.67$         
98 0000-999-E Electrical & Fiber LS 1 23,000.00$    23,000.00$       12,000.00$    12,000.00$         12,360.00$    12,360.00$       12,000.00$    12,000.00$       12,000.00$    12,000.00$       13,000.00$    13,000.00$       12,750.00$    12,750.00$       12,351.67$    12,351.67$       

TOTAL BASE BID: 2,324,853.10$  2,217,802.80$    2,337,508.04$  2,347,327.35$  2,393,316.33$  2,428,523.57$  2,435,435.40$  2,359,985.58$  
BIDDER STATUS FORM, NON-COLLUSION AFFIDAVIT, TARGETED SMALL BUSINESSES & BID SECURITY: XXX 10% XXX 10% XXX 10% XXX 10% XXX 10% XXX 10% XXX

6

Eastern Iowa Excavating
August  9th, 2024 

at 2:00 PM
ENGINEER'S ESTIMATE Owen Contracting, Inc. Midwest Concrete Inc BID AVERAGE

1 2 3

Boomerang

4

Peterson Contractors Inc.

5

Vieth Construction 

Corporation

260

Item 26.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Daniel Laudick and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: August 9, 2024 
 
 SUBJECT: 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project  
  Project No. SW-000-3248 
   Project Final Acceptance  
 
The 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This 
project involved the construction of Portland Cement Concrete (PCC) sidewalks, minor 
grading, miscellaneous curb and gutter replacement, pedestrian ramps, and site 
restoration.  
 
 This project was under contract with OEL Construction Services, Inc. of Steamboat Rock, 
Iowa. Attached please find the following final documents: 
  -  Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
   -  Copy of Maintenance Bond, OEL Construction Services, Inc.   
 
The following lien waivers have been received, reviewed by the Engineering Division, and 
are on file with the City Clerk: 
 

OEL Construction Services, Inc. 
Suppliers: 
 

OEL Construction Services, Inc. subcontractors: 
 

- Matthias Landscaping  

 261

Item 27.



This project was funded by the Community Development Block Grant and below is a 
breakdown of final contract costs by the funding source: 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Community Development Block Grant   $188,321.60 

 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project was 
completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
            Brett Armstrong   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Controller/City Treasurer  
 
 
 
 

  

8/9/24 

262

Item 27.



263

Item 27.



264

Item 27.



265

Item 27.



266

Item 27.



267

Item 27.



No. 8

06/27/24  to 06/26/24 Application Date: 04/27/22

Project Number: Via (Engineer): Brett Armstrong

04/29/22 Civil Engineer 1

1. ORIGINAL CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 181,492.08$                                                                      

Additions (a) Deductions (b)

9,680.00$                    -$                              2. NET CHANGE BY CHANGE ORDERS ( c ) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 14,369.25$                                                                         

784.00$                       -$                              

2,200.00$                    -$                              3. CURRENT CONTRACT PRICE .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 195,861.33$                                                                      

1,705.25$                    -$                              

-$                              -$                              4. TOTAL COMPLETED AND STORED TO DATE

-$                              -$                              (Total Column F on Progress Estimate) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 188,321.60$                                                                      

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              5. RETAINAGE

-$                              -$                              a. 0%      x Work Completed   .   .   -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              b. 0%      x Stored Materials   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              c. Total Retainage (Line 5a + Line 5b) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              

-$                              -$                              6. CUMULATIVE LIQUIDATED DAMAGES CHARGED

-$                              -$                              0 Days      x Per Day   .   .   .   .   .   . -$                                                                                     

-$                              -$                              

14,369.25$                 -$                              7. AMOUNT ELIGIBLE TO DATE (Line 4 - Line 5c - Line 6) .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 188,321.60$                                                                      

8. LESS PREVIOUS PAYMENTS (Line 7 From Prior Application)  .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 178,905.52$                                                                      

9. AMOUNT DUE THIS APPLICATION 9,416.08$                                                                           

10. BALANCE TO DATE, PLUS RETAINAGE (Line 7 + Line 5c)   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   .   . 188,321.60$                                                                      

11. % OF COMPLETION

Original Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 1) 104%

Current Contract Price (Line 10 ÷ Line 3) 96%

(Line 9 or Other: Attach Explanation if Other Amount)

    ________________________________

Date: 
Date

Contractor's Certification

The undersigned Contractor certifies that: (1) all previous progress payments

received from Owner on account of Work done under the Contract have been

applied on account to discharge Contractor's legitimate obligations incurred in

connection with Work covered by prior Applications for Payment; (2) title of all

Work, materials and equipment incorporated in said Work or otherwise listed in or

covered by this Application for Payment will pass to Owner at time of payment free

and clear of all LIens, security interests and encumbrances (except such are covered

by a Bond acceptable to Owner indemnifying Owner against such Liens, security

interest or encumbrances); and (3) all Work covered by this Application for Payment

is in accordance with the Contract Documents and is not defective.

By (Conctractor):

13

14

15

Totals

(a) + (b) = ( c )

Net Change by Change Orders

14,369.25$                                                           

12

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

From (Contractor): OEL Construction Services

City of Cedar Falls

Application Period:

SW-000-3248 To (Owner):

CONTRACTOR'S                   

APPLICATION                                         

FOR PAYMENT

Pay Application

Trinitee Martin

Payment of: 9,416.08$                                           

Is Respectufully Submitted:
Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer 1

188,321.60$                               

-$                                              

1,000.00$                                    

2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project 

Contract Completion Date:

Change Order Summary

Approved Change Orders:

Number

8/7/2024
8/7/2024

268

Item 27.



No. 8

to

Project Number:

Contract Completion Date: 04/29/22

A B C D E F G H I J K L M N O

Bid                                                                   

Item                                   

Number

Description Unit

1 REMOVAL OF SIDEWALK, PCC SY 46.90 10.50$                492.45$              6.70 -                      -$                    6.70 70.35$                -$                       70.35$                14% 422.10$              X

2 REMOVAL OF CURB & GUTTER, 2.5 FT WIDTH LF 177.80 17.50$                3,111.50$          82.00 -                      -$                    82.00 1,435.00$          -$                       1,435.00$          46% 1,676.50$          X

3 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, PCC CLASS C, 4 INCH SY 1,522.00 51.00$                77,622.00$        1,239.50 -                      -$                    1,239.50 63,214.50$        -$                       63,214.50$        81% 14,407.50$        X

4 SIDEWALK REPLACEMENT, PCC CLASS C, 6 INCH SY 135.10 63.75$                8,612.63$          61.38 -                      -$                    61.38 3,912.98$          -$                       3,912.98$          45% 4,699.65$          X

5 PLACE DETEDCTABLE WARNING PANELS SF 186.00 35.50$                6,603.00$          119.00 -                      -$                    119.00 4,224.50$          -$                       4,224.50$          64% 2,378.50$          X

6 PLACE CURB & GUTTER, 2.5 FT WIDE, PCC CLASS "C" LF 177.80 40.50$                7,200.90$          129.00 -                      -$                    129.00 5,224.50$          -$                       5,224.50$          73% 1,976.40$          X

7 CLASS 10 EXCAVATION CY 571.65 35.00$                20,007.75$        794.90 -                      -$                    794.90 27,821.50$        -$                       27,821.50$        139% (7,813.75)$         X

8 TOPSOIL, FURNISH AND SPREAD CY 361.30 20.00$                7,226.00$          361.30 -                      -$                    361.30 7,226.00$          -$                       7,226.00$          100% -$                    X

9 SOD SF 16,773.80 2.25$                  37,741.05$        21,443.51 -                      -$                    21,443.51 48,247.90$        -$                       48,247.90$        128% (10,506.85)$       X

10 SURFACING, I INCH ROADSTONE TONS 24.00 35.00$                840.00$              4.00 -                      -$                    4.00 140.00$              -$                       140.00$              17% 700.00$              X

11 INTAKE SEDIMENT FILTER LF 58.00 3.00$                  174.00$              28.00 -                      -$                    28.00 84.00$                -$                       84.00$                48% 90.00$                X

12 UNSTABLE MATERIAL, OVER EXCAVATION CY 20.00 25.00$                500.00$              -                      -                      -$                    -                      -$                    -$                       -$                    0% 500.00$              X

13 CONCRETE STAIRS, TYPE A SF 24.70 64.00$                1,580.80$          24.70 -                      -$                    24.70 1,580.80$          -$                       1,580.80$          100% -$                    X

14 CLEARING AND GRUBBING UNIT 290.00 22.00$                6,380.00$          340.36 -                      -$                    340.36 7,487.92$          -$                       7,487.92$          117% (1,107.92)$         X

15 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1.00 3,400.00$          3,400.00$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 3,400.00$          -$                       3,400.00$          100% -$                    X

8000 HydroSeeding SF 22,000.00 0.44$                  9,680.00$          21,732.75 -                      -$                    21,732.75 9,562.41$          -$                       9,562.41$          99% 117.59$              X

8001 Wattles, staw, 9" L.F 224.00 3.50$                  784.00$              224.00 -                      -$                    224.00 784.00$              -$                       784.00$              100% -$                    X

8002 Valve (Curb Stop) Adjustments EACH 11.00 200.00$              2,200.00$          11.00 -                      -$                    11.00 2,200.00$          -$                       2,200.00$          100% -$                    X

8003 Payroll Adjustments L.S. 1.00 1,705.25$          1,705.25$          1.00 -                      -$                    1.00 1,705.25$          -$                       1,705.25$          100% -$                    X

195,861.33$      -$                    188,321.60$      -$                       188,321.60$      7,539.72$          

2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project 

SW-000-3248

From (Contractor):

To (Owner):

Application Period:

Current Pay 

Application 

Quantities

Application Date: 04/27/22

Via (Engineer): Brett Armstrong

Civil Engineer 1

06/27/24 06/26/24

City of Cedar Falls

OEL Construction Services

Balance to                               

Date                                                  

( F - M )

It
e

m
 C

o
m

p
le

te
d

CONTRACTOR'S APPLICATION FOR PAYMENT Estimate

Totals

Current Pay 

Application                            

Value                                             

( E x H )

Estimated 

Quantity Installed                                    

( G + H )

Total                    

Completed                    

Value                                           

( E x J )

Value of Materials 

Presently Stored                                     

(Column M on 

Stored Materials)

Total Completed                  

and Stored                 

to Date                                     

( K + L )

% Original 

Contract                          

( M ÷ F )

           Item

Bid                             

Quantity

Unit                                     

Price

Bid                                       

Value

Previous Pay 

Application 

Quantities

269

Item 27.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council  

 FROM: Brett Armstrong, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: 8/19/2024 

 SUBJECT: Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities - Grant Administration  
  Project Number ST-000-3306 – Contract Time Extension   
 
 
In December 2021, the City submitted a request to FEMA under the Building Resilient 
Infrastructure and Communities (BRIC) grant program.  The program seeks to fund 
research-supported, proactive investment in community resilience.  They offer two types 
of grants: scoping (studies and planning) and mitigation projects (infrastructure).  The 
City added drainage studies to the Capital Improvements Plan in 2018.  Such studies fit 
with the BRIC “scoping” funding.   
 
The City has been awarded a grant for 85% of the total project.  $220,502.98 in federal 
and state funds, and 15% of local funds (City: $38,912.31) comprise the total project 
cost of $259,415.29. The City has been collecting storm water infrastructure data for the 
awarded project consultant, Strand Associates, Inc. Due to the time needed for the 
Consultant to analyze, study, and prepare a report on the data provided by the City, the 
City and consultant have requested and been granted a time extension for the Storm 
Water Planning Project funding in order to properly assess the city infrastructure. 
 
The Engineering Division of the Public Works Department recommends the City Council 
approve the time extension for the subaward from the Iowa Department of Homeland 
Security and authorize the Mayor to sign the agreement.  
 
 
Xc:   Stephanie Sheetz, AICP, Director of Community Development 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

270

Item 28.



 
 

 

Amendment Number Two 
 

SUBAWARD AGREEMENT 
 

Between 
 

Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management (HSEMD) 
 

And 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
 
 

AWARD DOCUMENT - Commitment to Award and Accept Funds 
Federal Assistance 
Listing 

Building Resilient Infrastructure 
and Communities (BRIC) Subrecipient Grant 

Agreement Number 
EMK-2021-BR-041-

0003 Assistance Listing 
Number 97.047 

Subaward Project 
Description 

CCB - Capability and Capacity 
Building 

Subrecipient  
UEI Number EGCPJFKF3NC9 

Federal Awarding 
Agency 

U.S. Department of Homeland 
Security (DHS), & 
Federal Emergency Management 
Agency (FEMA) 

Subrecipient Prior 
Award Amount  $             259,415.29  

Pass-Through Entity and 
State Administering 
Agency 

Iowa Department of Homeland 
Security & Emergency 
Management (HSEMD) 

Amount Awarded This 
Action   + or ( - )  $                         -    

Federal Award Date 9/14/2022 Total Funds Obligated  $             259,415.29  

Indirect Cost Rate Not Applicable Total Federal Award  $             194,561.46  

Federal Award 
Identification Number EMK-2021-BR-041 Total State Award  $               25,941.52 

Subrecipient 
Organization 

City of Cedar Falls 
Total Local Award  $               38,912.31  220 Clay St 

Cedar Falls, IA 50613-2726 

Research & 
Development (R&D) Non-R&D 

Sub-Award 
Budget/Performance 
Period 

Start Date: 9/14/2022 

End Date: 03/31/2025 

Sub-Award  
Project Title Cedar Falls - Stormwater Resilience Planning EMK-2021-BR-041-0003 

Federal Project 
Description See Exhibit B of subaward agreement 

 
This is Amendment Number Two to the above-referenced Subaward Agreement (AGREEMENT) between 
Iowa Department of Homeland Security and Emergency Management (HSEMD) and the City of Cedar Falls 
(SUBRECIPIENT). The original AGREEMENT was executed on 12/09/2022. 
 
Page 3 of 39, III. Period of Performance, paragraph 1, of said AGREEMENT is amended to read: 
 

271

Item 28.



 
 

 

The approved Period of Performance for this subaward is from 9/14/2022 through 03/31/2025. All work must 
be completed prior to the end of the Period of Performance. HSEMD will not reimburse the SUBRECIPIENT 
for costs that are obligated or incurred outside of the Period of Performance. 
 
All other paragraphs in said AGREEMENT remain unchanged. 
 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, HSEMD, the SUBRECIPIENT, and the AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE have 
executed this AGREEMENT by the signatures of authorized persons of the entities and on the date indicated 
below: 

 
Iowa Department of Homeland Security and  City of Cedar Falls: 
Emergency Management: 
 
 
____________________________________            ____________________________________ 
Dennis Harper, Division Administrator             Danny Laudick, Mayor 
    
____________________________________ ____________________________________ 
Date       Date 
  
        
 
                                                                                    ____________________________________ 
       Authorized Representative (optional) 
 
       ____________________________________  
       Date 

272

Item 28.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: August 12, 2024 

SUBJECT:      Proposed Annexation of Territory to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa 
    
 
Over the past several years, the City Council has approved the purchase of several 
properties located adjacent to the West Viking Road Industrial Park, for the purpose of 
future industrial park expansion. The properties include a 76 acre farm, and two 
acreages that were previously used as residences. Now that the City has acquired 
these properties, we would like to begin annexation proceedings in order to bring this 
area into the City of Cedar Falls and prepare it for future industrial use.  
 
The annexation request will include a total of five properties. The City of Cedar Falls 
owns four parcels totaling 80.83 acres of land, and there is one privately owned vacant 
parcel that is 0.50 acres in size, for a total annexation area of 81.33 acres. The owners 
of the privately owned parcel have not signed the annexation application at this time, so 
at this time the annexation is being treated as an 80/20 annexation, which means that 
80% or more of the area being annexed is comprised of consenting land owners, while 
20% or less of the area being annexed is comprised of non-consenting land owners. 
This type of annexation request can still be considered a voluntary annexation request, 
so long as the reason for including a non-consenting land owner is to avoid creating an 
island or to create more uniform boundaries. In this case, the inclusion of the 0.5-acre 
privately owned parcel is to create a more uniform city limit boundary, as the new city 
limit line will run down the middle of S. Union Road. Without this property included in the 
annexation, the city limit boundary would not be uniform and would create a small notch 
in the boundary along S. Union Road.   
 

Accompanying this memo you will find a voluntary annexation application for the City of 
Cedar Falls, which has been signed by Mayor Laudick. 
 
Iowa law provides for certain procedures relating to proposed annexation of territory to a 
city. The proposed resolution which accompanies this letter accomplishes these state law 
requirements, as follows: 
 

a. Setting a time and place of consultation on the proposed annexation of territory 
between representatives of the City of Cedar Falls, the Black Hawk County Board 

273

Item 29.



of Supervisors and the Cedar Falls Township Trustees, since the territory 
proposed to be annexed lies within Cedar Falls Township and Black Hawk County. 

b. Setting a date of public hearing on the annexation applications. 
c. Directing mailing of the notice of the consultation, and both the publication of the 

notice and mailing of the notice of hearing on the voluntary applications for 
annexation, to certain interested parties. 

 
These requirements of state law require certain timelines which necessitate scheduling 
the public hearing on the proposed annexation for October 21, 2024. 
 
Assuming that the Cedar Falls City Council approves the annexation application, the 
application must then be submitted to the City Development Board of the State of Iowa, 
for review and approval by that board, before the annexations would become final. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution setting time and place of consultation, directing mailing of 

notice of consultation, setting date of public hearing, directing publication 
of notice, and directing the mailing of notice of hearing, for application for 
voluntary annexation of real estate to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 
 

 
         
        
 
 
 

274

Item 29.



275

Item 29.



276

Item 29.



277

Item 29.



278

Item 29.



279

Item 29.



280

Item 29.



281

Item 29.



282

Item 29.



283

Item 29.



284

Item 29.



285

Item 29.



286

Item 29.



287

Item 29.



     ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Laudick and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: August 12, 2024 

SUBJECT:      Proposed Resolution Appointing Chris Latta as Representative for 
Annexation Consultation 

    
 
Over the past several years, the City Council has approved the purchase of several 
properties located adjacent to the West Viking Road Industrial Park, for the purpose of 
future industrial park expansion. The properties include a 76 acre farm, and two 
acreages that were previously used as residences. Now that the City has acquired 
these properties, we would like to begin annexation proceedings in order to bring this 
area into the City of Cedar Falls and prepare it for future industrial use.  
 
The annexation request will include a total of five properties. The City of Cedar Falls 
owns four parcels totaling 80.83 acres of land, and there is one privately owned vacant 
parcel that is 0.50 acres in size, for a total annexation area of 81.33 acres. The owners 
of the privately owned parcel have not signed the annexation application at this time, so 
at this time the annexation is being treated as an 80/20 annexation, which means that 
80% or more of the area being annexed is comprised of consenting land owners, while 
20% or less of the area being annexed is comprised of non-consenting land owners. 
This type of annexation request can still be considered a voluntary annexation request, 
so long as the reason for including a non-consenting land owner is to avoid creating an 
island or to create more uniform boundaries. In this case, the inclusion of the 0.5-acre 
privately owned parcel is to create a more uniform city limit boundary, as the new city 
limit line will run down the middle of S. Union Road. Without this property included in the 
annexation, the city limit boundary would not be uniform and would create a small notch 
in the boundary along S. Union Road.   
 
One of the first steps in the annexation process is to hold a consultation meeting on the 
proposed annexation between the annexing city and the county and township that 
contains the territory to be annexed. The proposed area to be annexed is located within 
Black Hawk County, and within Cedar Falls Township, so the consultation meeting will 
be held with representatives from the Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors and the 
Cedar Falls Township Trustees. Also, an appointed representative of the Cedar Falls 
City Council may also participate in the consultation meeting on behalf of the City.  

288

Item 30.



 
 
 
Attached please find a proposed City Council Resolution approving the Mayor’s 
appointment of City Council member Chris Latta as the Cedar Falls representative for 
the consultation with representatives of the Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors 
and Cedar Falls Township Trustees. 
 
Staff recommends that the City Council adopt and approve the following: 
 
 1. Resolution appointing representative of the City of Cedar Falls for 

consultation meeting for Voluntary Annexation of Real Estate to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 
         
        
 
 
 

289

Item 30.



 

 

 

RESOLUTION NO.___________ 

 

RESOLUTION APPOINTING REPRESENTATIVE OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS FOR CONSULTATION MEETING FOR 

VOLUNTARY ANNEXATION OF REAL ESTATE TO THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, has received an application 

for the voluntary annexation to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, of certain real estate within the 

urbanized territory of another city; and  

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Iowa Code Chapter 368, a consultation on the proposed 

annexation is to be held between the annexing city and the county and the township that contains 

the territory to be annexed; and 

 

WHEREAS, an appointed representative of the Cedar Falls City Council may participate 

in the consultation with representatives of the Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors and the 

Trustees of Cedar Falls Township on behalf of the city council; and 

 

WHEREAS, Mayor Daniel Laudick has appointed Cedar Falls City Council member Chris 

Latta as a representative of the City of Cedar Falls to participate in said consultation, and the City 

Council deems it to be in the best interests of the City of Cedar Falls to approve said appointment. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE,  BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, that the Mayor's appointment of Cedar Falls City Council member Chris 

Latta as a representative of the City of Cedar Falls to participate in the consultation with 

representatives of the Black Hawk County Board of Supervisors and the Cedar Falls Township 

Trustees, be and the same is hereby approved. 

 

PASSED AND APPROVED this ____ day of _____________, 20__. 

 

_________________________________________ 

     Daniel Laudick, Mayor 

(SEAL) 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

____________________________________________ 

Kim Kerr, CMC, City Clerk 

 

 
 

290

Item 30.



291

Item 31.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
DAILY INVOICES FOR 08/19/24 COUNCIL MEETING



292

Item 31.



293

Item 31.



294

Item 31.



295

Item 31.



296

Item 31.



297

Item 31.



298

Item 31.



299

Item 31.



300

Item 31.



301

Item 31.



302

Item 31.



303

Item 31.



304

Item 31.



305

Item 31.



306

Item 31.



307

Item 31.



308

Item 31.



309

Item 31.



310

Item 31.



311

Item 31.



312

Item 31.



313

Item 31.



314

Item 31.



315

Item 31.



316

Item 31.



317

Item 31.



318

Item 31.



319

Item 31.



320

Item 31.



321

Item 31.

WagnerS
Typewritten Text
COUNCIL INVOICES FOR 08/19/24 MEETING



322

Item 31.



323

Item 31.



324

Item 31.



325

Item 31.



326

Item 31.



327

Item 31.



328

Item 31.



329

Item 31.



330

Item 31.



331

Item 31.



332

Item 31.



333

Item 31.



334

Item 31.



335

Item 31.



336

Item 31.



337

Item 31.



338

Item 31.



339

Item 31.



340

Item 31.



341

Item 31.



342

Item 31.



343

Item 31.



344

Item 31.



345

Item 31.



346

Item 31.



347

Item 31.



348

Item 31.



349

Item 31.



350

Item 31.



351

Item 31.



352

Item 31.



353

Item 31.



354

Item 31.



355

Item 31.



356

Item 31.



357

Item 31.



358

Item 31.



359

Item 31.



360

Item 31.



361

Item 31.



362

Item 31.



363

Item 31.



364

Item 31.



365

Item 31.



366

Item 31.



367

Item 31.



368

Item 31.



Mr. Mayor and City Administrator Gaines, I would like to have the following placed on the next agenda or 

wherever you both see fit for our future meetings.  It is not really a request for referral since the Staff has 

now presented.   

 

Item:  Adopt the May 18, 2022 Resilience Plan or whatever language is best to bring the substance of the 

request to fruition.   

 

In addition to this, for further discussion related to this issue and other long view planning, I would like 

your thoughts on the council voting to require a super majority for changes to plans such as these, ie. 

strategic plan, college hill vision plan, etc. to avoid yo-yoing these plans at the whim of single seat 

changes in future councils.  Food for thought.   

 

Thanks as always.   

 

Council member, 4th Ward. 

319-455-6540 

 

   

 

369

Item 32.



Good afternoon, 

At this coming Council meeting, I'd like to refer to staff to revise city ordinance to remove prohibitions on 

parking/storing recreational items such as boats and towable travel trailers on rear yards. The current 

ordinance, as I understand it, requires home-owners to pave or otherwise create a hard surface in their 

side or rear yard to be able to park said items. There are separate ordinances around nuisance storage 

withstanding, but I think it is unwise to force reduction of green space and cause surface water runoff to 

be exacerbated permanently. It would be better to allow for storage of these personal recreational 

items, even if for a temporary season, without having to provide hard surfaces upon which to park. This 

seems to be an unnecessary expenditure for our citizens, as well. For these reasons, and at the request 

of resident-petitioners, I'd like to instruct staff to come back with revised ordinance(s) that allows for 

parking/temporary storage of afore-mentioned items on residents' side or rear yards without having to 

provide a "hard surface" for said parking.  

 

I'm sure there are a few sections of code to consider, so I'd trust staff can include other relevant sections 

that may need attention. The goal is to make parking a boat, travel trailer or the like on one's own 

property legal without requiring paving over their yard. I would be in favor of removing the number 

restriction as well, as current ordinance allows no more than one vehicle to be parked in the side or rear 

yard's paved surface. If we'd need to hear rationale from staff, or request options to accomplish some 

compromise, I'm amenable to a meeting, but this seemed like an easy one to have them draft the 

changes. 

We'll talk more next week. 

 

See ordinance Section 26-222 

https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH26ZO_ARTIII

DIDIRE_DIV3ORELOSPPAARRE_S26-222REDRCRDELOFRYASIYAREDI 

if you'd like to study up. 

 

Best, 

 

Dustin Ganfield 

Councilman 

Cedar Falls Ward 5 

M: 319-553-6899 

370

Item 33.

https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH26ZO_ARTIIIDIDIRE_DIV3ORELOSPPAARRE_S26-222REDRCRDELOFRYASIYAREDI
https://library.municode.com/ia/cedar_falls/codes/code_of_ordinances?nodeId=COOR_CH26ZO_ARTIIIDIDIRE_DIV3ORELOSPPAARRE_S26-222REDRCRDELOFRYASIYAREDI

	Top
	Item 1.	Minutes 08-05-24
	240805MINUTES

	Item 2.	PH-GO ECP
	bond sale council PH.mem
	Cedar Falls (193) - Hearing ECP (02387285x7F7E1)

	Item 3.	PH-GO GCP
	Cedar Falls (193) - Hearing GCP (02387302x7F7E1)

	Item 4.	Agreement for Private Development - BALOS, LLC
	1_Memo to Council for Public Hearing 08-19-24
	2_Site Map
	3_EXECUTION VERSION DA BALOS, LLC 109 E 2nd St
	4_Resolution Approving Agreement - BALOS, LLC

	Item 5.	3075-Chap. 2-Administration-2-47 & 2.186
	1. Memo to Mayor, Council ordinance amendments to 2-47, 2-186, 2-220, 2-256, 16-15
	Ordinance Amendments Section 2-47  2-186 Draft
	3. Ordinance Amendments Section 2-47  2-186 Final

	Item 6.	3076-Chap. 2-Administration 2-220 & 2-256
	1. Ordinance Amendments Section 2-220  2-256 Draft
	2. Ordinance Amendments Section 2-220  2-256 Final

	Item 7.	3077-Chap. 16-Offenses & Misc. 16-15
	1. Ordinance Amendment Section 16-15 Draft
	2. Ordinance Amendment Section 16-15 Final

	Item 8.	3078-Chap. 24-Utilities
	1. Council Memo - Storm Water Ordinance
	2. Redline Ordinance Article VI Chapter 24 Amendments
	3. Clean Ordinance Article VI Chapter 24 Amendments
	4. SF455_GovLetter

	Item 9.	Committee of the Whole Minutes 08-05-24
	08-05-2024 Committee of the Whole Minutes

	Item 10.	Civil Service Commission Certified List-Accountant
	Accountant-CertList 8-2024

	Item 11.	Civil Service Commission-Administrative Assistant
	Admin Asst-CertList 8-2024

	Item 12.	HRC Bylaws Updated
	Memo HRC Bylaws Approval 8-12-24 copy
	2. HRC Bylaws Revision Approved 8-12-24 (002)
	8-12 HRC Bylaws Revision Proposed - Redlined

	Item 13.	Portable Sign for Heinz Dance Academy, 2408 Waterloo Road
	1. Council Memo 8-19-2024.revised

	Item 14.	Retail alcohol 8-19-2024
	Retail alcohol 8-19-24

	Item 16.	Subordination Agreement-1621 E Ridgewood Dr.
	Memo to Mayor Council Subordination Agreement
	1507_001

	Item 17.	Deere & Company-Special Warranty Deed
	Memo to Mayor Council Deere & Co Deed and Encroachment Agreement
	Deere & Company Acquisition

	Item 18.	INRCOG Contract -CDBG
	CC memo to approve INRCOG contract CDBG
	INRCOG Contract- CDBG

	Item 19.	INRCOG Contract - HOME
	CC memo to approve INRCOG HOME contract
	INRCOG Contract- HOME

	Item 20.	Visitor Guide Design Contract
	1. Memo to Mayor and Council Guide Design
	2. GoodsServices-S.EastonDesignFY25

	Item 21.	Wellworks-City's Employee Wellness Program
	Wellworks

	Item 22.	Falls Aquatic Center-Water Heater Replacement
	1 Falls water heater contract memo
	1 - goods and services contract - falls water heater replacement
	2 - Exhibit A for boiler contract

	Item 23.	Public Safety Roof Top HVAC
	2509_001

	Item 24.	Sturgis Falls Contract
	1. Sturgis Falls Agreement
	2025-2026 Sturgis Contract - Final

	Item 25.	USGS Streamgaging Station for the Cedar River
	1. 2025 River Gauge Agreement Memo
	2. Annual Agreement 25NEJFA103 Cedar Falls

	Item 26.	Low Bid - Viking Road & Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project
	1. Memo - Viking Road and Prairie Parkway Intersection Improvements Project
	2. Bid Tab

	Item 27.	Final Acceptance - 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project
	1. Final Out Memo - 2021 CDBG Sidewalk Infill Project
	2. Performance, Payment, and Maintenance Bond
	3. Pay Application 8 (Retainage Release) - Signed

	Item 28.	Building Resilient Infrastructure and Communities - Grant Administration
	1. Council memo - BRIC Extension
	2. EMK-2021-BR-041-0003 Time Ext Agreement Amendment

	Item 29.	Proposed Annexation of Territory into the City of Cedar Falls
	1_Memo to Council for 08-19-24
	2_Proceedings for Annexation Request

	Item 30.	Appointing Chris Latta as representative for annexation consultation
	1_CC Memo to Appoint Latta as City Rep 08-19-24
	2_Resolution Appointing Representative of City for Consultation

	Item 31.	Bills and Claims-08/19/24
	1 Daily Invoices 081924
	2 Council Invoices 081924

	Item 32.	Hawbaker Referral
	Referral from Hawbaker

	Item 33.	Ganfield Referral
	Referral from Ganfield

	Bottom

